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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Wang Feifei, Chairman and President (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Qiao Linna (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Guo Zixiu, Financial Controller (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Liu Jiankun (appointed on 7 June 2024)
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Guo Zixiu (appointed on 7 June 2024)
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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China Construction Bank Corporation
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of China Limited

Singapore

United Overseas Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
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Cayman Islands
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HEF(RZFZMEANA—HEZF) Guo Zixiu (appointed on 1 September 2024)
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ERERE
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Kontafarma China Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present to you the audited annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$897.5 million (2023: approximately HK$809.1
million), representing an increase of approximately 10.9% as
compared to the previous year. The loss for the year of the Group
was approximately HK$99.0 million (2023: approximately HK$61.1
million). The basic loss per share amounted to approximately
HK$1.35 cents (2023: approximately HK$0.52 cents).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in December 2018. The
Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) to be its goal
and endeavours to maintain the dividend policy to achieve such
goal.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s
results of operations, earnings performance, cashflows, financial
condition, future prospects, as well as statutory and regulatory
restrictions on the payment of dividends, and other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.

Whilst the Board will review from time to time for determination on
proposed dividend with the above factors taken into account, there
can be no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.
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Corporate Culture and Visions

Adhering to the people-oriented philosophy, the Group extensively
recruits talents from different fields, treasures our staff as our
cornerstone, insists on unity within the Group and values internal
care and communication. By actively putting the subjective initiative
of our staff into play with care and soul, the Group continuously
enhances team cohesion and realizes complementary advantages
and sincere cooperation.

During the new era of development, the Group will focus on the
target of universal health. On one hand, we look forward to the
national deployment on universal health and uphold market
orientation in our product research and development to benefit the
health of people. On the other hand, we strive to contribute to
universal health by offering quality service and create value for all
stakeholders. The Group will discharge its corporate responsibilities
to pave a new path for promoting health, join hands with various
parties and forge ahead for the health of people nationwide.

OUTLOOK

The Group will strive to consolidate the good growth momentum of
its existing business in the future operations, while continuing to
pay attention to market trends and explore the possibility of
launching new products and entering new markets in alignment
with the concept of health consumption. After taking into account
the risks and returns, the Group will commence investment activities
opportunistically so as to identify the second growth curve of the
Group.

Pharmaceutical Business

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group’s pharmaceutical business will
remain the main pillar of the Group’s business development. Firstly,
the Group’s pharmaceutical business will continue to plan for its
expansion on sales layout so as to make it one of the important
engines of performance growth; secondly, the Group will enhance
its core competitiveness through research and development to enrich
its advantageous product portfolio in order to cope with the
intensifying competition in the industry; and finally, the Group will
continue to pay attention to cost control and endeavour to mitigate
the negative impacts on profitability brought about by fluctuations
in product prices.
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Fitness Business

As we look ahead to 2025, the Group's fitness business in
Singapore is well-positioned to capitalise on steady market demand
and its trusted reputation in the industry. The Group is committed
to implementing a series of strategic initiatives in Singapore aimed
at sustaining the positive growth trajectory, enhancing operational
efficiency, and diversifying the revenue streams.

A major milestone of the Group’s fitness business in 2025 is the
introduction of new revenue line of Pilates Reformers, capitalising
on the growing consumer interest in Singapore. This project
introduces the innovative concept of hot reformer group classes,
which will elevate our market penetration and reinforce our
reputation as an innovator in the fitness and wellness industry.

In addition, the Group will remain vigilant in monitoring the
franchise business in Taiwan. The franchisor, a subsidiary of the
Group's fitness segment, is dedicated to providing ongoing support
to its franchisee in accordance with the franchise agreement to
assist in the business recovery in Taiwan.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our Shareholders, customers and suppliers for their
continuous support to the Group. | would also like to express the
Group's appreciation for the contributions of the members of the
Board and all staff.

Wang Feifei
Chairman

28 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was principally
engaged in the (i) manufacturing and sales of drugs in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”), including chemical drugs, active
pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) and APl intermediate; and (ii)
operating of fitness centres and provision of consultation services for
fitness and health activities, and operating of franchise business for
royalty fee income.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue and
gross profit amounted to approximately HK$897.5 million and
HK$516.2 million (2023: approximately HK$809.1 million and
HK$471.3 million) respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 10.9% and 9.5% as compared with last year. The
increase in revenue and gross profit was mainly attributable to the
following reasons:

—  For the pharmaceutical business segment, the introduction of
effective and diverse marketing strategies by Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.* (RIS ZEEEBEFRAR)
(“Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) and the increase in market
demand for its core products promoted the growth of both
revenue and gross profit of this business segment; and

— In respect of the fitness business segment, the Group’s fitness
business in Singapore has recovered from the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic and has significantly improved, which has
offset the adverse impact of the decrease in royalty fee
income.

The Group’s net loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$99.0 million (2023: net loss of approximately
HK$61.1 million). Basic loss per share was approximately HK$1.35
cents (2023: loss per share of approximately HK$0.52 cents).
Despite an increase in both revenue and gross profit and the
adoption of effective cost control measures, the Group recorded an
increase in net loss, which was mainly due to the facts that: (i) the
Group recorded a one-off gain of approximately HK$110.5 million
from the disposal of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2023, while no such gain was recorded for the year ended
31 December 2024; and (i) the Group recognised an impairment of
intangible assets in relation to the franchise agreement for fitness
business of approximately HK$18.8 million.
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Production equipment of Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.*

BUSINESS REVIEW
Pharmaceutical Business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue and gross profit
of the Group’s pharmaceutical business were approximately
HK$682.1 million and HK$501.1 million (2023: approximately
HK$607.1 million and HK$467.2 million) respectively, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 12.3% and 7.3%. The main
reasons were that the introduction of effective and diverse
marketing strategies by Tongfang Pharmaceutical and the increase in
market demand for its core products promoted the growth of both
revenue and gross profit of this business segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the results of the
pharmaceutical business segment of the Group recorded a profit of
approximately HK$7.0 million (2023: approximately HK$69.6 million).
The decrease in profit was mainly due to the one-off gain of
approximately HK$110.5 million from the disposal of 66% equity
interest in Shaanxi Unisplendour Life Care Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(BRAARKRRELEEAFRAF) (“Shaanxi Life Care”) by Tongfang
Pharmaceutical on 9 May 2023, but no such gain was recorded for
the year ended 31 December 2024. This negative effect partially
offset the positive impact brought by the growth in revenue and
gross profit of the pharmaceutical business, as well as the costs
control measures of the Group.
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Production plant of Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.*

Tongfang Pharmaceutical

Tongfang Pharmaceutical is principally engaged in the
production and sales of chemical generic drugs. It has a
preparation workshop of 30,000 square meters in Yanging
District, Beijing. Its key products are prescription drugs and its
therapeutic areas mainly include drugs for local anesthesia and
gynecological purposes. For the year ended 31 December
2024, Tongfang Pharmaceutical recorded revenue and gross
profit of approximately RMB543.3 million and RMB461.0
million (2023: approximately RMB462.7 million and RMB413.8
million), respectively. The revenue and the gross profit
recorded a year-on-year increase of approximately 17.4% and
11.4%, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Tongfang
Pharmaceutical achieved a breakthrough in sales mainly
attributable to its successful marketing strategies. In the
future, Tongfang Pharmaceutical will improve its marketing
efficiency and intensify its efforts in product research and
development, with a view to maintaining the favourable
momentum of performance growth.
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Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* — Pharmaceutical technology center

2. ERFE#EEERARN(EEERZ)) 2. Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (EEFE%E
#HPR A F) (“Chongqging Kangle”)

BEEFRLTEREETRSIEERR Chongging Kangle is principally engaged in the research and
EEMENFEHEPEEB T AE development, production and sales of APl and API
REEXEH - BE_T-_WF+=A intermediate in Chongqging Changshou Chemical Industrial
=t+—BILEE  EERLEEKAT Park. For the year ended 31 December 2024, Chongging
EHNHRBARESIOBETHNAR Kangle recorded revenue and gross profit of approximately
BSSEBLT(ZEZ=F :HARK RMB84.0 million and RMB8.5 million (2023: approximately
NRIBETMARBIOEET) WA RMB72.7 million and RMB9.0 million) respectively. The revenue
[EILLIG AN4915.6% « M EFIR L TR recorded a year-on-year increase of approximately 15.6%,
4.9% - while the gross profit recorded a year-on-year decrease of

approximately 4.9%.

BHE-_Z2-_HWNF+-_A=+—81tF For the year ended 31 December 2024, the increase in
B EERLEAEZNETERGIEFR revenue of Chongging Kangle was mainly attributable to the
HEZOERZ —BREA  THHEE increase in sales volume driven by higher demand from
#wm - mEMNTREERAMEERT overseas customers for one of its core products, while the
HEERBFTE - decrease in gross profit was primarily driven by the fluctuation
in market selling prices of the products sold.
3. BRERE 3. Shaanxi Life Care
PRV ROE R H B A B (478 [ BRPE R Shaanxi Life Care and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Shaanxi
SEDFEREFEERFEEPEEM © Life Care Group”) is principally engaged in the manufacturing
RZZBEZ=FMA+=H " ARFIZE and sales of Chinese medicine products. On 13 April 2023,
BNBARIRAGEXERFLENERA Tongfang Pharmaceutical, a subsidiary of the Company,
A ([ P2 ]) AT R EEE RS - & entered into an equity transfer agreement with Ping An
I [R) 77 25 2 [m] S &2 N S & P A Bk Tsumura Inc.* (FZZENABRAFT) (“Ping An Tsumura”),
PR Z66% MM - RARABESEEZ N pursuant to which Tongfang Pharmaceutical sold its 66%
“E=FRANBHEE - THKE - &K equity interest in Shaanxi Life Care to Ping An Tsumura.
SETHRARAREBEEETFHEEANE Shaanxi Life Care Group was disposed of on 9 May 2023.
wmiEm - MBS ORI R E S B8 Upon completion, the Group no longer held any beneficial
ZBRmBE_ZT-_=FRANE ' B interest in Shaanxi Life Care Group and ceased to consolidate
ARBEBEESRANMEF S BIL A A the profit or loss related to Shaanxi Life Care Group (as of
R¥216BETMARKITEETT) ° 9 May 2023, Shaanxi Life Care Group recorded revenue and

gross profit of approximately RMB21.6 million and RMB9.7
million, respectively).
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Fitness Business

The revenue of the Group’s fitness business for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$215.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$202.0 million), which includes royalty fee income
of approximately HK$36.5 million (2023: approximately HK$39.2
million). The Group’s fitness business for the year ended
31 December 2024 recorded a loss of approximately HK$71.8
million (2023: approximately HK$81.5 million).

The increase in revenue in the Group’s fitness business in Singapore
was driven by the expansion of members base and competitive
pricing strategies. The recovery in Singapore was partially offset by
the expected credit losses on the receivables of royalty fee income
and impairment on intangible assets in relation to the franchise
agreement due to the slower-than-expected recovery of the Group's
fitness business in Taiwan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group's capital expenditure, daily operations and investments
during the year ended 31 December 2024 were mainly funded by
cash generated from its operations and loans from principal
bankers.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group maintained bank balances and
cash reserves of approximately HK$80.6 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$77.7 million), all of which were cash and cash
equivalents.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding borrowings
repayable within one year of approximately HK$88.1 million and
outstanding borrowings repayable after one year of HK$ nil
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$39.5 million and HK$12.8
million). As at 31 December 2024, 77.5% of the Group's
outstanding borrowings were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
and 22.5% in Singapore dollars ("SGD"). Approximately 19.6% of
the Group’s outstanding borrowings were charged with interest at
floating rates while the remainder were at fixed rates.

The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets) of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=F

HK$’'000 HK$’000

FHET FHEIT

BEAE Total borrowings 88,054 52,347
mEE Total assets 1,587,432 1,727,335
BEEBELE Gearing ratio 5.5% 3.0%
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Financial Management and Policy

The Group's financial policy aims at minimising the Group's financial
risk exposure. Our policy is not to engage in speculative derivative
financial transactions and not to invest current assets in financial
products with significant risks.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC and
Singapore and most of its transactions, related working capital and
borrowings are denominated in RMB, SGD, United States dollar
("US$”) and HK$. The Group closely monitors such foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant currency
exposure if necessary. However, since the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$ which is different from its
functional currency, the Group would inevitably face foreign
exchange exposure, whether positive or negative, arising from
translating the accounts to its presentation currency.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’'s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$85,524,000 (2023: approximately HK$28,824,000)
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$151,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,076,000) were secured by the following:

2024 2023

ZEZMEF =%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHIT

BFEREEY Buildings and structures 30,622 1,835
wEYE Investment property 32,901 —
FREEE Right-of-use assets 1,434 4,454
IRITAEBR Bank balance 305 129
65,262 6,418




15

“Z-MEFH ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EXETAERRE

AREBAB AT ERAE :

EEENWE D

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material Capital Commitments and Investments

The Group had the following capital commitments:

2024 2023
—®_NF

—E-—4F
HK$’000
FB7T

HK$’000
TER

BATHERNG A EIRFEFE 2 Capital commitments contracted for but

B PE

not provided in the consolidated

financial statements:

—BEVE BELA&RE

— Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

5,284 16,883

=]

A-ZE-NE+—A=+—H KEEH688
H(ZEZ=F:720%) BT RAEBZET
KA (BIEEENE LMRIKERGEIHR) 4
145,020,000 (ZE=-=F+ = A
=+—H : #1164,964,000/7C) ° ZIKEIZ—
ERXRABRBERFH2HMNES  WiKE
BRIBEWEH © RICALER - &t’ﬂ\\ CRBEAR
FAR-ZBE—RNENB -+ BEMN XD ERE
FEI(TIRm B8 2GR 6 ERESR
ARG - ZETEIE EMEE TR
BANEEELER  REAEEAHBER
BREBEBEMI B ZEE  URBRHRIEE
HEAEEMEBEEZANER -

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 688 (2023: 720)
employees; and the staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments and
retirements benefits scheme contribution) of the Group’s were
approximately HK$145,020,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$164,964,000). The Group maintains a policy of paying
competitive remuneration packages, and employees are also
rewarded salary and bonus on a performance related basis. In
addition, awarded shares may be granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the terms of the share award scheme adopted by the
Company on 20 September 2016 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
purpose of the scheme is to provide incentives to the selected
employees to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees, and attract and retain
human resources that are valuable to the Group.
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Tongfang Pharmaceutical be recognised as Tongfang Pharmaceutical be recognised as Tongfang Pharmaceutical be recognised as
“Beijing Specialised, Special and New Small “Beijing Integrity Brand Enterprise*” “National Workers Pioneer*"

and Medium Enterprises*”
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Tongfang Pharmaceutical be awarded Chongging Kangle be awarded with Tongfang Pharmaceutical be recognised as
with “Beijing New Technology and the honor of “Trade Secret Protection “Safety Production Standardization Level
New Product (Service) Certificate*” Demonstration Unit*” Three Enterprise*”

*  For identification purpose only
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OVERALL APPROACH, STRATEGY, REPORTING
SCOPE AND REPORTING PRINCIPLES OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

About this Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
aims to illustrate the system establishment and performance of
Kontafarma China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we"”) in fulfilling its environmental and
social responsibilities, and is also published on the respective
websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.kontafarma.com.hk).

Reporting Scope

This Report covers the data within the reporting period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”) and
makes relevant disclosures in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company considers that we
have complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the
“comply or explain” provisions as set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The current reporting scope of this report covers the following
principal businesses of the Group:

(1) the manufacturing and sales of drugs, including chemical drugs,
active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) and API
intermediates in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(the “Pharmaceutical Business”). The major operating
subsidiaries of the Pharmaceutical Business include Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.* (R EEEEABRAR])
("Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) and Chongging Kangle
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (EEFELEEERE A A)
("Chongging Kangle”); and

(2)  Operation of fitness centers and provision of consultation
services for fitness and health activities in Singapore (“Fitness
Business”). The principal operating subsidiaries of which
include True Fitness Pte. Ltd. and True Yoga Pte. Ltd..
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For the Pharmaceutical Business, since Beijing Huakong Health
Technology Co., Ltd.* (JtREZREFERFLBR A AE]) had no actual
operation during the Reporting Period, it will be excluded from the
reporting scope for the Reporting Period. For Fitness Business, the
fitness centers operated under the franchise business model in
Taiwan will no longer be covered in the reporting scope of this
Report.

This Report summarises our environmental, social and governance
("ESG") performance during the Reporting Period, and covers our
management policies, mechanisms and measures for environmental
protection, emission reduction, safe workplace, staff training and
drills, supply chain management, product responsibility,
anti-corruption and community investment and engagement during
the Reporting Period. We are fully committed to operating in a
manner that is economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
while balancing the interests of our stakeholders and bringing
positive impacts to the society.

Reporting Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide
and based on the following four reporting principles — materiality,
guantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality: We have collected, through the materiality assessment
questionnaires, and reviewed the views of internal management and
stakeholders to identify the relevant ESG issues and assess their
relevance and materiality, so as to determine the reporting scope
and the required information for the preparation and verification of
the ESG report.

Quantitative: The ESG key performance indicators disclosed in this
Report are supported by quantitative data and measurable criteria.
The sources of all applicable data, calculation tools, methodologies,
references and conversion factors used are disclosed in the
presentation of emission data, where applicable.

Balance: This Report provides a complete, fair, clear and
comparable overview of the Group’s ESG policies and performance.
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Consistency: To facilitate stakeholders’ comparisons of the ESG
performance of the Group from year to year, the same reporting
and calculation methodologies are used as reasonably practicable in
the preparation of this Report and material changes in the
methodologies in the relevant sections are set out in the relevant
sections in detail. The Group will also add a note in the
corresponding contents of the report to indicate any changes that
may affect the comparison with previous reports.

Governance Structure

The Group understands that ESG are crucial to the sustainable
development of an enterprise. The Group has established an ESG
management framework with clearly defined responsibilities to
ensure top-down and effective implementation of the ESG policies.
The Board is responsible for overseeing the effective implementation
of the Group’s ESG policies, including determining the Group's
overall ESG initiatives, identifying and controlling ESG-related risks,
as well as supervising and leading the executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”), the management and relevant functional
departments in formulating and implementing relevant policies and
measures, directing the management to monitor the effectiveness of
the ESG risk management and internal control systems, and
regularly reviewing the progress of relevant performance and
objectives. The Board approves and supervises the preparation of the
ESG Report and formulates its approach. The working group will be
responsible for the specific preparation of the ESG Report in
accordance with the instructions of the Board and the Executive
Committee.

The Group has established a strong ESG governance structure and
implemented the concept of sustainable development in its daily
work, so as to achieve sustainable growth and the foundation of
long-term success. The structure consists of three parts:

The decision-making level (the Board), the organisation level (the
Executive Committee, the management) and the executive level (the
working group, the functional departments, the subsidiaries of the
Group), which are responsible for different ESG functions and work,
respectively.
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The Board is responsible for:

o developing the ESG management framework, approach,
strategy, priorities and objectives;

° overseeing the Group’s overall ESG risks and its relevant
objectives regularly, and reviewing the relevant progress and
performance;

° ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management

and internal control systems are in place;

° supervising and leading the Executive Committee, the
management and relevant departments to conduct the
ESG-related work; and

° approving the disclosure in the ESG Report.

The Executive Committee and the management are
responsible for:

° developing and implementing relevant policies and measures in
accordance with the ESG approaches, strategies, priorities and
objectives set by the Board;

° regularly assessing and reviewing the ESG-related progress,
performance, target progress, risks and opportunities, and
reporting to the Board;

o providing guidance on the implementation of the ESG policies
and measures to the functional departments and the
subsidiaries of the Group;

° reporting the ESG-related progress and performance to the
Board; and

° reviewing the ESG Report and submitting it to the Board for
approval.
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The working group is responsible for:

o integrating information and data collected by functional
departments and subsidiaries of the Group relating to the
Group's ESG performance; and

o engaging in the preparation of the ESG Report in accordance
with the instructions of the Board and the Executive
Committee, and reporting to the Executive Committee on the
work progress.

The functional departments and the subsidiaries of the Group
are responsible for:

° coordinating and implementing specific ESG policies, objectives
and measures;

o reporting the ESG-related work to the management;

° collecting information and data relating to the Group’s ESG
performance; and

o coordinating with the working group in preparing the ESG
Report.

Governance Approach and Strategy

The Board formulated and implemented a clear and prioritised ESG
management approach and initiative that is closely aligned with the
Company’s overall business strategy. The Executive Committee and
the management are responsible for the formulation of policies and
guidelines, and the allocation of budgets for the ESG activities and
projects in achieving sustainable development. Our vision is to
promote sustainable economies, build a solid foundation and a
bright future for the Group and enhance the value for business
partners of the Group and shareholders of the Company. Our
strategy is to comply with all environmental requirements applicable
to its scope of business and to continuously improve our
environmental management of every aspect towards the industry
best practice.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The management is committed to incorporating the ESG elements
into the strategic assessment of daily operation, and has considered
the long-term impact of stakeholders on our ESG issues. We have
appointed internal functional department and engaged external
advisor to assist the management of the Group in reviewing our
operation, in order to identify the relevant ESG issues and assess
their importance to our business and stakeholders’ interests.

The Group values the intelligence gained from the stakeholders’
insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business
activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are
important to the business and established various communication
channels. The following table provides an overview of the Group's
key stakeholders, and various platforms and communication
methods that are used to reach, listen and respond to them.

BEARN

Communication methods

Key stakeholders

Expectations and requirements

ABEERFGE
== e  HBIkm e BIEH
o FBREN s  BEMER
s  EEER e BIFM
s RBERKEBEZD o BIIKEE
o A B 56 14
Employees o Labour rights and interests o Employee activities
o Benefits and welfare o Performance appraisal
J Career development J Employee handbook
o Health and occupational safety o Trainings and drills

. Internal emails

SIMEEROE

Key external stakeholders

BEE/RR . K& B3R . e
. RIFHBEERZRL . PHRFERSE
. NEERNERAE MIKE . N KK
. NAIE 7 #uh
o  BEFHH
Investors/shareholders o Return on investment o Shareholders’ meetings
o Good corporate governance system o Interim and annual reports
o Transparency and disclosure of corporate e Announcements and circulars
information o Official company website

° Emails
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Key stakeholders Expectations and requirements Communication methods
B, BB o EBTFIRBER e  TEHR®
EEE B . BIIhREERME . ERBIER
. EEAR . ERARTA
Government/regulatory o Compliance with laws and regulations o Regular reporting
authorities/legal team Fulfillment of corporate legal o Laws and regulations
responsibilities o Global compliance platform
o Regulatory compliance
BEFREEER s BEEMERE s  BBKED
. R . BT EFEKBAEAER
e  AEER s XFPMEEHZL
o BRI (EE
Customers and potential e Quality products and services o Business visits
customers o Timely delivery o Email, telephone and
o Reasonable price communication applications
o Value of services o Customer satisfaction survey

s [IREEE
e BEMFX

o  EBFED
o  EBFEHMH EFEIBAEMAER
o HERRRFMGE

Suppliers/business o Payment schedule o Business visits
partners . Stable demand ° Email, telephone and
communication applications
o Supplier performance evaluation
Zanl i . RIERE . NRIE B
. ol N =) . 2
. BB R . BEI&RTIES
Community o Environmental protection o Official company website
o Community contribution o Community involvement
o Economic development o Staff volunteering activities
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has assessed the materiality and importance of the ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step

Step

Step

1: Identification — Formulation of industry benchmark

The relevant ESG areas were identified by the Group through
the review of relevant ESG reports of local and international
industry peers.

The importance of each ESG area was determined based on
the recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide as well as
the risks on the Group through internal discussion of the
management.

2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder engagement

The Group conducts questionnaire assessments on the key ESG
areas concerned by its key stakeholders above, so as to
identify all key and material ESG issues that they consider to
be material to the Group’s business development.

All the key and material ESG-related issues were prioritized
based on the preliminary materiality assessment result. The
Group takes into account the materiality to stakeholders and
materiality to business in prioritizing the issues.

3: Validation — Determining material issues

Assessment, identification and prioritization were made based
on the above questionnaire results, and the Executive
Committee determined and confirmed all key and material
ESG issues and areas that are important to the business
development in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide.

Based on our assessment, this Report provides a summary disclosure

of the Pharmaceutical

Business and the Fitness Business. The

following five ESG issues are identified as our key aspects.
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Key ESG issues

1.

Corporate governance, risk
management and compliance
monitoring

JIRHEEZENRE MY RN E R

Reasons for identifying as material issues and risks involved
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o Good corporate governance can enhance the performance and
operational efficiency of the Company, and effective risk
management can reduce the likelihood of penalties or lawsuits,
ensuring the Company’s stable operation.

J A sound corporate governance structure and a comprehensive
internal control system can effectively mitigate corporate risks and
assist an enterprise in complying with relevant regulations, which
are beneficial to enhancing the competitiveness and reputation of
an enterprise in the market and creating long-term value for an
enterprise so as to maximise the interests of the enterprise and its
shareholders.

o The operation management of the Company is subject to the
compliance monitoring. All economic activities of the Company shall
be conducted under the premise of compliance, which can reduce
the risk of legal liability due to non-compliance, and continue to
play a good role in corporate governance.

2.

REEfERE R

Procurement and supply chain
management

. BENRRE  WHEAREENER KREENHE RENEE
HEEREHRERETRE  TARNBREREBRA  ROEF B
BeEA  BREZENWAFTE -

e HEBHEWNASEULEBEELEDRREATEMEE  URBED
FHEEAKAN  RBITEENE -

. BRHRBEAERE  AHRELEENIRGENERNEE AR
RECENROLBRFEN - REEEIMEERE -

o The procurement from the best suppliers at the appropriate time and
location with the most appropriate price, quantity and the best
quality can effectively reduce procurement costs and inventory, as
well as minimise capital occupancy and increase revenue and profits
of an enterprise.

o The reliability and flexibility of supplier delivery can help improve
customer satisfaction, reduce the total supply chain cost of an
enterprise, and improve production efficiency.

o Effective procurement and supply chain management helps to ensure
smooth production and product quality, and to improve the core
competitiveness of an enterprise and enhance its economic
benefits.
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Key ESG issues Reasons for identifying as material issues and risks involved
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3. Energy and exhaust emission o Energy is the source of enterprise development. The strengthening
management of energy management, energy conservation and consumption
reduction can help enterprises optimise process and enhance
comprehensive competitiveness, which are essential to their long-

term development.

o The establishment of an energy management system is beneficial for
the Group to achieve its objectives as follows:

(1) to help the Company save and use energy reasonably and
reduce production and operation costs;

(2) to ensure the Company's safe, continuous and stable
production; and

(3) to help the Company obtain economic and environmental
benefits supported by national energy conservation and
emission reduction policies.

o Reasonable planning and use of energy can reduce energy
consumption per unit product and improve economic efficiency.

o The Group strictly complies with and actively responds to the
requirements of environmental protection laws and regulations,
focuses on strengthening the centralized treatment of exhaust gas
of pharmaceutical enterprises, and strictly controls the emission of
exhaust gas (including the emission of formaldehyde and dust) in
workshops.
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Key ESG issues

4.

4.

AT B N

Talent management and
development

JIRHEEZENRE MY RN E R

Reasons for identifying as material issues and risks involved
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o Talents are the core competitiveness of the Company, and also the
fundamental driving force of the Company’s operation.

o Talents are the most valuable resources of an enterprise. A strong
supply of talents can enable the Company to grasp the initiative in
fierce market competition, and fully unleashing employee creativity
and enthusiasm can create value for an enterprise and generate
economic benefits.

o Talent management and development is an essential element for an
enterprise’s strategic human capital management plan, and is the
primary resource and the basic guarantee for enterprise
development, which greatly promotes the development of an
enterprise. The Group shall maintain and expand its high-quality
talent pool.

5.
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o
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Product responsibility and quality
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o The quality of products and services determines the Company’s
capacity to expand markets and is essential for sustainability of an
enterprise.

o Product quality is a crucial factor that determines the quality,
development, economic strength and competitive advantage of an
enterprise. Quality is the most critical element in capturing market
share. Product responsibility is the necessary responsibility of an
enterprise to consumers, which gains tremendous attention from
consumers and the public. Product responsibility and quality directly
impact the image of an enterprise, ultimately influencing its
economic benefits and long-term growth.
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Objectives and Review

While developing its business, the Group is committed to improving
its business operation management. The Group’s operations are
generally based on the nature of production and service. Therefore,
the resources we use are mainly electricity and water. We always
aim to reduce emissions, reduce water consumption and cherish
resources, so as to reduce the impact on the surrounding
environment where we operate. At the same time, we have a
sound employment system to create a diverse, inclusive, healthy and
safe working environment, and maintain close communication with
employees to understand their needs. The table below summarises
our key objectives.

Our objectives

1. BER .

1. Strict compliance with regulations e

BEAR — HREBENEBEENTSEBONERER

BERD — BIBREACERRE HLAROXLE

Legal compliance — ensuring that the Group’s business operations
are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations

Ethics — adhering to ethical standards of business integrity and
establishing a culture of compliance

O FR %
2. 'S R .

2. Quiality assurance .

EnEx —BREmBEXRT FaEPHEX

Emid — BRERNTERERERENR

Product quality — ensuring good product quality and meeting
customers’ requirements

Product safety — ensuring that products meet safety standards and
requirements

3. Environmental protection °

RIREE — THEZRIZHERRE28 GERIHEBENRETE
HAEHHER - BIBER R EEERBERY

RIREERE — TR EEEERIEE(CN T - WHERIPFS
o E [ P BB - Ko AN AR R FE S HE e

Environmental management — regularly monitoring various
environmental parameters to minimise the relevant environmental
impact, committed to saving resources, reducing emissions and
reducing the generation of solid waste

Climate change strategy — regularly reviewing the Group's approach
to climate change, and identifying risks and opportunities, and
relevant countermeasures
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Our objectives
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2T — REIRMARSF WRERENIERE
Diversity and inclusion — Respecting the labour rights and human
rights of all employees, maintaining high ethical standards, clearly
stating human resources management policies and advocating an
inclusive culture within the company

Work safety — providing employees with a supportive, happy and
healthy working environment

4.  RARK .
()
4. People-oriented o
[ ]
5. EfgdE .
5. Giving back to society o

MAKRMNBERMEIR - RERAE TR IRE
Leveraging our expertise and resources to serve the communities in
which we operate
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The Executive Committee and the management determine and
review the progress of ESG objectives and provide feedback through
regular reports provided by the relevant responsible persons of each
business and report to the Board. The Board reviews the
achievement of objectives and reviews the progress and
effectiveness of related matters. Meanwhile, the Board will continue
to monitor the risks brought by these material ESG issues to the
Group. As the business continues to develop, the Board has been
paying attention to new ESG-related issues and will continue to
oversee ESG-related work to keep abreast of the latest disclosure
requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange.
The Company also ensures that all departments work closely
together to achieve the objectives of operational compliance and
social responsibility, and will continue to formulate corresponding
ESG objectives in response to the Group’s business development.
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A. Environmental
1. Emissions

Pharmaceutical Business

With the aim of reducing gas emissions, the Group regularly
conducts exhaust gas monitoring in accordance with the
requirements of various emission standards, and ensures that the
concentration of exhaust gas emissions meets the emission
standards stipulated in government regulations, such as the Emission
Standard of Air Pollutants for Catering Industry* (CZ &R K RIT 4
PETAZ X)), the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Boilers*
(GRIERRS 2 YEEMZ£)) and the Integrated Emission Standard
of Air Pollutants* ((RKF)S5EYEE BEMIZ®E)), etc. Relevant
emission reduction works were carried out during the Reporting
Period to achieve the goal.

In response to the promotion of alternative energy use by the PRC
government, we have continuously implemented a solar energy
power generation project (the “Solar Energy Generation Project”) in
our plant in Beijing. In this project, solar photovoltaic modules were
installed, covering an area of over 30,000 square feet and fulfilling
the daily energy consumption requirement of our plant in Beijing.
Any surplus solar power would be sold to the plants nearby. The
Solar Energy Generation Project effectively promotes the
development of alternative energy and contributes to a better
environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

In terms of the reduction of exhaust gas and emissions, the exhaust
gas generated by Tongfang Pharmaceutical in its workshop during
the production process of pharmaceutical preparations mainly
includes dust, exhaust gas, chemical reagent volatilisation of
laboratories, etc. Tongfang Pharmaceutical has regularly carried out
various energy-saving actions, eliminated heavily-polluted production
lines and related facilities and used natural gas as fuel to reduce
emissions. Tongfang Pharmaceutical has regularly carried out the
monitoring of the concentration of exhaust gas emissions and
replaced relevant facilities, such as installing electrostatic fume
purifier facilities and replacing low-nitrogen burners. This year, it
replaced gas-fired boilers with electric steam generators and
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discontinued their use to reduce exhaust gas emissions. In
accordance with the requirements of the pollutant discharge permit,
Tongfang Pharmaceutical engaged a qualified inspection company to
carry out self-monitoring of pollutant emissions, so as to reduce
emissions and ensure that exhaust gas emissions are controlled in
accordance with the total amount permitted by the pollutant
discharge permit to achieve a stable emission level, and the
emission concentration can meet the requirements of Integrated
Emission Standard for Air Pollutants* ({X&)5 W45 & BERUZZED)
of Beijing City.

The safety and environmental protection committee of Chongging
Kangle led various departments to implement energy conservation
and emission reduction, and gradually started to implement other
energy conservation and emission reduction work, including the
purchase of a new set of exhaust gas treatment equipment, the
application of the equipment with high energy efficiency to
eliminate obsolete machines, the centralised production to reduce
the use of packaging and forklifts, and the strengthened routine
inspections to ensure normal operation of pollution management
equipment and facilities, to deal with abnormal situations in a timely
manner and to completely eradicate environmental pollution
incidents. During the Reporting Period, Chongging Kangle continued
using the renovated temporal storage sites for hazardous wastes and
waste gas collection and treatment facilities at the sewage station,
which effectively collected and controlled the fugitive emissions of
temporal storage sites for hazardous wastes, and processed it
together with the waste gas from the sewage station treatment
pool and then gas emission is required to meet the standard. At the
same time, the waste gas treatment system of the sewage station
has been upgraded to level-three deep treatment device of
“condensation + water absorption + activated carbon adsorption”,
so as to further reduce exhaust gas (such as formaldehyde)
concentration emissions, effectively ensuring the up-to-standard
emission of the relevant exhaust gas. In addition, during the
Reporting Period, Chongging Kangle increased the pre-treatment of
the front-end of production of exhaust gas, the total amount of
exhaust gas emissions thereby decreased. A collection system is
installed in the workshop to reduce unorganized emissions, and a
third-party test on exhaust gas emission is conducted twice a year.
Exhaust gas emissions are controlled in accordance with the total
amount permitted by the pollutant discharge permit to achieve a
stable emission level and meet the emission standards of Emission
Limits for Air Pollutants* ({RXRSZEWHEMRED), thus achieving
purification effects.
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During the Reporting Period, since the emissions, such as nitrogen
oxides (“NOx”), sulphur dioxide (“SO,”) and dust (“PM”) and
greenhouse gases emitted directly, produced from the
Pharmaceutical Business were not significant, the Group made a
decision not to disclose such information. In 2024, indirect carbon
dioxide (“CO,") emission from electricity consumption was
approximately 1,470 tonnes (2023: approximately 1,057 tonnes).
The intensity of CO, generated per person from electricity
consumption was approximately 3.40 tonnes (2023: approximately
2.49 tonnes). The increase in overall emissions was due to the
increase in electricity consumption of Chongging Kangle as a result
of the addition of Phase Il office building and the commissioning of
research and development and quality inspection centers. For the
reasons of the increase in electricity consumption, please refer to
the section "Use of Resources” below.

During the Reporting Period, the Group classified wastes, aims to
reduce the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and
treated the discharge of all wastes in strict accordance with laws
and regulations.

In terms of handling of hazardous wastes, chemical waste,
hazardous chemicals and clinical waste (Including expired waste
drugs, experimental waste liquid, empty waste reagent bottles;
waste tailings and auxiliary materials generated in the production
process, etc.) are the major hazardous wastes of the Pharmaceutical
Business. We centralise the handling of all hazardous wastes in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. All hazardous
wastes generated have to go through detoxification treatments by
qualified vendors engaged in accordance with the national
environmental protection policy before disposal. During the
Reporting Period, Tongfang Pharmaceutical has completed the
self-monitoring and environmental impact assessment and
acceptance of the pollutant discharge permit, improved the existing
environmental protection facilities, and carried out green technical
transformation on plant equipment and process flow. Tongfang
Pharmaceutical’s hazardous waste management area has been
renovated and hazardous waste storage site administrators have
been employed to manage hazardous waste specially, while a more
standardised and safer environmental protection process was
implemented and addresses potential environmental hazards. In
addition, the signing of treatment agreements with hazardous waste
treatment units has accelerated treatment efficiency and thus
reduced environmental risks, and hazardous waste management will
continue to be strengthened in the future.
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In terms of non-hazardous wastes, it mainly included solid waste,
domestic waste and recyclable waste (generally including waste
paper and waste plastics). In order to reduce non-hazardous wastes,
we started with design of process research and development,
strengthened material recovery and application, and negotiated with
suppliers to reduce or reuse the packaging for raw materials to
reduce waste generation. In addition, we provided waste recycling
bins in all public areas of our factories, sorted waste by nature for
recycling and reuse and appointed recyclable waste collection
contractors to assist in the disposal of wastes. Tongfang
Pharmaceutical has fully implemented waste classification during the
Reporting Period, strengthened the publicity and education of
employees on waste classification and placement, and signed
classified waste disposal agreements with local legal waste disposal
companies to dispose of solid waste at construction sites and
domestic waste generated every day, which has complied with the
Regulations on the Management of Domestic Waste in Beijing*
(LR EERIREIRIEM)) for proper waste disposal and removal;
Chongging Kangle has also rectified environmental protection
facilities and set up reasonable and standardized temporary
storerooms for the disposal of domestic waste and solid waste
respectively, so as to reduce the water content of distillation residue
and sludge and reduce the disposal cost. Chongging Kangle has
improved the production process, adopted clean production and
selected fine materials, improved product quality and used long-life
materials, etc., in order to reduce the generation of solid waste
from the source.

In 2024, Tongfang Pharmaceutical treated a total of approximately
15 tonnes (2023: approximately 4.5 tonnes) of hazardous waste,
including chemical waste and hazardous chemicals. The chemical
waste generated by Tongfang Pharmaceutical mainly includes waste
drugs, chemical reagent waste and waste liquid that expired within
the year; hazardous chemicals mainly include ink cartridges,
activated carbon that adsorbs harmful gases during experiments,
empty waste reagent bottles produced in daily office operation and
waste tailings and residual auxiliary materials produced in
production process. During the year, due to the government’s
requirement for the pharmaceutical industry to produce products in
batches that are subject to periodic validation, the products with
defects could not hit the market for sale. In 2021, Tongfang
Pharmaceutical conducted process validation production for
powder-for-injection preparations and semi-solid preparations, which
were subsequently disposed of as chemical waste after reaching
their expiration in 2024. This led to a significant increase in total
chemical waste volume.
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The production base of Chongging Kangle generated approximately
711 tonnes of chemical waste in 2024 (2023: approximately 673
tonnes), representing a significant increase as compared to the same
period of last year. During the year, the chemical waste of
Chongging Kangle mainly included distillation residues, activated
carbon, organic solutions, highly toxic chemicals, etc. The change in
production mix and increase in production volume resulted in an
increase in the amount of hazardous waste disposed of. Chongging
Kangle continued to implement the following measures to reduce
and control the discharge of hazardous wastes:

—  Carrying out official inspections (e.g. National Medical Products
Administration of China, and The U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA"), etc.) and multiple domestic and
foreign customer audits, and pushing forward clean
production and improvements on process technology, resulting
in significant improvements of product qualities and technical
indicators as well as substantial reductions in costs and
chemical wastes;

— Improving solvent recycling fixtures to increase the recycling of
distillation and condensation facilities and cooling water,
resulting in significant increase of solvent recovery rate and
effective reduction of chemical wastes emission;

— Adopting front-end collection of chemical wastes in batches
and applying distillation-concentration regime for highly
concentrated chemical wastes, which effectively lowered the
volume of emissions and processing costs;

— Using quinclorac by some external procurements to reduce its
production;

—  Engaging professional outsourcing companies to uniformly
recycle and dispose of hazardous wastes;

—  Signing disposal agreements with newly-hired hazardous waste
disposal units to accelerate treatment efficiency and thereby

reduce environmental risks; and

— Undergoing non-hazardous treatment and disposal.
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Based on the total amount of hazardous waste generated by the
above, the intensity of hazardous waste generated per person per
year in the Pharmaceutical Business was approximately 1.68 tonnes
(intensity per person in 2023: approximately 1.59 tonnes). The
intensity per person increased due to the increase in total amount
of hazardous waste produced by Tongfang Pharmaceutical and
Chongging Kangle.

The Pharmaceutical Business produced approximately 36 tonnes
(2023: approximately 31 tonnes) of non-hazardous wastes during
2024, including household and kitchen waste, general commercial
waste and other non-hazardous waste. During the Reporting Period,
non-hazardous waste was mainly from the above-mentioned
domestic and kitchen waste generated by Tongfang Pharmaceutical
and Chongging Kangle. The slight increase in the total amount of
non-hazardous waste was due to the increase in the output of
Tongfang Pharmaceutical’s main products and the increase in
recyclable waste due to refined management of recycling recyclable
waste; domestic waste of Chongging Kangle increased due to the
addition of the Phase Il office building.

During the period, the intensity of non-hazardous waste generated
per person was approximately 0.08 tonnes (intensity per person in
2023: approximately 0.07 tonnes). Taking into account the large
price fluctuations in the recyclable market and the advantages of
the treatment price and higher value for large volume, Tongfang
Pharmaceutical will collect and quantitatively process the
above-mentioned non-hazardous waste every year, and implement
effective recycling for non-hazardous waste disposal.

In addition to the above non-hazardous wastes produced by
Tongfang Pharmaceutical and Chongging Kangle, packaging
materials consumed by finished products consisted mainly of
non-hazardous wastes such as paper boxes, plastics, metal and
aluminium pipes. We consider the amount of packaging materials
consumed by finished products was not significant, and thus the
Group decided not to disclose such information.
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Since Fitness Business is a service industry, it only indirectly
produces greenhouse gases emission from electricity consumption,
and does not constitute other significant direct discharge of waste
gas, greenhouse gases, hazardous or non-hazardous wastes. During

COBFMMTIOM (ZFE =5 : X3727W) - the Reporting Period, CO, emission from electricity consumption was
BABRREEECO,HBEMEE 4)2.53H approximately 710 tonnes (2023: approximately 727 tonnes) and the
(ZEZ=%: 492.56M8) + B FFHHMEML emission intensity of CO, generated per person from electricity

RERERE - BRI T EBEBHOREREE
FESHATIERER]—& -

consumption was approximately 2.53 tonnes (2023: approximately
2.56 tonnes), without significant fluctuation as compared with the
previous year's emission. Please refer to the section “Use of
Resources” below for electricity conservation measures of the Fitness
Business.

B AR T

Emissions Performance Table

REXH%

Fitness Business

BHEXK

Pharmaceutical Business

BREARER

Key performance indicators

= =
2023 2023

MARE A AEBERBE BRI R S EHBTE LB (WINOx ~ SO, KPME) IF

NEXR BORFENRBEBEER

During the Reporting Period, the Group considered that the emissions such as NOx, SO, and

PM from the Pharmaceutical Business and the Fitness Business were not significant, and thus

AT BERR YRR R K AR B HE AR
I -

AT.1  The types of emissions
and respective emissions

data. a decision was made not to disclose such information.

A2 EHE(BE) RaERE S e HmE EmE
B (BE2) REREEH 1,470 1,057 7100 7271
e (CAMEE &) R (20 B B 7E: g
BR)EE(NMAEES 3.4008,7 A 24918,/ A 2.5308,/ A 2.5608, A
B FHERMTHE)

A1.2  Direct (scope 1) and Emissions: Emissions: Emissions: Emissions:
indirect (scope 2) 1,470 tonnes 1,057 tonnes 710 tonnes 727 tonnes
greenhouse gas Intensity: Intensity: Intensity: Intensity:

emissions from
electricity consumption
(in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of
production volume, per
facility).

3.40 tonnes/person

2.49 tonnes/person

2.53 tonnes/person

2.56 tonnes/person
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Emissions Performance Table

CEE S

Pharmaceutical Business

Nl

—_=_=

2023

BEXK

Fitness Business

A3 FEXRZEEVES L 2REY : 7250 L E2REEY) : 6760 3 A
(AMEET &) & (@A) BEEY : Ol BEREY  OlF
BE(WABES B - BEMEm 1R BEEm: 1R
BIERETE) N EEEREEY N EEEEEY
&3t 7260 &3 6770
BE : 1.680, A BE - 1.5908, A
A1.3  Total hazardous wastes Chemical wastes: Chemical wastes: Not applicable
produced (in tonnes) 725 tonnes 676 tonnes
and, where appropriate, Medical wastes: Medical wastes:
intensity (e.g. per unit 0 tonne 0 tonne
of production volume, Hazardous chemicals:  Hazardous chemicals:
per facility). 1 tonne 1 tonne
Total hazardous Total hazardous
wastes above: wastes above:
726 tonnes 677 tonnes
Intensity: Intensity:
1.68 tonnes/person 1.59 tonnes/person
Al4 FEEEESEEVES fEEEEY) - 361 fEEREEY) - 318 REEBREERERBEFEEM 2 HK -
(AMEET &) & (@A) & 0.0808, A 2 - 0.0708, A
BE(WABES B -
BERETE)
A1.4  Total non-hazardous Non-hazardous Non-hazardous The Fitness Business had no significant

wastes produced (in
tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of
production volume, per
facility).

wastes: 36 tonnes
Intensity:
0.08tonnes/person

wastes: 31 tonnes
Intensity:
0.07 tonnes/person

emission of non-hazardous wastes.
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Description of emission
targets set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HHYRER

Emissions Performance Table

BHEXK

Pharmaceutical Business

Nl

—T-=
2023

SEREREBHERERBE  BREFIE
EERFHMEEREN - WHERERBENR
TR EEZIRIT RO 2 RE PR - R F
NEERTAGEEEER KFARA @R
TEUNEBERBZE -

With the goal of reducing gas emissions, the
Group regularly conducts exhaust gas
monitoring in accordance with the
requirements of various emission standards,
and ensures that the concentration of
exhaust gas emissions meets the emission
standards required by government
regulations. During the year, the Group
implemented the Solar Energy Generation
Project and carried out relevant emission
reduction work to achieve the goal.

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

REXK

Fitness Business

BRAIA S —RE ([LED]) B R LI -
BRSO R R - HEER B -

Apart from replacing our lighting system with
Light Emitting Diodes (“LED(s)”), we also
promoted electricity consumption and energy
saving by putting up posters in our fitness
centres.
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Emissions Performance Table

BREANIER CEE S BEXK

Key performance indicators Pharmaceutical Business Fitness Business

Nl

-

—_=_=

2023

ERDERRBEMR T E - HME FBR#ET
FIHRRE O T - RERERERE - 208K
SRBMENEERREERE  EARAR
ERBELUREHNE AFEEHRERNA
BHE 2 I RRARIRE AR D RBERBERL o
FRINVE b E M S IEEBER BE TAE - 2RE

MERBERE RASERIGERE £
HERDBEDER A EKE - R
SAERREREEREE RNEBEES
B HMBRBSRFREE - EHRE - &
BN A B MCER BT FE M T KRR
SRR R - A AU E TR ) fE BE 17 FE AR
PEREE - WK T EERE R A m TR IE - BE
REOBERAEETE -

In terms of minimizing exhaust gas and
emissions, we have been regularly
implementing various energy saving measures
and replacing related equipment, such as
phasing out production lines and related
facilities with severe pollution, using natural
gas as fuel to reduce emissions. During the
year, electric steam generators were adopted
to replace gas-fired boilers, which were
discontinued to reduce exhaust gas emission.
During the year, we also implemented other
various energy conservation and emission
reduction measures, such as acquiring new
exhaust gas filters, applying equipment with
high energy efficiency, centralizing
production, and reducing use of packaging
materials; we strengthened routine inspection
to ensure normal operation of pollution
management equipment and facilities, timely
dealt with abnormal situations, and
eliminated environmental pollution accidents.
During the Reporting Period, we continued to
utilize the renovated hazardous waste storage
sites and sewage station exhaust gas
collection and treatment facilities to
effectively collect and control the fugitive
gases from the hazardous waste storage sites
and increased the pretreatment of the front-
end of production exhaust gas, resulting in a
decrease in the total amount of exhaust gas
emissions.
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BREANIER

Key performance indicators

HH YA

Emissions Performance Table

CEE S

Pharmaceutical Business

Nl

—_=_=

2023

SEYERRBISHAAIEER  ERE6EE
BRAIARRESZMHRETEN - AR &
b & F R E ERBEBUETTE =T R -
RS HERUIRERE MR IFLBR -

In accordance with the requirements of the
pollutant discharge permit, the Group
engaged a qualified inspection company to
carry out self-monitoring of pollutant
emissions. Meanwhile, a third-party test on
waste gas emission was conducted twice a
year to ensure compliance with the emission
standards for purification purposes.

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEXK

Fitness Business

A1.6

A1.6

MR A E R ESRE
TR TE - R
FISLEYREE B AR R Ay
FE L B AR AT RENA 2
o

Description of how
hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are
handled, and a
description of waste
reduction targets set
and steps taken to
achieve them.

AEBHBEEMETOBRRARIELEEE
EEEEZRMASBR  ROEREEYR -

FEEEREENERENBHAERNDT
ETEELRE BREATEREELR
BOBE - RMEMERBNEE T ZETTL
EERMEGE - TERFBIRRREME - W - 75
BiEEEEERNMEMAEEREE S ET
EERMEMELZZRERMRE  BBRRRES
WEREREREEMRITEE RS MRTE
BACRRE TR D TIRIFBRE R - AR EE N
RIEREEIE o

The Group classifies waste and targets to
reduce the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste, and handles emissions in
accordance with regulations.

All hazardous wastes will go through
detoxification treatment by qualified vendors
before disposal, so as to ensure that wastes
are treated and disposed of in accordance
with the requirements. We carried out green
technical transformation of plant equipment
and production process to improve our
existing environmental protection facilities. At
the same time, we also revamped our
hazardous waste management area and
employed a hazardous waste site manager to
manage and implement safer environmental
processes and to address potential
environmental hazards; and we signed
disposal agreements with hazardous waste
disposal units to accelerate treatment
efficiency and reduce environmental risks. In
the future, we would continue to enhance
our hazardous waste management.

BEEXBRABREANAEREZTEREY
ZHE -

The Fitness Business had no significant
emission of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes.
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Emissions Performance Table

BREANIER CEE S BEXK

Key performance indicators Pharmaceutical Business Fitness Business

R EERERY) - R TE R
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A EREARBMNBEY AR EREY
WESE - HMEIRAA N HE RN
F OIS - R EHEREYEITO AT
BIRBANA  YERIRAOKEZEYKEAS
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BIE- MBI EEHE D ERM - BB
BORRBIEREE D REFEUNS GRS &
EAR R E R EY) c HPID M REETH
KABRREESRRBH ReEmmEME
RS WRERDBEEVNES -

In order to reduce non-hazardous wastes, we
started with design of process research and
development, strengthened material recovery
and application, and negotiated with
suppliers to reduce or reuse the packaging
for raw materials to reduce waste
generation. We provided waste recycling bins
in all public areas of our factories, sorted
waste by nature for recycling and reuse and
appointed recyclable waste collection
contractors to assist in the disposal of
wastes. During the vyear, we fully
implemented waste classification, and
strengthened the publicity and education of
employees on waste classification and
placement. We rectified environmental
protection facilities and set up temporary
classification storerooms for the disposal of
domestic waste and solid waste respectively.
We improved the production process,
adopted clean production, selected fine
materials, improved product quality and
service life, and reduced waste generation
from the source.
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2. Use of Resources

The Group adheres to the concept of green development and has
been striving to implement the 3R Principle (Reduce, Reuse and
Recycle). Through equipment and technology transformation,
changing the way water is used for production, improving water
recycling utilisation rate, rationalising production layout, and
reducing demand for water in production, the Group continuously
optimises the use of resources, aiming to reduce resource
consumption and improve resource utilisation efficiency in all
possible aspects of business operations, including energy
conservation and water conservation.

Huge amount of water is required during the medicine
manufacturing process and provision of fitness services. Our sources
of water vary and largely depend on the location of our plants and
fitness centres. We are consciously taking steps in reducing our
consumption and contributing towards maintenance and recharge of
water sources. In terms of sewage treatment, we purchased sewage
rights during the Reporting Period to control the amount of
wastewater discharge according to the total amount of sewage
discharge license. We controlled the source, attached importance to
the selection of raw materials and auxiliary materials for production,
and took scientific and rational measures from the raw material
selection stage to reduce the hidden dangers of pollutants; sought
alternative products for difficult-to-process raw materials, or
strengthened management to limit the usage; adopted clean
production process to reduce the generation of wastewater during
the production process. For the wastewater generated, the Group
selected suitable processes, determined the best process parameters
and operation management mode, and treated the wastewater to
meet the discharge standards. Meanwhile, the Group adopted
classified collection and separate treatment to strengthen the
recycling of wastewater, which greatly reduces the technical
difficulties and operational management difficulties of wastewater
treatment and reduces pollution. The amount of wastewater
discharge was relatively reduced through the measures of emission
reduction, and no excessive wastewater was generated during the
Reporting Period.
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To improve energy efficiency, we invest in the enhancement and
reformation of the Company’s power facilities and devices. In
particular, we reform street lamps into energy-saving solar LED
street lamps, and have completed the replacement of LED lights in
our plants and offices, providing energy savings of up to 40%
compared to conventional lights. We remove and phase out any
production lines and relevant facilities that have serious pollution
problems with high energy consumption and replace the motor
water pumps with high energy consumption, with a view to
reducing electricity consumption. We have completed the
replacement or upgrading of our aged equipment to models that
are more efficient. For machinery with high electricity consumption
such as the refrigeration equipment, we have used the fluoride
machines for cooling and eliminated the ammonia machines, a kind
of refrigeration equipment with high energy consumption, to
replace the refrigerating medium and prevent air pollution. We also
adopt centralised cool storage in the nighttime, and alternatively
use refrigeration equipment for cooling during peak hours of power
consumption to reduce electricity consumption. When constructing
or upgrading plants, impacts on the environment are our key
consideration.

Pharmaceutical Business

Regular energy audit or carbon audit was performed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group to monitor energy usage. All of our
pharmaceutical plants have passed the environmental assessment
certification of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’s Republic of China. In addition, the Solar Energy Generation
Project was implemented in our plants, and the refrigeration units
with frequency control were adopted, which provide energy savings
of up to 40%. Since the utilisation of solar power at the end of
2019, the power generation of clean energy as of year 2024 was
approximately 2,550,000 kWh (2023: approximately 1,910,000
kWh) per year. The electricity consumption has reached 100%
photovoltaic green energy consumption. Meanwhile, power
distribution facilities were upgraded to reduce reactive power loss
and reduce the utilisation rate of air conditioning. In order to
encourage energy saving among employees, the Pharmaceutical
Business has incorporated the amount of energy saving into
department assessments, providing performance incentives to
projects with significant energy saving.
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We consumed approximately 4.9 million kWh of electricity in 2024
(2023: approximately 3.5 million kWh), and the intensity of
electricity consumption per person was approximately 0.0112 million
kWh (2023: approximately 0.0082 million kWh). The increase in
overall electricity consumption was due to the increase in electricity
consumption of Chongqging Kangle as a result of the addition of the
Phase Il office building and the commissioning of the R&D and
quality inspection center. Subsidiaries of the Pharmaceutical Business
continued to implement the following measures to reduce electricity
consumption, including the elimination of high energy consumption
cooling equipment to improve production efficiency, and the
promotion of power consumption during staggered peak hours;
carry out green technical transformation of plant equipment and
process flow to improve the level of energy conservation and
consumption reduction in production; optimize production process,
and control total electricity consumption. During the year, the park
where Tongfang Pharmaceutical is located converted to green
energy, fully used new energy such as wind energy and power
energy, and ceased to use traditional non-renewable energy with
high emissions.

We have implemented planned water use and this year's water
usage has not exceeded the standard amount set at the beginning
of the year. We replaced water taps by installing water-saving
devices and increased water-saving renovation to improve the water
recycling rate. We are committed to guiding employees to save
water. We also carried out regular and timely inspections to prevent
leaks and reduce unnecessary energy consumption. Meanwhile, all
wastewater was treated by the sewage treatment system at the
Company'’s internal sewage treatment station before discharging to
the public sewage treatment system. Tongfang Pharmaceutical has
engaged a third-party inspection company to enable sewage
discharge to meet the emission threshold requirements of the
Comprehensive Discharge Standards for Water Pollutants ({7K)5&
YR & PEBUZZE)) of Beijing. Chongging Kangle continued to
implement measures throughout the year to improve water
consumption, including promoting clean production, recycling water
resources, adopting cleaning methods to clean the workshop to
reduce the use of water, and conducting regular reviews on water
conversation measures to prevent any act of wasting water. We
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controlled the wastewater produced during the production process.
No water shall be used to wash the floor of workshops except for
process water and water for cleaning of equipment and special
work types. Washing tanks and containers containing oil, acid
liquid, lye or liquid wastes within the factory area were also
prohibited to reduce wastewater and use of water for floor
cleaning. Meanwhile, the highly concentrated wastewater produced
is pretreated at the sewage stations with special distillation and
concentration process to reduce treatment costs. Centralised
pretreatment facilities for wastewater of high salinity will be
established at the sewage stations once the transformation of these
stations is completed and put into use, which is able to reduce the
wastewater used for equipment cleansing by approximately 300
tonnes each year.

During the Reporting Period, we consumed approximately 73,989
tonnes (2023: approximately 78,080 tonnes) of water and the
intensity of water consumption per person is approximately 170.88
tonnes (2023: approximately 183.72 tonnes). The decrease in water
consumption as compared to last year was mainly due to the
change in the product structure of Chongging Kangle during the
year, while the Company strengthened water management and
encouraged water conservation, resulting in the significant drop of
overall water consumption within the Reporting Period. The annual
planned water consumption of Tongfang Pharmaceutical is 15,000
tonnes, and the actual water consumption is approximately 11,317
tonnes, which does not exceed the planned usage. During the
Reporting Period, we continued to implement the following
measures to address the water consumption:

—  Formulate annual targets for water consumption, strengthen
water conservation supervision and management and water
recycling;

—  Reduce water resource consumption intensity and improve
utilisation efficiency through measures such as process
optimization, consumption reduction technology, adoption of
equipment with small water consumption;

—  The enforcement of clean production, recycling, and prohibiting
the cleaning of workshops by using a large amount of
drinking water (use sweeping instead);

—  The production of diphenylmethyl thioacetamide, amodiaquine
hydrochloride and ecabet sodium significantly dropped due to
market factors, resulting in drop of related water use;
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—  The installation of water saving devices, change of disinfection
mode, and improvement of the water recycling rate;

—  Strengthen daily inspection to ensure the normal operation of
pollution management equipment and facilities;

—  Deal with abnormal situations in a timely manner and
completely eradicate environmental pollution incidents; and

—  Reduce the use of water for ground cleaning so as to reduce
water usage.

Fitness Business

Electricity and water are the major resources used in the Fitness
Business. Apart from replacing our lighting system with LEDs, we
promote energy saving by putting up posters around the fitness
centers to remind members and staff to consume less water.
Furthermore, we are digitalising our business and transitioning
ourselves into a paper-less office. In 2024, there was a slight
decrease in overall electricity consumption with no significant
fluctuation. The electricity consumption was approximately 1.72
million kWh (2023: approximately 1.74 million kWh). The intensity
of electricity consumption per person was approximately 0.0061
million kWh (2023: approximately 0.0061 million kWh), maintaining
the level of energy efficiency. The water consumption in 2024 was
approximately 45,657 tonnes (2023: approximately 46,250 tonnes)
and the intensity of water consumption per person was
approximately 162.48 tonnes (2023: approximately 162.85 tonnes),
with no significant fluctuation in overall water consumption.
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A2.1  Direct and/or indirect Electricity Electricity Electricity Electricity
energy consumption by consumption in total:  consumption in total:  consumption in total:  consumption in total:
type (e.g. electricity, gas 4.9 million kWh 3.5 million kWh 1.72 million kWh 1.74 million kWh
or ail) in total (in Intensity: Intensity: Intensity: Intensity:
thousand kWh) and 0.0112 million 0.0082 million 0.0061 million 0.0061 million
intensity (e.g. per unit kWh/person kWh/person kWh/person kWh/person
of production volume,
per facility).

A22 RFKERZE (AT  HFKE 73,989M EFE/KE - 78,080M8 4AFEKE : 45,6578  HFEIKE : 46,2500
E2EN - FHEZMT  BE 1708808 A  EE 183.72M A EHE 16248 A FE : 162.85H8 A
H) o

A2.2  Water consumption in Water consumption Water consumption Water consumption Water consumption

total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production
volume, per facility).

in total: in total: in total: in total:
73,989 tonnes 78,080 tonnes 45,657 tonnes 46,250 tonnes

Intensity: Intensity: Intensity: Intensity:
170.88 tonnes/ 183.72 tonnes/ 162.48 tonnes/ 162.85 tonnes/

person person person person
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We adhere to the concept of green development and implement the 3R Principle (Reduce,
Reuse and Recycle). We continuously optimise the use of resources, aiming to reduce
resource consumption and improve resource utilisation efficiency from the business operations

level.

To improve energy efficiency, we invest in the
enhancement and reformation of the
Company’s power facilities and devices. In
particular, we reform street lamps into
energy-saving solar LED street lamps. We
remove and phase out any production lines
and relevant facilities with high energy
consumption and replace the motor water
pumps with high energy consumption. We
have completed the replacement or
upgrading of our aged equipment to models
that are more efficient, and alternatively use
refrigeration equipment for cooling during
peak hours of power consumption to reduce
electricity consumption.

Electricity and water are the major resources
used in the Fitness Business. Apart from
replacing our lighting system with LEDs, we
promote energy saving by putting up posters
around the fitness centres to remind users
and staff to consume less water.
Furthermore, we are digitalising our business
and transitioning ourselves into a paperless
office.
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Regular energy audit or carbon audit was
performed by certain subsidiaries of the
Group to monitor energy usage. All
pharmaceutical plants have passed the
environmental assessment certification of the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’s Republic of China. In addition, the
Solar Energy Generation Project was
implemented in our plants, and the
refrigeration units with frequency control
were adopted, which provide energy savings
of up to 40%. Meanwhile, power
distribution facilities were upgraded to reduce
reactive power loss and reduce the utilisation
rate of air conditioning. Since the utilisation
of solar power at the end of 2019, the
power generation of clean energy as of year
2024 was approximately 2,550,000 kWh per
year. The electricity consumption has reached
100% photovoltaic green energy
consumption. In order to encourage energy
saving among employees, we have
incorporated the amount of energy saving
into department assessments, providing
performance incentives to projects with
significant energy saving.
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We are consciously taking steps in reducing our consumption and contributing towards
maintenance and recharge of water sources, and have implemented planned water use and
this year's water usage has not exceeded the standard amount set at the beginning of the
year. We replaced water taps by installing water-saving devices and increased water-saving
renovation to improve the water recycling rate. We are committed to guiding employees to
save water. We also carried out regular and timely inspections to prevent leaks and reduce
unnecessary water consumption. We continued to implement measures throughout the year
to improve water consumption, including promoting clean production, recycling water
resources, adopting cleaning methods to clean the workshop to reduce the use of water, and
conducting regular reviews on water conversation measures to prevent any act of wasting
water.

In terms of sewage treatment, the Group purchased sewage rights to control the amount of
wastewater discharge according to the total amount of sewage discharge license. We
controlled the source, selected raw materials and auxiliary materials for production that can
reduce wastewater discharge using scientific and rational methods; adopted clean production
processes to reduce the generation of wastewater during the production process. Meanwhile,
all wastewater was treated by the sewage treatment system of the Company before
discharging to the public sewage treatment system. We have engaged a third-party
inspection company to enable sewage discharge to meet the emission threshold requirements
of local comprehensive discharge standards.

In addition, the wastewater produced during the production process is controlled, and highly
concentrated wastewater is treated at the sewage stations with special distillation and
concentration process. We will process wastewater using the best process parameters and
operational management mode to meet the discharge standards, and strengthen the recycling
of wastewater. Through measures of emissions reduction, the amount of wastewater
discharged has been relatively reduced, and no excessive wastewater has been generated.
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A2.5  Total packaging
materials used for
finished products (in
tonnes) and, where
appropriate, volume per
unit produced.

Pharmaceutical Business

BEXK BEXK

Fitness Business

—_=

2023
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Materials consumed by finished goods are mainly paper boxes, plastics, metal, aluminium
pipes and other non-hazardous waste. Since the packaging materials consumed for finished
goods and non-hazardous wastes are considered not significant, the Group has decided not
to disclose such information.

3. BERBARER
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3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s consumption of natural resources is relatively small in
the daily operation process, which has no significant impact on the
environment. The Group is committed to enhancing environmental
sustainability and minimising the impact on the environment and
natural resources through the above measures to reduce emissions,
waste generation and resource consumption. In case of any
pollution accident, the Group will immediately formulate an
emergency plan and report to the relevant departments to minimise
the environmental impact.

We recognise the environmental responsibilities associated with our
business and are committed to minimising the environmental
impacts of our business operation. Our environmental strategy is to
strike a harmonious balance between our business and the
environment. In order to establish a green working environment, we
request at least one-third of the managed area of our operation
plants to be green.
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A3.1  Description of the Our major environmental policies are as below:

significant impacts of
business activities on the
environment and natural
resources and the
actions taken to
manage them.

— To comply with all environmental requirements applicable to our operations

— To improve the environmental structure according to the industry’s best practices

— To integrate environmental considerations in all stages of business operations (e.g.
planning, design and manufacturing)

— To enhance environmental awareness of our employees via trainings

— To support environmental activities of the communities where we operate

— To encourage green coverage on lawns

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with local laws and regulations on
environmental protection. Relevant laws and regulations mainly include but are not limited to:

— Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China* ((FF#E A R AMBEIZRE
REZED)

— Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China*
(R FE ARFEMBIARESRDRE))

—  Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China* ({/ %
ARZEFBKFEFEED)

— Standards for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Storage* (fz B B& %) 7 135 212

IFAED)
— Hazardous Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Technology Policy* (/&% EE #5548
SREATER D)

— Comprehensive Emission Standards for Air Pollutants* (X F5 4R & HERIZ2E))

—  Emission Standards for Air Pollutants in the Catering Industry* ((ERZE AR5 RWEENR
ZAED)

— Comprehensive Discharge Standards for Water Pollutants* ({7K35 447 & BEMUIZ D))

— Beijing Domestic Waste Management Regulations* ({3t F i1 4 /& b7 3 & B 15 451))

During the Reporting Period, no reported instance of non-compliance with relevant
environmental laws and regulations was noted in our operation.
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4. Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by the
society nowadays. Currently, promoting green development has
become a global consensus, and energy conservation, emission
reduction, green and low-carbon business models have become a
trend to promote sustainable development. In recent years, climate
change has led to frequent extreme weather events such as strong
winds, heavy rainfall, tides and floods, which has triggered the fear
of the public, especially in logistics and supply chains, and may
cause significant economic losses and have a significant impact on
daily operations. Despite these possible events that are beyond our
control, the Group still believes that climate change can be
addressed and its impacts could be mitigated through the joint
efforts and collaboration of various stakeholders.

To address these challenges, the Group monitors climate change to
identify relevant physical risks and areas for improvement, such as
upgrading the existing facility management model and revising the
Group’s emergency response plan as necessary, so as to better cope
with extreme weather. We have developed emergency guidelines
and measures, including a list of various types of severe weather
response measures in the Employee Handbook and strict compliance
with the relevant extreme weather guidelines issued by the
government, to protect the safety of our employees and reduce the
threat posed by climate change to our business and employees as
well as the damage caused by disasters in the future. In addition,
we will adjust our emergency guidelines in due course as the
climate issue intensifies or abates.

The Group maintains its unwavering focus on pivotal areas such as
the trend of global climate change, response to climate change,
energy conservation and emission reduction, and takes proactive
response measures to further promote sustainable development of
the Company. Action on climate change has been integrated into
the Group’s business strategy and is reflected in the Company’s
governance and management process. This section discloses climate
change information with reference to the Reporting on TCFD
Recommendations: Guidance on Climate Disclosures issued by HKEX,
categorized by core elements such as governance, strategy, risk
management and indicators and targets, and describes our efforts
and future directions in addressing climate change.
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Governance

Under the ESG governance framework formulated by the Group, the
roles and responsibilities of the Board and the management in
addressing climate-related topics are clarified. The Board is
responsible for directing and overseeing the Group’s overall climate
risk strategy and management, and needs to consider
climate-related topics when reviewing and guiding strategies, risk
management policies, annual budgets, major actions or business
plans, including setting performance indicators, monitoring the
implementation of strategies, as well as major capital expenditures
and acquisitions. The Board shall monitor and review climate-related
strategies, policies and progress towards achieving the targets set.

It is the responsibility of management to assess and manage
climate-related topics, implement response strategies, and report
these assessment results to the Board. This involves incorporating
ESG topics, including climate-related topics, in the corporate
decision-making process, holding regular ESG-related meetings to
ensure ongoing focus on these issues, and regularly reporting to the
Board on updates of ESG-related issues, including climate-related
topic.

Strategy

The Group understands that climate-related issues may affect the
Group’s business, strategy and financial planning, and adopts a
comprehensive strategy to identify, assess and address
climate-related risks. We will include these identified climate risks in
our business strategy, integrate the assessment results into
corporate risk management framework, and continuously and
regularly update, assess and manage various climate risks:

o Risk identification: identify transition risks associated with
low-carbon economy and physical risks brought by the impact
of climate change, including changes in industries as a result
of policies, technological improvements and customer
preferences.

o Emergency plan: understand risks associated with climate
change by developing and timely updating emergency
guidelines, and assess their potential impact on business
operations, including increased costs and supply chain
disruptions.
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Integration in decision-making: incorporate relevant
potential climate risks into decision-making and strategy
development. Promoting green and low-carbon business
development, and reducing the use of non-renewable energy
can be more flexible to respond to the needs of different
business regions, such as considering whether there will be a
significant impact on climate change before making business
investment decisions.

Risk Management

The Group identifies and manages risks associated with climate
change through structured risk assessment process, which includes
the following steps:

Identify existing risks: review historical and current climate
hazards and assess existing risk management strategies.

Identify future risks: predict potential climate-related hazards
and identify new risks.

Analyze, assess and manage risks: identify areas of risk and
develop strategies to mitigate these climate risks.

In terms of climate risks, the Group assesses and classifies
climate-related risks into two categories, and the potential physical
risks and transition risks arising from climate change may have an
adverse financial impact on the Group’s business:

Physical risks: this includes acute risks arising from natural
disasters such as storms, floods and fires, as well as chronic
risks arising from long-term climate change such as rising
temperature and sea level.

o Acute physical risks: increased severity and frequency
of extreme weather events such as typhoons and floods
may cause damage to office equipment and production
facilities, resulting in higher operating costs and repair
costs. To manage these risks, the Group closely monitors
weather conditions and adjusts work plans to ensure
staff safety and continuity of operations. In addition, the
Group also provides training for its staff in handling
emergencies and dealing effectively with adverse
weather conditions; and
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o Chronic physical risks: changes in precipitation patterns
and extreme variability in weather may cause long-term
disruptions, and affect economic market and business
productivity. These risks lead to increased operating
costs. To mitigate these impacts, the Group has
enhanced its climate adaptation capacities through
timely adjustments and updates to its business processes
and emergency guidelines. In addition, the Group has
achieved significant energy savings by recording peak
energy consumption and adopting effective emission
reduction measures.

° Transition risks: these risks include policy risk, legal risk,
technology risk, market risk and reputational risk in transition
to a low-carbon economy.

Stricter environmental laws and regulations and higher
environmental technology requirements may impose significant
compliance costs on business operation processes, and failure
to meet new standards may result in increased litigation and
operating expenses. In addition, climate change affects the
market in a number of ways, such as changing customer
behavior and preference to make them more concerned about
environment-friendly products, while investor concerns about
climate risks may also bring challenges to the Group’s revenue
and financing. The Group monitors and manages these risks
through various methods, including closely monitoring the
updates on laws and regulations related to climate change,
regularly reviewing global and local government policies,
regulatory developments and market trends and timely
adjusting its climate strategy to meet regulatory requirements,
ensuring compliance with ESG reporting standards, identifying
and disclosing the potential impact of climate-related risks on
its business and measures to address them, so as to build the
confidence of all stakeholders.

Metrics and Targets

To assess and manage the risks associated with climate change, the
Group has developed key metrics and targets. It focuses on areas
such as greenhouse gas emissions and utilisation of resources. Key
indicators of climate-related risks such as greenhouse gas emissions,
use of resources, waste management, electricity consumption and
water efficiency are disclosed in the corresponding sections of this
report.
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The Group strives to gradually improve its environmental objectives,
regularly review and adjust its objectives and measures to adapt to
the changing operating and economic environment, including
improving internal resource efficiency and exploring green
technologies to promote energy conservation and emission
reduction.

The Group recognises the importance of environmental
responsibilities and conducts regular assessments to strengthen
emission reduction targets and optimise strategy development. We
will study the financial impacts of climate risk and its relationship
with revenue, expense, assets, liabilities and financial capital in due
and adjust existing enterprise-level and other risk
management procedures to address climate risk as necessary.
Meanwhile, we will regularly review our climate change policies to
ensure their effectiveness. The Group is committed to creating value
in the low-carbon transition, and achieving sustainable development
through continuous reduction of emissions and
consumption.

course,

resource
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TIRELEX T

Climate Change Performance Table

BREANIER BEXK BEXK

Key performance indicators Pharmaceutical Business Fitness Business

Nl

-

—_=_=

2023
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A4.1  Description of the Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges. Currently, promoting green
significant climate- development has become a global consensus, and energy conservation, emission reduction,
related issues which green and low-carbon business models have become a trend to promote sustainable
have impacted, and development. In recent years, climate change has led to frequent extreme weather events,
those which may which has triggered the fear of the public, and may cause significant economic losses and
impact, the issuer, and have a significant impact on daily operations. The Group still believes that climate change can
the actions taken to be addressed and its impacts could be mitigated through the joint efforts and collaboration
manage them. of various stakeholders.

To address these challenges, the Group monitors climate change to identify relevant physical
risks and areas for improvement, such as upgrading the existing facility management model
and revising the Group’s emergency response plan as necessary, so as to better cope with
extreme weather. We have developed emergency guidelines and measures, including a list of
various types of severe weather response measures in the Employee Handbook and strict
compliance with the relevant extreme weather guidelines issued by the government, to
protect the safety of our employees and reduce the threat posed by climate change to our
business and employees as well as the damage caused by disasters in the future. In addition,
we will adjust our emergency guidelines in due course as the climate issue intensifies or
abates.

The Group maintains its unwavering focus on pivotal areas such as the trend of global
climate change, response to climate change, energy conservation and emission reduction, and
takes proactive response measures. Action on climate change has been integrated into the
Group's business strategy and is reflected in the Company’s governance and management
process. We have disclosed climate change information with reference to the Reporting on
TCFD Recommendations: Guidance on Climate Disclosures issued by HKEX, categorized by
core elements such as governance, strategy, risk management and indicators and targets, and
described our efforts and future directions in addressing climate change.
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B. Society
1. Employment and Labour Practices

We recognise our employees as an important asset and we provide
fair and equal opportunities to our employees regardless of their
backgrounds and genders. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
a total of 714 employees (2023: 709) from the business segments.
Among those employees, 433 employees (2023: 425) were from the
Pharmaceutical Business and 281 employees (2023: 284) were from
the Fitness Business. We are committed to building an open and
inspirational working environment to all our employees.

Employment

The Group has a diverse workforce in terms of gender and age to
balance the culture and communication among employees. The
Group encourages a diverse workforce and welcomes all kinds of
employees to make the principle of fairness a common practice.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had 714
employees (2023: 709), of which 381 (53%) were male (2023: 379
(53%)) and 333 (47%) were female (2023: 330 (47%)).
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RNEBIZMR - EEMER - FEeARR R [RE The Group’s total workforce by gender, employment type, age

DHEEBHBEIENT :

REERER

group and geographical region are as follows:

BB A
BEEAZ(BMERE D)
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BEAZ(REEEMNE D)

=R ERRE
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EEAB

EEAB (RFERARSES)
30T

3088 2505%

505% A

EEAY (RHEESD)

HE
IR

EBEAH
Key performance indicators Number of employees
ZECMEE —EC=FE
2024 2023
Total number of employees 714 709
Total workforce (by gender)
Male 381 379
Female 333 330

Total workforce

(by employment type)
Full-time 714 701
Part-time 0 8
Total workforce

(by employment class)

Senior management 18 17
Middle management 82 111
Rank and file employees 614 581
Total workforce (by age group)

Under 30 years old 168 184
30 to 50 years old 456 439
Over 50 years old 90 86

Total workforce

(by geographical region)
The PRC 433 425
Singapore 281 284
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Total workforce distribution
EEAZ(AH)
Total workforce (person)
1,500
1,300
1,100
900 714 709
700
500
300
100
—ECNEE —EC=HFE
2024 2023
ESHEE (ZMFET) 3. FEEHRE(EZESHEFES)
Total workforce (by gender) Total workforce (by employment class)
EEAH (RHERE D) EEAS (REEERE D)
Total workforce (by gender) Total workforce (by employment class)
333, 47%
18, 3%
82, 11%
614, 86%
381, 53%
B e BRERE PREEE EEAE
Male Female Senior Middle Rank and file

management  management  employees



62

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

4. FEEEE (ZRFRALET)
Total workforce (by age group)

5 FEEEH(ZHEH)
Total workforce (by geographical region)

EEAB (RFRARE D) EEAH (RHEE D)
Total workforce (by age group) Total workforce (by geographical region)
90, 13%
281, 39%
168, 23% 456, 64%
433, 61%

30BRA T 30mE505% @ 5058 L b0 ]
Under 30 30 to 50 Over 50 Singapore The PRC
years old years old years old

REAT
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FoBEMEERAERN24% (ZE_=F 1 4y
20%) » W EBMAELNI15% (ZE =5
#922%)  BEEBREXELH20% (T ==
F 1 #421%)

Retaining Talents

The Group is committed to maintaining employee turnover rate at
an acceptable low level to facilitate the accumulation of skills and
experience. In 2024, the turnover rate of male employees was
approximately 24% (2023: approximately 20%), the turnover rate of
female employees was approximately 15% (2023: approximately
22%), and the total turnover rate of employees was approximately
20% (2023: approximately 21%).
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Key performance indicators

The Group’s employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region are as follows:

i S
Turnover rate
“E_NEE —T=FF
2024 2023

MK AE
Employee turnover
“ECNMEE —_T_=FF
2024 2023

TEKEBLEAE Employee turnover rate/number 20% 21% 143 148
of employee
BERKLLE (EKERESD) Employee turnover rate
(by gender)
Bt Male 24% 20% 93 77
ey Female 15% 22% 50 71
EERKEER Employee turnover rate
(REFRARES) (by age group)
30BR AT Under 30 years old 40% 39% 68 71
3058 £ 508% 30 to 50 years old 14% 16% 62 71
505% A £ Over 50 years old 14% 7% 13 6
BERKLLR(E#wESS) Employee turnover rate
(by geographical region)
a3 The PRC 10% 10% 44 42
Hhnig Singapore 35% 37% 99 106
DFmF e promote fair competition
BFSB R FHF We p te fai petiti

BHBORNBTFERENRA - QIEFF
MERENTIERE  MERBARAEHEE
REBFE - RPBIENERBERYBEF
FHERA - K REERE - FI - BER
RANE T+ o VR IR B | AR IR E E 7 N5
B RREHRS BT THERR  INEFX
BREBMT  RETETENGHE - REEE
TRRAZ B8 M BRI A
2GR BEREEKA DB ERBRER
REED ZEFHEEEABDEEEERSS
EELER BEEAHRELRBEEAA SR
FTHZEE URTHLBRBEHEEN B
BEEZANER-

We are committed to the principle of equal employment and
creating a working environment which provides equal employment
opportunities, so all employment decisions shall be based on
objective criteria. Equal opportunities principles are applied in all of
our formulated employment policies, in particular to recruitment,
training, career development and promotion of employees.
Remuneration packages are determined based on responsibilities and
performance, and the Company reviews the work performance of
employees on a regular basis and may carry out performance
assessment for employees on an annual basis or according to its
business needs. Share options and awarded shares may be granted
to eligible employees pursuant to the terms of the share option
scheme and the share award scheme adopted by the Company from
time to time, respectively. The purposes of the schemes are to
provide incentives for the selected employees to contribute to the
Group, to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees, and to attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group.
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Pursuant to relevant employment regulations in each region, such as
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China* ((FZE AR A
B4 &5k )), the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China* ((PEARLMBELHERFE)) and the Employment Act of
Singapore, the employee handbook of each of our subsidiaries
regulates our remuneration scheme, including basic salary, bonus,
social security contribution and statutory holidays correspondingly.
We contribute social security and provident fund in compliance with
local labour law and regulations, namely the Social Insurance Law of
the People’s Republic of China* ((FF#E A RZEFBIL2REE)), the
Regulations on Management of Housing Provident Funds* ({ffE 2R
EEEEMI)), and the Central Provident Fund Act of Singapore,
etc. Our remuneration scheme is comparable to peers in the local
industry. Working hours, rest periods and defined contributions are
in compliance with relevant local labour laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, no reported instance of
noncompliance with relevant labour laws and regulations was noted.

We do not tolerate discrimination or harassment

We do not tolerate discrimination or harassment against any
employee based on his/her nationality, religion, gender, sexual
orientation, age, race, disability or any status protected by law.
Complaints about discrimination or harassment would be dealt with
impartially on a confidential basis. During the Reporting Period, no
reported instance on discrimination or harassment was noted.

We welcome feedbacks

We encourage our employees to provide feedbacks and address
their concerns to the Company proactively. A number of channels
are in place for our employees to express grievances and complaints
which will be well-handled according to the predetermined
procedures to ensure equality to all employees when related matters
are handled.
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2. Health and Safety

We promote occupational safety and health

We are committed to providing a safe working environment to our
employees and to protecting them from occupational hazards.
Environmental, health and safety management systems are
implemented in all sites. Safety guidelines are formulated and
communicated to all employees. Relevant regulations on health and
safety that have significant impact on the Group include but are not
limited to:

— Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Occupation Diseases* ({H ZE A & 2k F B Bk 2 fi5 by
SBIED),;

—  Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China* ({FZE A
REMBIZZEER)),

—  Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurances* ({ T {57k 1§
1)) of the PRC; and

—  Workplace Safety and Health Act of Singapore.

With the mutation of the virus, COVID-19 is more prone to lower
pathogenicity, upper respiratory tract infection and shorter
incubation period. and the disease caused by it will gradually evolve
into a common respiratory infectious disease. COVID-19 will exist in
nature for a long time. Thanks to the widespread global vaccination
efforts, accumulated epidemic control experience, and timely
adjustments to containment policies, the infection rate of the virus
has significantly decreased. While the global community is gradually
recovering from the impact of the pandemic, regions across the
world continue to face threats from other infectious diseases or
outbreaks. For instance, the monkeypox outbreak has been declared
a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC). We will
continue to monitor and evaluate any other matters that may affect
the health and safety of our employees, follow the plans, policies
and measures introduced by the national government to respond to
the pandemic, and formulate corresponding solutions and
containment measures to protect our employees in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations. Additionally, we will implement a
business continuity contingency plan to ensure sustained operations.
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Relevant trainings are organised regularly and various safety
educations and trainings, including handling of hazardous and
chemical substances, dust explosion prevention, fire safety, fire
protection knowledge trainings and related activities, are
commenced to improve our employees’ awareness on health and
fire safety. We have appointed safety officers to supervise the safety
level of each aspect of operations and provide the Group’s
employees with information and training courses about operation of
equipment in office, production facilities, mining tools and
inspection equipment on a regular basis. Spot checks by the
management on the implementation of safety measures are in place.
Regular internal trainings and ad-hoc external trainings are provided
to our physical trainers to ensure that they are well-equipped.

During the Reporting Period, we organised and held fire drills for
fire incident caused by hazardous and chemical substance.
Particularly, Chongging Kangle carried out firefighting trainings and
on-site fire drills. In addition, annual or semi-annual fire drills were
carried out in each of our fitness centres and organised by the
property management department of the headquarters during the
year, in which all on-site personnel are required to participate. Each
fitness centre was equipped with fire safety manager responsible for
communication with the fire safety officer of the property on any
fire safety issues. Meanwhile, we also provided CPR/AED trainings to
the employees, and were awarded the Bizsafe certificate by the
Occupational Safety and Health Division of Singapore.

In respect of the Pharmaceutical Business, the Group has established
an environmental, health and safety department, formulated a
production safety management system, and regularly conducted
training and assessment for employees. All employees are
responsible for maintaining a healthy and safe working environment.
Non-compliance with the Company’s health and safety rules may
result in disciplinary action. Once an employee is found to
constitute a safety hazard, occupational disease or work-related
injury, he/she should immediately report to the manager and fill in
the form of occupational disease or work-related injury to the
management as necessary, and the relevant responsible department
will follow up and investigate such matter.
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Key performance indicators

RITHAB R X Number and rate of

work-related fatalities

For the past three years, the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group were 0 (0%), 0 (0%) and 0 (0%) in 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively, and lost days due to work injury were
0 days, 0 days and O days in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
The Group has strictly complied with the laws and regulations
relating to occupational health and safety and has implemented
practical safety management to effectively eliminate potential safety
risks.

During the Reporting Period, no reported instance of
noncompliance with relevant occupational safety and health laws
and regulations was noted in our operation.

The number and rate of work-related fatalities of the Group
occurred in each of the past three years (including the reporting
year) are as follows:

“E-OEE BALE —T--£F BALLE
2024  Percentage 2023 Percentage 2022 Percentage
(%) (%) (%)

AEBERIGEXIERBEENT

The Group's lost days due to work injury are as follows:

“E_NEE
BREVER Key performance indicators 2024
(8)
(CEVR)
ETHBELATIEES Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0
3. BRRIEI 3. Development and Training

BIEREEHRE
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We provide learning opportunities

We provide our employees with adequate trainings regarding
production, skillsets and code of behaviour. We provide appropriate
and ongoing trainings on quality, Good Manufacturing Practice
(“GMP") of drugs production, and medical skillsets or knowledge to
our employees. Our system not only ensures that all suitable
employees are trained, but also monitors the effectiveness of the
trainings.
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The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category of the Group is as follows:

Bok= ZINAH
Number of
Percentage employees trained
SECMEE —T_=FE Z—ToHNEE —_T=FF
2024 2023 2024 2023

BEENER

Key performance indicators

ZHlEREBE D, BH Employees trained Percentage/ 64% 84% 454 596
total number of employees
FH{EETE DL (L% BIEI5) Percentage of employees
trained (by gender)
Bt Male 47 % 49% 212 292
g Female 53% 51% 242 304

ZIEEBSL Percentage of employees

(REEERED) trained (by employee
category)
SREEE Senior management 3% 2% 15 15
PAREEE Middle management 10% 14% 44 83
EEABR Rank and file employees 87% 84% 395 498
1. #EFJESEESHE 2. ZIiEEFZH (BMHEFET)

Total Percentage of employees trained

MIJEEBDLE
Total Percentage of employees trained

260, 36%
454, 64%
ZilEE FZIEE

Employees trained Employees untrained

Percentage of employees trained (by gender)
ZIEEE DL (RS D)

Percentage of employees trained (by gender)

212, 47%

242, 53%

s ogid

Male Female
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3. ZiESEIR (KESEFES)
Percentage of employees trained (by employee
category)

TIEEESL RESERSES)
Percentage of employees trained
(by employee category)

15, 3%

44, 10% 395, 87%
SRERE PREEE AEEAE
Senior Middle Rank and file
management  management employees

AEBZUERNEBERNE Y BRERR
AR B I B SR BRI TS

The data of the Group’s average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category are as follows:

15 32 3| BE B #8323 e B
BREENIER Key performance indicators Average training hours Total training hours
“RCNFE —To=FFE ZB-NFE —T_=FF
2024 2023 2024 2023
REFY MAZRE Average/total training hours 69 70 49,108 49,478
completed by employees
EETRZIN TR Average training hours
(RHERIE D) completed by employees
(by gender)
Bt Male 58 63 21,983 24,057
2z Female 81 77 27,125 25,421
EBETRZINN TR Average training hours
(REEERES) completed by employees
(by employee category)
BREEE Senior management 75 75 1,352 1,272
PREEE Middle management 58 52 4,787 5,816
EEBAE Rank and file employees 70 73 42,970 42,390
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5. HEEERE
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4, Labour Standards

Prohibition on child and forced labour

Our employment policy strictly prohibits the employment of children
and forced labour, and strictly complies with the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor* ((ZEIH#ERZETRE)), the Special
Protection for Juvenile Workers* (&K FE THEFRIRERTE)) in the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China* ((FF#E A RLFIE4
&))%)) and other relevant laws and regulations in the labour laws
of the PRC and Singapore. In order to more effectively prevent the
employment of child labour, the Group has established a rigorous
age verification process to ensure that all candidates have reached
the legal age for employment. In addition, we have set up
employee suggestion boxes to allow employees to report child
labour and forced labour, so as to prevent the Group from illegally
hiring child labour or forced labour. Also, the Group has established
a reporting mechanism for child labour and forced labour to
encourage employees to report truthfully. If child labour and forced
labour are found, we will immediately investigate the causes to
ensure that no employees work overtime on an involuntary basis.
During the Reporting Period, no reported instance on child labour or
forced labour was noted.

5. Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

All our raw materials were sourced from the Group’s list of
qualified suppliers. Admission to the list of qualified suppliers must
follow strict standards. After a preliminary screening, potential
suppliers are subject to an on-site audit entailing a comprehensive
assessment of the supplier’s quality management level, capability of
ensuring a stable supply, safety and environmental management,
employee health and social responsibility, corporate culture and
business reputation, etc. The list of qualified suppliers is closely
managed with regular assessments to eliminate unfit suppliers.
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The Group has established a set of clear standard procurement
management procedures, which include procedures for evaluating,
selecting and monitoring suppliers to ensure that environmental and
social risks associated with the supply chain are minimised. Before
engaging suppliers, they are required to go through a series of
audit procedures to review their quality, environmental and safety
performance in a comprehensive manner before they can be
adopted. In view of the complexity of the supply chain, each
business unit of the Group must consider different conditions and
standards when selecting suppliers, including price, service, location,
productivity (service capability) and legal procedures. At the same
time, the Group will also conduct special consultation on a case-by-
case basis and consider suppliers’ performance in social responsibility
and environmental protection. The Group conducts regular review
on suppliers every year. If a supplier is found to be in serious
violation of its agreed responsibilities and operating procedures, the
partnership will be terminated to ensure that the quality,
environment and safety performance of the supply chain are in line
with the Group’s policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 232 suppliers
(2023: 100), of which 229 suppliers were located in the PRC
(2023: 98) and 3 suppliers were in other regions (2023: 2).

The number of suppliers of the Group by geographical region is as
follows:

HEBHE
ERENER Key performance indicators Number of suppliers
—ECoNEE —E-=fFE
2024 2023
Rt EE S By region
2 The PRC 229 98
Hfth Others 3 2
& Total 232 100
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6: Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises the importance of safeguarding intellectual
property rights. In order to promote the cultural awareness of
intellectual property rights with respect to knowledge and integrity,
we have established a strict internal control policy to manage our
intellectual property, encompassing the administration of trademarks
and patents, the management of proprietary technology and
confidentiality, and intelligence and information gathering, which
includes the compliance with relevant regulations such as the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests* ((FEARKEMEEEEERZREEL)) and the
Personal Data Protection Act of Singapore. Trademarks of newly
designed products would be registered on a timely basis, and
detailed descriptions of most of our products are updated on our
websites.

The Group regards customer information as the guarantee for the
safe operation of the enterprise and the healthy development of
customer relationship. Accordingly, the Group strictly complies with
various confidentiality systems stipulated by the state. The Group
strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
product health and safety, advertisement, labelling, methods of
redress and protection of intellectual property rights, as well as the
relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy.

Product quality is one of our main focuses in our business
operation. The Group is committed to providing quality products
and services to its customers, and pays attention to the customers’
feedbacks on the products sold and services provided by the Group.
In addition to the commitment, the Group is also committed to
providing quality pharmaceutical products and fitness services to its
customers at competitive prices. Customers can express their
opinions or complaints through the established communication
channels. The Group will conduct investigations and prepare reports
based on the feedbacks, and take corrective measures if necessary.
The Group has established strict product and service complaint
procedures to better understand customers’ opinions on the Group’s
services, so as to continuously improve the operation process and
service quality and enhance customer satisfaction.
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Pharmaceutical Business

We provide medical-related products in accordance with the relevant
pharmaceutical regulations including the Drug Administration Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FF#FEARKAMBEREIRE)), the
Regulations for the Implementation of the Drug Administration Law
of the People’s Republic of China* ({(FZE A R ME & 7 EIEE
M 5f1)), GMP, the Good Supply Practice for Pharmaceutical
Products* ({2 EEEIRRE)) and the Pharmacopoeia of the
PRC* ((FREZ£82)). We apply and adhere to a strict set of quality
standards, and we adopt relevant policies and procedures to
identify, measure, control and sustain product-quality excellence. We
strive continuously to improve these standards in order to enhance
our quality and safety procedures and ensure ongoing compliance
with GMP. Our manufacturing facilities are inspected by national
authorities. We have adopted GMP in all of our manufacturing
plants. Our active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates
active pharmaceutical ingredients production base located in
Chongging City has obtained the GMP certification from the
National Medical Products Administration of China. The active
pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates active pharmaceutical
ingredients production line located in Chongging City holds a valid
FDA certification and the Prequalification (“PQ") of the World Health
Organisation (“WHQO"), while Chongging Kangle holds a valid new
WHO PQ for an active pharmaceutical ingredient. The Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients Chloroquine Phosphate, which has been
recognised by the National Medical Products Administration of China
(formerly known as the China Food and Drug Administration), has
also been tested and proven to be the treatment and allopathy of
pneumonia infected by COVID-19 by the Consumable and Industrial
Committee of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of the PRC* (FE T H#F{z B L& )EE M T 7]), Chongging
Economy and Informatization Commission and the Economy and
Informatization Commission of Changshou District of Chongging
City* (EETRBREBEMEE(EES).

Labelling is essential for our brand reputation. To prevent
mislabelling, we separate our production lines for different products.
All of our products are labelled with detailed information in line
with the requirements of relevant labeling laws and regulations.

According to our drug recall policy, our pharmaceutical products are
divided into three categories based on their emergence level of
harmful impacts and consequences. The drug recall policy also
prescribes that affected items shall be recalled immediately, as fast
as 24 hours. To ensure the effectiveness of the recall process, recall
drills are performed every year.



74

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

25 X%

AEENREBEFERALENERR
BETEET BHAEFPREHEE SRR MmN
FARMLOMENRLENELD 2 F R - B
RGP ODARFINE RN F+=
E Eap—=El %EBD?EZESFEJ&%EPM(_?
—=F g RIHEBmMF L (===
1) - B EFPIRHAEAPIRE - LA%E))
ERFARSEEMON EMERTE - B
BOKEZNENG T24 N KL - B
ERPEARFHANBBEEMAEEEZESL - B
&Hﬁﬁﬁﬁ%lﬂﬂ%ﬁ;&@fﬂigﬁWAM*E °
EMROFMEREFP LR S —RFE

— J\F 3@ & Y 4 48 JEShape Sports  Awards
([BREFAE]) UERR_Z_ZTFLE
Global Health & Pharma(fGHPJ)ﬁﬁDﬂiﬂax
MEHEZ F T —F B mEEE
[Expat L|V|ng.ﬁ% EIBAT2021FE 7 & EHMN
SR R_TE_TFR T _ZFLE
Total Defence Awards (TDA) NS Advocate
Award for SMEs ° It #2I8 5 EREEEHEA -
RN EE S KA R FIABR 4% A 0N of B BR B i /Y
BEHSZ R -

AEECEHDEXERBUPEAL 2 EE

Fitness Business

The Group's fitness business will continue to enhance its in-store
experience and staff professionalism, and strive to provide customers
with high-quality fitness services with the latest state-of-the-act
cardiovascular training equipment. Our fitness centres are located in
Singapore. As at 31 December 2024, there were 8 fitness centres
(2023: 8) and 1 yoga centre (2023: 1) in Singapore. Complimentary
induction sessions are provided to new customers to help them get
familiar with the correct ways to use the equipment. We provide a
24-hour cooling-off period for each signed contract. Customers are
welcome to cancel any signed contracts within the cooling-off
period. We handle our customers’ private information in accordance
with the relevant privacy protection laws. Our fitness centres in
Singapore are awarded the “Shape Sports Awards” for four
consecutive years from 2015 to 2018 and the “Global Health &
Pharma (“GHP") Distinction Award for Yoga Classes and Facilities”
in 2020. In 2021, our brand was awarded the “Expat Living's
Readers’ Choice Awards 2021 — Gold Award for Best Yoga
Studio”. We were also awarded the Total Defence Awards (TDA) NS
Advocate Award for SMEs in 2020 and 2023, which recognizes
exemplary individuals, small and medium-sized enterprises, large
companies and organizations for their outstanding support towards
strengthening the defence of the country.

Total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and

FRIEHMARKAEENT health reasons are as follows:
BB BoE
ERENER Key performance indicators Number/percentage
—ECMEE -
2024 2023
A2 REEERMEZB U Total number of products subject to recalls 0 Hitems 0 HHitems
BY 2 on AR B for safety and health reasons
EEEMAH Total products sold 0 EHitems 0 Eitems
BEEXEEREMBBEPEL  Percentage of total products sold or 0% 0%
2 B2 FR 12 /M 78 [ R A shipped subject to recalls for safety and
Ao health reasons
BN Em &R KRR Number of products and service related 0 Rcases 0 “Rcases
Eg= complaints received
ERAUDBRMEH Total number of legal dispute cases 0 *Rcases 0 5Rcases
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7.  Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Honesty and fairness are important assets of the Group’s business.
The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of ethical
corporate culture. By providing integrity and anti-corruption training
and information to directors and employees, such as the
Anti-Corruption System Practice Guidelines for Listed Companies and
the Integrity Practice Guidelines for Directors, the Group ensures
that all employees strictly comply with the relevant laws, industry
norms and standards, professional ethics and company rules and
regulations in their daily operations. In order to maintain a fair and
efficient business and working environment, we put a great
emphasis on anti-corruption. The Group does not tolerate any forms
of corruption. Also, the Group has formulated the Anti-Corruption
Policy and has adopted relevant code of conduct in employee
handbook, complying strictly with relevant anti-corruption laws such
as the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China* ({(FFZEAR
HFEIFEY), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China* ((FEAREMBE R TIEEHFE)), the Interim
Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery* (B ZE L5 2 BB 1T
AREITIRIE)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China* ({f#E AR LB & %EEEE)), the Civil Code of
the People’s Republic of China* ({(FPZEARLMEIREE)) and the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China* ({(f#E A R £ HI
Bl Aal%E)) to prohibit employees from extorting, charging or
accepting any form of interest from people, companies or
organisations which conduct business with the Group.

We have formulated the Whistleblower Policy and established a
whistleblowing system, under which employees and relevant third
parties (such as customers and suppliers who have dealings with the
Group) can report all forms of suspected illegal acts, and we have
also formulated and implemented an internal integrity system to
strengthen the integrity and honesty of employees in governance
practices. The Group has established effective whistleblowing
procedures to encourage employees, managers, directors and
relevant third parties to report any misconduct or dishonest acts,
such as acts that may lead to incorrect financial reporting,
corruption, fraud and other offences or illegal acts. If employees are
concerned about misconduct or dishonesty within the Group, they
are encouraged to report to the members of the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) or the Executive
Committee through the secretary of the Audit Committee as soon
as practicable. We will make every effort to keep whistleblower’s
identity and the reported content confidential, pending assessment
or investigation by the Audit Committee, the Executive Committee
or other designated investigators.
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In addition, the Group has provided clear guidelines on misconduct,
such as bribery, corruption, embezzlement, insider trading, theft of
the Group’s assets, etc., to ensure that its employees can report
their concerns to the Human Resources Department through various
channels in an absolutely confidential manner. If the case is found
to be true upon investigation, the Group will take appropriate
corrective measures and take disciplinary actions against the parties
involved. If the case involves criminal elements, the Group will refer
the case to the relevant authorities for handling. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the provisions on
prohibiting corruption and bribery and applicable legal requirements
for listed companies in Hong Kong, and has not been involved in
any legal prosecution cases regarding corruption.

During the Reporting Period, there were no any legal prosecution
cases regarding corruption and concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group and its employees.

8. Community Investment

Community Investment

In order to better fulfil its social responsibilities, the Group
encourages its employees to participate in charitable and social
services, devoting time and effort to support the local community, it
creates a harmonious society and undertakes the responsibility of a
good corporate citizen to contribute to the community. The Group
focuses on the living standards of the community, cultural projects,
education and development, and labour cooperation. During the
Reporting Period, the aggregate amount contributed by the
Company for charity purpose was HK$0 million (2023: HK$0.04
million) and a total of O employees (2023: 0 employees) have
participated in voluntary activities with O service hours (2023: 0
hours). In the future, the Group will explore more suitable
opportunities for charitable activities including charitable donations
and encouraging employees to perform volunteer services.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the
Company believes that good corporate governance is essential to
the success of the Company and to the enhancement of
Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company recognises the importance of the corporate culture,
which is instilled and continually reinforced across the Group. The
Company has developed its core culture and visions to enhance
team cohesion and realize complementary advantages and sincere
cooperation, so as to facilitate the Company’s long-term sustainable
development. For details of the Company’s corporate culture and
visions, please refer to the section headed “ABOUT US” on the
Company’s official website. The Board has satisfied itself that the
Company’s established purpose, values and strategy and its
corporate culture are aligned, and will continue to act with
integrity, lead by example, and promote the Company’s desired
corporate culture.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
Directors, the Company applied the principles of, and complied
with, all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), except for the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as follows:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang Feifei serves as both
the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the president of
the Group performing the roles and functions of chief executive (the
“President”). The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the
Chairman and the President in the same person can facilitate the
execution of the Group’s business strategies and improve its
operational effectiveness. Taking into account the diverse
backgrounds and experience of the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors, the Board considers that the
balance of power and authority, accountability and independent
decision making will not be impaired under the current
arrangement. In addition, the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”), which consists of all independent
non-executive Directors, has free and direct access to the
Company’s external auditors and independent professional advisers
when it considers necessary. Therefore, the Board considers that the
deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate under such circumstance.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eight Directors in total, with four
executive Directors (the “Executive Director(s)”), one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors (the
“INED(s)"). The composition of the Board during the Year and up to
the date of this report (unless otherwise stated) is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Feifei (Chairman and President) (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Ms. Qiao Linna (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Ms. Guo Zixiu (Financial Controller) (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Mr. Liu Jiankun (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Mr. Bai Pingyan (Chairman) (retired on the 2024 annual general
meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2024 (the “2024
AGM™"))

Mr. Chai Hongjie (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Jiang Chaowen (Chief Executive Officer)
(retired on the 2024 AGM)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Yu (re-designated from an Executive Director to
a non-executive Director on 19 April 2024)

INEDs

Dr. Tang Lai Wah (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Dr. Ho Ho Ming (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mr. Yao Xiaomin (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mr. Chan Sze Chung (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Zhang Ruibin (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (retired on the 2024 AGM)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT" section in the Directors’ Report on pages 114 to
121 of this annual report.
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As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board,
there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.

Board Process

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Group with a wide range
of expertise and experience. Their active participation in the Board
and Board committee meetings has brought independent judgement
on issues relating to the Group's strategy, performance, and
management process, taking into account the interests of all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

As at the date of this report, the Company has three INEDs,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, and all of the
INEDs possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The independence of each
INED has been assessed based on the same set of independence
criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and each INED shall
inform the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable
if there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may
affect his/her independence. The Company still considers that all the
INEDs are independent.
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5 THEREH SwmAEE cBEX The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as

Eﬂku\&ﬁ ROBERR - WHEMRMERSE the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to

IZEE&EPHH%,EM& LA 7B R 1R 2 18 Rl review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and

%15\ EEERNAFERNLERARAIESE other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. The attendance

R ESCLECTERMARERG 2R records of each Director at Board meetings, Board committee

) meetings and shareholders’ meetings of the Company for the Year
are set out below:

—E-NE
REZE® FMZESE ERZEE EREEZE® RRBEFA®
Risks
Nomination  Remuneration Audit  Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee 2024 AGM
REAEEETERZRY Number of meetings held during the Year 4 2 2 6 1 1
HE/BTERNEE
L e
HITES: Executive Directors:
IRMEE (FEREZ)(HiE1) Mr. Wang Feifei (Chairman and President)
(Note 1) 212 — — — — —
*%‘ﬂ Tt (HiH2) Ms. Qiao Linna (Note 2) 21 — — — — —
AERT (HHBE)(Hi#3) Ms. Guo Zixiu (Financial Controller) (Note 3) 22 — — — — —
‘JiiWrtﬁ’i(ﬁ/fEZ/ Mr. Liu Jiankun (Note 2) 2 — - — — —
BYERE(FE)Hiita) Mr. Bai Pingyan (Chairman) (Note 4) 22 22 — — — 1
RENRE(HEs) Mr. Chai Hongjie (Note 5) 02 — — — - on
BEXEE(BEHITE)(MiH6) Mr. Jiang Chaowen
(Chief Executive Officer) (Note 6) 212 — — — 171 01
FHTES: Non-executive Director:
BERLE(RZZZNF Mr. Huang Yu (re-designated from an
mA+AR Eﬂiﬂﬁi%ﬁ&ﬁ Executive Director to a non-executive
FRTES) Director on 19 April 2024) 3/4 - - - - 11
BUKHTES: INEDs:
HEEEL (Hi77) Dr. Tang Lai Wah (Note 7) 22 — 17 5/5 — —
m2EE L (H:78) Dr. Ho Ho Ming (Note &) 22 - n 5/5 — —
N ) Mr. Yao Xiaomin (Note 9) 212 — 171 5/5 — —
BB L (HiF10) Mr. Chan Sze Chung (Note 10) 212 212 11 n 11 n
Rimtl S (M52 10) Mr. Zhang Ruibin (Note 10) 20 2 1N 11 1N 11
REBRE(HZ10) Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (Note 10) 2 22 1N 11 1N 11
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Notes:

10.

Mr. Wang Feifei was appointed on 7 June 2024, 2 Board meetings and
no nomination committee meetings were held after his appointment.

Ms. Qiao Linna and Mr. Liu Jiankun were appointed on 7 June 2024,
2 Board meetings were held after her/his appointment.

Ms. Guo Zixiu was appointed on 7 June 2024, 2 Board meetings and
no risks management committee meetings were held after her
appointment.

Mr. Bai Pingyan retired on the 2024 AGM, 2 Board meetings, 2
nomination committee meetings and the 2024 AGM were held before
his retirement.

Mr. Chai Hongjie retired on the 2024 AGM, 2 Board meetings and the
2024 AGM were held before his retirement.

Mr. Jiang Chaowen retired on the 2024 AGM, 2 Board meetings, 1
risks management committee meeting and the 2024 AGM were held
before his retirement.

Dr. Tang Lai Wah was appointed on 7 June 2024, 2 Board meetings,
1 remuneration committee meeting, 5 Audit Committee meetings and
no nomination committee and risks management committee meetings
were held after her appointment.

Dr. Ho Ho Ming was appointed on 7 June 2024, 2 Board meetings, 1
remuneration committee meeting, 5 Audit Committee meetings and
no risks management committee meetings were held after his
appointment.

Mr. Yao Xiaomin was appointed on 7 June 2024, 2 Board meetings,
1 remuneration committee meeting, 5 Audit Committee meetings and
no nomination committee meetings were held after his appointment.

Mr. Chan Sze Chung, Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack
retired on the 2024 AGM, 2 Board meetings, 2 nomination
committee meetings, 1 remuneration committee meeting, 1 Audit
Committee meeting, 1 risks management committee meeting and the
2024 AGM were held before their retirement.
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The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or re-
appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”), material contracts and transactions, corporate
governance, environmental, social and governance as well as other
significant policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated
day-to-day responsibility to the executive management under the
instruction/supervision of the executive committee of the Company
(the “Executive Committee”) which has its specific written terms of
reference. The respective functions of the Board and the
management of the Company have been formalised and set out in
writing and are reviewed by the Board from time to time to ensure
that they are consistent with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance each year to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. A notice of a regular
Board meeting of at least 14 days is given to all Directors such that
they are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in
the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman/the President in preparing the
agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable laws, rules and
regulations are complied with. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the
intended date of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable
for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment before
being tabled at the following Board meeting for approval. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
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According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board, which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The third amended and restated articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) also stipulates that save
for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall not vote (nor
shall he/she be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the
Board in respect of any contract, arrangement or proposal in which
such Director or any of his/her close associates (has the meaning
ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to access to Board papers and the related
materials and to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.
The Board and each Director also have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management. Directors are
continuously updated on the major development of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In addition, a
written procedure and an independent view policy (the
“Independent View Policy”) were established by the Company to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a
reasonable cost to be borne by the Company. The Board will review
the implementation and effectiveness of the Independent View
Policy on an annual basis.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development (“CPD")

In addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of
papers and circulars sent by the management of the Company, the
Company arranged training on topics relating to among others,
Directors’ responsibilities, continuing obligations under the Listing
Rules and regulatory updates from the Securities and Futures
Commissions and the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council
etc. at the Company’s expenses. The chart below summarises the
participation of each of the Directors in CPD activities during the
Year:

SRREEXBRED

Participation in CPD activities

HERESEE
BREZEN
ILE:A -4
e 28
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
seminars/
conference
relevant to
Directors’ duties

BRERESN

Reading
regulatory

Name of Directors updates

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Feifei (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Ms. Qiao Linna (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Ms. Guo Zixiu (appointed on 7 June 2024) v v/
Mr. Liu Jiankun (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Mr. Bai Pingyan (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ v/
Mr. Chai Hongjie (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ v/
Mr. Jiang Chaowen (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ 4
Non-executive Director:
Mr. Huang Yu (re-designated from an Executive Director to

a non-executive Director on 19 April 2024) v/ v/
INEDs:
Dr. Tang Lai Wah (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Dr. Ho Ho Ming (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Mr. Yao Xiaomin (appointed on 7 June 2024) v/ v/
Mr. Chan Sze Chung (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ v/
Mr. Zhang Ruibin (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ 4
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (retired on the 2024 AGM) v/ 4

EEHARFOCNEERESRE

REAFEAMEZEIZRE -

Nz hEE
AR Z SFAMESCEC 41 - WE AIARR 7

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on directors’ training and have
provided the Company with the records of their training received
during the Year.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and performed
by different individuals.

The Company does not have a separate Chairman and President and
Mr. Wang Feifei currently performs these two roles. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the
President in the same person can facilitate the execution of the
Group’s business strategies and improve its operational
effectiveness. Taking into account the diverse backgrounds and
experience of the non-executive Director and INEDs, the Board
considers that the balance of power and authority, accountability
and independent decision making will not be impaired under the
current arrangement. In addition, the Audit Committee, which
consists of all INEDs, has free and direct access to the Company’s
external auditors and independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The nomination policy (the *“Nomination Policy”) specifies the
director nomination process and criteria for the identifications,
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Nomination Policy” of this report.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary or the lawyer of the Company on the
first occasion of his/her appointment. This induction package is a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities
and on-going obligations to be observed by a director pursuant to
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “Companies Ordinance”), the Listing Rules and Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO"). In addition, this induction package includes materials briefly
describing the operations and business of the Company, the latest
published financial reports of the Company and the documentation
for the corporate governance practices adopted by the Board.
Directors are continuously updated on any major developments of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices.

Mr. Wang Feifei, Ms. Qiao Linna, Ms. Guo Zixiu, Mr. Liu Jiankun,
Dr. Tang Lai Wah, Dr. Ho Ho Ming and Mr. Yao Xiaomin, as newly
appointed Directors during the Year, confirmed that they have on
21 May 2024 obtained the legal advice from a firm of solicitors
qualified to advise on Hong Kong law as regards the requirements
under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him/her as a director
of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange, and
he/she understood his/her obligations as a director of a listed issuer
pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules.
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All INEDs were appointed for a specific term, but subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office but are eligible for re-election. Details of the terms of
appointment of the INEDs are set out in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS” contained in the Directors’
Report on page 121 of this annual report.

According to Articles 109(a)-(b) of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall
include (so far as necessary to obtain the number required) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for
re-election. Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by
rotation in the 3 years preceding the annual general meeting shall
retire by rotation at such annual general meeting. Any further
Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same
day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

According to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director but so that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from
time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
in accordance with its terms of reference. The duties of the Board
in respect of the corporate governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and CPD of Directors
and senior management;

(iii)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has performed the corporate governance
duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Nomination Committee, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), the Audit Committee,
the investment committee of the Company (the “Investment
Committee”), the risks management committee of the Company
(the "Risks Management Committee”), the share dealing committee
of the Company and the Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the
Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and the
committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “THE BOARD" of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman and
comprises a majority of INEDs. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Wang Feifei (chairman of the Nomination Committee), who is an
Executive Director, and Dr. Tang Lai Wah and Mr. Yao Xiaomin,
who are INEDs.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on matters including nomination and
appointment of directors, succession planning and structure,
composition and diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it
can seek independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. Two Nomination Committee meetings
were held during the Year and the attendance of each member is
set out in the section headed “THE BOARD” of this report. In
addition to the above-mentioned Nomination Committee meetings,
the Nomination Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during the Year. During the Year and up to the date of
this report, the major work performed by the Nomination
Committee was as follows:

(i) assessed the independence of INEDs;

(i) monitored the implementation and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
and the measurable objectives under such policy and its
progress, reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval
of the Board Diversity Policy;

(iii)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
Nomination Policy;

(iv)  reviewed the structure, size, composition of the Board and time
invested by the Directors in performing their duties taking into
account the Board Diversity Policy and the Company’s
corporate strategy;



(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
proposed resolutions for the re-election of Directors at the
2024 AGM;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval of the
renewal of an INED’s appointment and relevant terms of the
appointment letter;

reviewed and recommended for the re-designation of a
Director, appointment of Directors and retirement of Directors;

reviewed and approved all disclosure statements in relation to
the Nomination Committee as stated in the corporate
governance report of the Company; and

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
functions/roles of the Board and the senior management.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the
director nomination process and selection criteria to identify, select
and recommend candidates for Directors.

The Director nomination process is as follows:

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search
firms. In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders.

All director candidates, including incumbents and candidates
nominated by the Shareholders, are evaluated by the
Nomination Committee based upon the director qualifications.
While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may
vary based on the composition, skill sets, and experiences of
the collective Board rather than on the individual candidate.
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The evaluation of director candidates may include, without
limitation, the following:

—  review of resume and job history;

—  personal interviews;

—  verification of professional and personal references; and
—  performance of background checks.

The Board will consider the recommendations of the
Nomination Committee and is responsible for designating the
director candidate(s) to be considered by the Shareholders for
their election at the annual general meeting of the Company,
or appointing any suitable candidate to act as Director to fill
a Board vacancy or as an additional Director subject to
compliance of the Articles of Association.

All appointments of Director should be confirmed by letter of
appointment and/or service contract setting out the key terms
and conditions of the appointment of the Directors.

The selection criteria considered by the Nomination Committee in
evaluating director candidates are as follows:

All director candidates will be evaluated based upon the director
qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc. that
can add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of the existing Directors.

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

—  the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;
—  proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s
field and the ability to exercise sound business

judgement;

— the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;
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— an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that are
required of a member of the Board and the
commitment of time and energy necessary to diligently
carry out those responsibilities;

— independence: the independent non-executive director
candidates should meet the “independence” criteria as
required under the Listing Rules and the composition of
the Board is in conformity with the provisions of the
Listing Rules; and

—  skills that are complementary to those of the existing
Board and the ability to contribute to the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which,
in particular, are set out as follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an
independent judgement to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise;

(c)  ensuring the committees of the Board on which he
or she serves to perform their powers and
functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(d) conforming to any requirement, direction and
regulation that may from time to time be
prescribed by the Board or contained in the
Articles of Association or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum criteria
for director candidate, although the Nomination Committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in
the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders.



94

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

SREAEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEENESTILBE

EZERMTEFTeKESTLRR -E=R
EREZTIBRREINEREETERESZ T
Lz BERRA LERITTIER TEBRAR
FIEESEKEZ T MBS P& 2 R
BiR e

REBEFTENEZTTIEBE  BEAER
HER—ZNZ LR - BEETRRMER -

Fie  ERBEESR Bk EELR K
e~ B NMIRIFFR o RARTE HIZIE T IRE
AZERERAREFGFHZARME

AR IR B BRERIL A A B R ERE He (R R 2
AIFfEBEMMERZ T BRETRRE
FehRAEEEER -RERZBEHEF
R EEENEN  RRRKEZEK  TE
ma P T L BE M EENZEF B RS
E-EFxgRBH=-fAxMHEERAEEN
ERAK-EZERR BRAERRMURZT
tExn BEFEKREZTEBRMESR
BRUBRERESGECETIARLTES
EgRAZUENZTIE - EIER (BESR
BIEE) MIERZ TR AN F|RFECOEAIR

BoneakERRE -

REZARBEFROEFENAS LR
®BRETZEN  LREFRRREA
THEEZETUREL  REEEENE

BE m =

REFEUBEZTTICBRZMIT -

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Board
Diversity Policy sets out the objectives and principles regarding
board diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
the contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the
Board.

The Company has also taken, and will continue to take steps to
promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but
not limited to the Board and senior management levels. The
Nomination Committee will annually review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and also the abovementioned diversity
perspectives and its progress on achieving those objectives. The
Board currently comprises three female Directors and five male
Directors. The Board is of the view that the existing gender diversity
in respect of the Board is sufficient, and that the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy can ensure that there will be a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board which continues the
existing gender diversity in the Board. Gender diversity at workforce
levels (including our senior management) is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on Page 60 of this
annual report.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness and recommend any revisions
that may be required to the Board for consideration and approval.
The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy.
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Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists
of three members, namely Mr. Yao Xiaomin (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Dr. Tang Lai Wah and Dr. Ho Ho Ming,
all being the INEDs.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group and other matters relating to remuneration, reviewing
the performance of Directors and senior management in discharging
their responsibilities and conducting annual performance evaluation,
and considering the remunerations paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions for
other positions in the Group. The remuneration of all Directors is
subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that their remunerations and compensations are reasonable.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible to review and/or
approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can seek
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy
if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The model of the Remuneration Committee described in code
provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the
Company.
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The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
of each member is set out in the section headed “THE BOARD” of
this report. In addition to the above Remuneration Committee
meetings, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by
way of circulation during the Year. During the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee had performed the
work as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval of the
remuneration package of an INED for renewal of the terms of
appointment;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Group;

(iii)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval for the
adoption of the compensation and performance management
policy of the senior management of the Group;

(iv) reviewed and recommend for the Board’'s approval for the
remuneration packages of the Directors proposed to be
appointed; and

(v)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
of the Group.

Each Director will be entitled to Director’'s fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting of the Company each year. Further remunerations payable
to the Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their respective employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee. Details of the
Directors’ remunerations are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. Details of the
remuneration policy of the Group are also set out in the section
headed “EMPLOYEES” contained in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on page 15 of this annual report.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remunerations of the members of the senior management of the
Group (other than the Directors) during the Year by band is set out
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three
INEDs, namely Dr. Tang Lai Wah (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Dr. Ho Ho Ming and Mr. Yao Xiaomin. To retain
independence and objectivity, it is chaired by an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in
its oversight of the completeness, accuracy and fairness of the
financial statements of the Company, the effectiveness and
adequacy of risk management and internal control systems, the
independence of the external auditor and the performance and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit and compliance
function. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and it can seek independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are included
in its terms of reference, which are available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Six Audit Committee meetings were
held during the Year and the attendance of each member is set out
in the section headed “THE BOARD" of this report. In addition to
the above Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also
dealt with matters by way of circulation during the Year.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee had performed the work as summarised below:

(i)  reviewed the independent review report/audit completion
report from the external auditor and the management’s
response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “2023 Final Audit”), the interim results
review for the six months ended 30 June 2024 (the “2024
Interim Results Review”) and the final audit for the Year (the
“2024 Final Audit”);
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval of the
financial reports for the year ended 31 December 2023, for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 and for the Year
together with the relevant management representation letters
and announcements;

reviewed the internal control review reports/summary prepared
by the business responsible officers and external consultants
respectively, and instructed that the issues raised would be
addressed and managed by the management;

formulated and reviewed the annual internal audit plan;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of the
updated report on substantiation of the
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget;

resources,

formulated, reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual
review of the Connected Transaction Policies, the Related Party
Transaction Policies and Procedures, the Whistleblower Policy,
the Anti-corruption Policy, the Policy on the Disclosure of
Inside Information and the Code of Conduct and Compliance
Manual;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval for the
engagement of an external consultant for the provision of
advisory services regarding the review on risk management
and compliance related matters for the Year;

reviewed the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Group; and

reviewed and approved the scope of audit by the external
auditor in respect of the 2023 Final Audit, 2024 Interim
Results Review and 2024 Final Audit, as well as reviewed and
recommended for the Board’s approval of the re-appointment
of external auditor, and their remuneration and terms of
engagement.
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Executive Committee

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee consists of
four Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Feifei (chairman of the
Executive Committee), Ms. Qiao Linna, Ms. Guo Zixiu and Mr. Liu
Jiankun.

The Executive Committee is vested by the Board with all the general
powers of management and control of the activities of the Group,
save for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision
and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the
Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to
discuss the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day
management and is empowered to:

(i) formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the
Group as determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry made by the Company, that
they had complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code during the Year. Relevant employees who, because of
their office in the Company, are likely to be in possession of inside
information have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the finance department of the Company, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Year, the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance have been complied with. The Directors believe that they
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis. The reporting
responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, BDO Limited, are
set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 132 to 139
of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control
. Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Through
establishing the Audit Committee, Risks Management
Committee and the risk management team ("Risk
Management Team”) under it, the Board reviews the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems and performs its obligations of
continuously supervising and managing the design,
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Risks Management Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Dr. Ho Ho Ming (chairman of the Risks
Management Committee) and Dr. Tang Lai Wah, who are the
INEDs, and Ms. Guo Zixiu, who is the Executive Director.
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During the Year, the Group has engaged an external
consultant to assist the Group in the assessment of risk
management, performance of its internal audit function and
conducting annual internal control review according to the
requirements of the CG Code. The assistance facilitated
annual review of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the Year. The effectiveness and adequacy
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
for the Year was considered and reported by the management
to the Board.

Risk Management Process

The Group’s risk management uses a blended top-down and
bottom-up approach for identifying risks. Through identifying
the internal and external sources of risks in the existing
business of the Group (including pharmaceutical and fitness
businesses), the known possible risk events and their areas of
impact are assessed. The identified risks of the Group are
categorised into 4 main areas which involve financial,
operational, reputation and human resources. A discussion of
the policies and procedures on the management of each of
the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Directors’ Report on page 110 of this annual report.

Risks of the Group are ranked as high, medium or low levels
under risk evaluation in terms of five categories of
consequence and five categories of likelihood of occurrence.
Risk level evaluates the residual risk levels based on the
controlling power of existing controls. The result from the risk
analysis is evaluated to determine whether or not identified
risks are within expected tolerance levels. Through the risk
evaluation, risks are transferred, shared, eliminated or
effectively controlled through proposed risk mitigation
measures. For each proposed risk mitigation measure based on
the results of risk evaluation, a risk owner is designated to
follow up on the risk treatment, and an expected completion
date of the relevant mitigation measure should be assigned to
ensure accountability for risk mitigation. The relevant
information of risk evaluation is documented in the top risk
records of the Group, which are put together and escalated to
the Risks Management Committee and the Board for
discussion and approval after the risk registers are being
provided by the operating subsidiaries and consolidated by the
Risk Management Team.
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The roles and responsibilities of operating subsidiaries, the Risk
Management Team, Risks Management Committee and the
Board in risk management are as follows:

Summary of the works of risk management from operating
subsidiaries to the Risk Management Team:

° Preparing and updating the risk registers of the operating
subsidiaries semi-annually

o Following up on the remediation status of the proposed
risk mitigation measure documented in the top risk
records semi-annually

o Identifying any significant risks from operating subsidiaries
semi-annually

° Real-time monitoring any risks that exceed the risk
appetite of the Group

Summary of the works of risk management from the Risk
Management Team to the Risks Management Committee and
the Board:

° Reviewing the remediation status of top risks annually
° Reviewing any updates to the risk universe annually
o Updating the risk management policy, including risk

assessment criteria annually
° Reviewing top risk identification including top risk

dashboard, risk universe and top risk records annually

° Real-time monitoring any risks that exceed the risk
appetite of the Group
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Internal Audit

Internal audit plays an important role in internal controls,
which is to assist the Audit Committee in carrying out analysis
and appraisal of the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group’s internal control systems. During the Year, the Group
engaged an external consultant to facilitate the internal audit
function of the Group. The Company set up an annual
internal audit plan according to the risk evaluation results. The
external consultant conducted the review of internal audit
projects for the Year in accordance with the approved annual
internal audit plan. The review included understanding the
operation processes of the proposed scope of review through
interviews with the management and the responsible persons;
performing walkthrough testing for relevant internal control
system processes; identifying weaknesses of the design and
implementation of the internal control system; providing
relevant suggestions for improvement; making enquiries to the
management and persons in charge of the process for
remediation; and reviewing relevant documents to understand
and analyse the implementation situation of review
suggestions stated in the 2023 internal control review report
which have yet to be rectified. The above scope of work and
review method have been confirmed and approved by the
Audit Committee.

Through the internal control review report and summary for
the Year provided by the external consultant and internal audit
department/business responsible officers respectively, the Audit
Committee and the Board analysed the internal control
findings and suggestions; and assessed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal audit function and the risk
management and internal control systems. The issues raised in
the internal control review report and summary would be
promptly addressed and more strongly managed by the
management. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company will be reviewed on an annual basis.
The Audit Committee and the Board are satisfied that there
are effective and adequate risk management and internal
control systems in the Company for the Year.
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IV. Annual Confirmation

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than
completely to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. It has a key role in the management of risks that
are significant to the fulfilment of business objectives. The
Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance
of the internal audit department/business responsible officers
and the external consultant, has conducted annual review on
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year and considered such systems to be
effective and adequate for the Year. The Board also
considered the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions as
well as those relating to performance and reporting of
environmental, social and governance to be adequate. The
management has provided a confirmation to the Risks
Management Committee (and the Board) on the effectiveness
of these systems for the Year.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has a policy with regard to the principles and
procedures for handling and disseminating the inside information of
the Company in compliance with the requirements under Part XIVA
of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling
and dissemination of inside information, which includes:

° designated reporting channel for relevant officers in possession
of potential inside information to notify the persons
designated by the Board (the “Designated Persons”);

o Designated Persons to assess the potential inside information
and provide advice, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on
further actions so as to comply with applicable laws and
regulations; and

° restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis.
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External Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Group's external auditor in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the Year is set
out as follows:

FiER
HK$’000

RASEREM® R Services rendered for the Group
ZE R Audit services 2,167
FZERG (REEHTHEER Non-audit services (including review of interim

HAfth) results and others) 740
#BEr Total 2,907
NEAMWE COMPANY SECRETARY
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Ms. Si Tou Man Wai (“Ms. Si Tou”) had been the Company
Secretary and chief financial officer of the Company since 7
November 2014. Ms. Si Tou resigned as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1 September 2024 and Ms. Chan Lok Tung (“Ms.
Chan") was appointed as the Company Secretary on the same day.
Ms. Chan has been working with Universe Corporate Services
Limited. The primary contact person of the Company with Ms. Chan
is Mr. Han Xuyang, the board secretary of the Company. Ms.
Chan’s brief biographical details are set out in the section headed
“"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT"” in the Director's Report on page 121 of this annual
report.

Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules stipulates that an issuer’s company
secretary is required to take no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in each financial year. It is confirmed that Ms.
Chan has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.
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In addition to publication of information, the general meetings of
the Company provide important opportunities for constructive
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.

The 2024 AGM was held on 7 June 2024. The former Chairman
took the chair of the 2024 AGM to ensure Shareholders’ views
were communicated to the Board. The chairman of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the representatives of the external auditor of the
Company were present thereat either to answer questions to ensure
effective communication with the Shareholders. The attendance
record of the Directors at the 2024 AGM is set out in the section
headed “THE BOARD" of this report.

The chairman of any independent Board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is
appointed, at least a member of the independent Board committee)
should also be available to answer questions of the Shareholders at
any general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Separate resolutions were proposed at the general meeting for each
substantial issue, including but not limited to the re-election of
Directors and the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the
independent auditor of the Company in the 2024 AGM.

The notice to Shareholders is sent at least 21 days before the
meeting in the case of annual general meeting of the Company and
at least 14 days in case of all other general meetings. An
explanation of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is
provided to the Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman answers questions from the Shareholders regarding
voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in the
manner prescribed under the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the Group’s shareholders and investor
engagement and communication activities conducted during the
Year and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”).
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Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or
more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth voting rights, on a one vote per
share basis, of the issued shares of the Company which as at that
date carries the right to vote at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for
the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph. The written requisition should
be signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 12A15-12A20,
12A/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong (the “Head Office”), specifying the Shareholders’ contact
details and the resolution intended to be put forward at general
meeting.

The Board has established the Shareholders” Communication Policy.
A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board to the Head
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the
enquiry. In addition, Shareholders can contact the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong for any
questions about their shareholdings. Shareholders and the
investment community who have any query in respect of the
Company, and comments and suggestions to Board or management
of the Company may contact the Company Secretary by email to
info@kontafarma.com.hk or serve a letter at the Head Office. In
addition, they may at any time make a request to the Company
Secretary for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available.

As regards a proposed election of a person as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company at
http://www.kontafarma.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
published its Articles of Association on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Year, there had been no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Feifei
Chairman

28 March 2025
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The Board presents the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 53 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Group's revenue for the Year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the Mainland China, Singapore and Taiwan. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 140 to 141 of this annual report
and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
Year (2023: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the
distributable reserves of the Company was approximately
HK$963.3million.

Details of the Company’s reserves during the Year are set out in
note 52 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totaling approximately HK$16.3 million. Details of these and other
movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT”, “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" respectively from pages 5 to 7, pages 8 to
16 and pages 17 to 76 of this annual report and the paragraphs
below. The discussion and analysis in the “CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT”, "MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” and
“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" form part
of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Pharmaceutical Business

The problems encountered by the Group’s pharmaceutical business
are still the uncertainties brought by the medical reform in
Mainland China. Facing the current situation, the Group’s
pharmaceutical business has always maintained a positive response
attitude and strives to give full play to its professional advantages in
new product research and development, market expansion and
capacity upgrading, so as to enhance its ability to resist risks.

Fitness Business

The Group’s fitness business in Singapore has recovered from the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Going forward, this sector
primarily faces challenges such as rising labor and operational costs,
evolving competitive landscape, and difficulties in attracting talent
and enhancing customer loyalty.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. A discussion of
the policies and procedures on the management of each of the
major types of financial risks which the Group is facing is included
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

We have in place compliance procedures to ensure adherence to the
relevant laws and regulations that are relevant to the Group. The
Executive Committee is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, with the support and assistance of the
legal consultants of the Company and the company secretarial
department.

Details of compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out
n “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 17 to
76 of this annual report.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

Details of relationships with employees, customers and suppliers are
set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages
17 to 76 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares,
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at
the end of the Year.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Particulars of the share award scheme of the Company are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remunerations offered to the employees of the Group generally
include salaries, medical benefits and bonus on a performance
related basis. The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by
the Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, as
authorised by Shareholder(s) at the annual general meeting of the
Company, having regard to the Group’s operating results, the
Directors’ individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank borrowings of the Group which are repayable within one year
are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis of bank
borrowings of the Group is set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. The Group had not
capitalised any interest during the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results as well as the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 300 of this
annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
(unless otherwise stated) were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Feifei (Chairman and President)
(appointed on 7 June 2024)
Ms. Qiao Linna (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Ms. Guo Zixiu (Financial Controller) (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Mr. Liu Jiankun (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mr. Bai Pingyan (Chairman) (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Chai Hongjie (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Jiang Chaowen (Chief Executive Officer) (retired on the 2024
AGM)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Yu (re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director on 19 April 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Tang Lai Wah (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Dr. Ho Ho Ming (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mr. Yao Xiaomin (appointed on 7 June 2024)
Mr. Chan Sze Chung (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Zhang Ruibin (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (retired on the 2024 AGM)

Pursuant to Articles 109(a)—(b) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu
Jiankun, Mr. Huang Yu and Mr. Yao Xiaomin shall retire from office

by rotation and be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 24 June 2025 (the “2025 AGM").
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Feifei, aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company (the “Executive Director”), the chairman of the
Board and the president of the Group performing the roles and
functions of chief executive on 7 June 2024. He is also the
chairman of each of the executive committee of the Company (the
“Executive Committee”), the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”), the share dealing committee of the
Company (the “Share Dealing Committee”) and the investment
committee of the Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr.
Wang is also the chairman and general manager of Tongfang
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.* (RIF &£ B AR Q)
("Tongfang Pharmaceutical”).

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in refined financial
management, investment management, budget management and
risk control management. He is currently the Communist Party
Committee member of Shenzhen Waranty Asset Management Co.,
Ltd.* (R ERMBTEEE R ERAF]) (“Shenzhen Waranty”). Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Wang had been the deputy chief clerk of
the financial assets department of Shanxi Fourth Construction Group
Co., Ltd* (WA ZELEBEBRAF]) and Shanxi Construction
Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (IlLFAREFRILELEEFR A A]) (“Shanxi
Construction”). He also served as assistant to the general manager
and chief accountant of Shanxi Jiantou Group Decoration Co., Ltd.*
(LLPEEIEBEAFR A F]). Mr. Wang was qualified as a Certified
Management Accountant of the United States of America in June
2016 and a senior accountant of the PRC in November 2021.
Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree from Jilin University of
Finance and Economics.
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Ms. Qiao Linna, aged 34, was appointed as an Executive Director
and the vice president of the Group on 7 June 2024. She is also a
member of each of the Executive Committee and the Share Dealing
Committee. She is currently the director and the chairman of the
board of Sharkview Limited, Greater Vision Limited and Gratwick
Limited.

Ms. Qiao worked at Shanxi Construction and Development Co.,
Ltd.* (LL7AZRZEREAR AR under Jiantou Group* (&£ EH),
assisting in the preparation for the issuance of corporate private
corporate bonds, and participating in the establishment of Beijing
Jinfa Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (It REHEEETEAERAA)
and due diligence work for its listing on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (“NEEQ"). She also successively served as
the deputy director of the general office, the director of the
enterprise  management department, the director of the party
committee work department and the vice chairman of the labour
union of Shanxi Park Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd* (LFARREXRZEREEBER A T]) (formerly known as Shanxi
Construction and Development Co., Ltd.) under Jiantou Group* (j&
¥ & &), mainly responsible for the company’s organisational
construction, human resources management, internal control system
and management system construction. During the term of office,
she concurrently served as an external director of Shanxi Jiantou
Zhiao International Exhibition Co., Ltd.* (LR EREE SRS
R 2 7]) and Loufan County Jianfa Infrastructure Investment Co.,
Lt (BESREERREIREFRAF]), participating in the
decision-making of major operation and management matters
involving conference and exhibition services and PPP infrastructure
investment, construction and operation. Ms. Qiao obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in economics and mathematics and a master’s
degree in international business administration (IMBA) from the
University of British Columbia.
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Ms. Guo Zixiu, aged 36, was appointed as an Executive Director
and the financial controller of the Company on 7 June 2024. She is
also a member of each of the Executive Committee, the risks
management committee of the Company (the “Risks Management
Committee”) and the Share Dealing Committee. She is currently the
director and the chairman of the board of Fester Global Limited and
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Guo has extensive experience in investment, auditing and
finance. Ms. Guo worked in various financial and quasi-financial
institutions, including Shanxi Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* (lL7a% 7
FAEEBR AR and Jinshang Credit Investment Co., Ltd.* (B&E{ZH
HERE RN B R A F]). She was also the head of the legal and
audit department of Shenzhen Waranty. Ms. Guo obtained a
master’s degree in accounting from Shanxi University of Finance and
Economics in June 2014. She was qualified as an intermediate
accountant in September 2015, a certified public accountant in the
PRC in May 2017 and a chartered financial analyst in May 2021.

Mr. Liu Jiankun, aged 32, was appointed as an Executive Director
on 7 June 2024. He is also a member of each of the Executive
Committee and the Share Dealing Committee.

Mr. Liu is currently the supervisor, the vice chairman of the labour
union and the head of the planning and development department
of Shenzhen Waranty, the executive director (concurrent) of
Waranty Assets Management (HK) Limited (”“Waranty Hong Kong”)
and China Health Management Investment Limited (“China Health”)
and a director (concurrent) of SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd.*
(BT B8 (At R) £ BRI AR A E]) (“SPF”), Shaanxi Unisplendour Life
Care Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (PRAALNYERBEEEEFR QD a),
Shaanxi Unisplendour Hi-tech Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (BEFEE K S
¥EEEAFR AR and Shaanxi Daxingtang Pharmaceutical Logistic
Co., Ltd.* (BRpgEE T ELEY)RAR A F]). Mr. Liu was the head of
the strategic investment department, the deputy director of the
general office of Shenzhen Waranty, a director of Tongfang
Pharmaceutical and Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (&
BERRLLBIEE AR A F]). Mr. Liu holds a master's degree in mechanical
engineering from Auburn University in the United States.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Huang Yu, aged 56, was re-designated as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 19 April 2024. Mr. Huang served as an
executive Director from March 2014 to April 2024, the chairman of
the Board from July 2014 to September 2020 and the President
from September 2020 to April 2024.

He is currently an executive director and general manager of
Shenzhen Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (&I E
BB E AR A7), the chairman of the supervisory committee
of Penghua Fund Management Co., Ltd* (BEEESEEER A F)
and a director of the GuoDu Securities Co., Ltd.* (B#PEARNDH
[R27]), a company listed on NEEQ (stock code: 870488). Mr.
Huang had also been a director and senior management of several
listed companies, including the chairman of the board and a non-
executive director of Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (stock code: 1868),
the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, a non-executive director of Technovator
International Limited (stock code: 1206), the issued shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the vice
chairman and president of Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd.* ([ /3% %
BR AR (“Tsinghua Tongfang”) (stock code: 600100), the issued
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (the
“SSE”) and the chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen
Huakong Seg Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Huakong Seg"”) (stock code:
000068), the issued shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang obtained a master’s degree in Science
from the University of Greenwich.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Tang Lai Wah, aged 67, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company (the “Independent Non-
Executive Director(s)”) on 7 June 2024. She is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), and
a member of each of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee, the
Risks Management Committee and the Investment Committee.

Dr. Tang holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts with honors in
Accountancy, degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) and degree of Doctor of Business Administration from
the City University of Hong Kong. She also received a Distinguished
Alumni Award from the College of Business of the City University of
Hong Kong.

Dr. Tang is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA") as well as the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a life member of the Hong Kong
Independent Non-Executive Director Association as well as the
Shenzhen Hong Kong Macau Women Directors Alliance.

Dr. Tang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the risk committee of
Binhai Investment Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2886) since May 2023.

Dr. Tang was an independent non-executive director and a member
of each of the audit committee and the salary review committee of
Glory Sun Land Group Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0299) from May 2016 to July 2024.

Dr. Tang has over 30 years of extensive experience in the
telecommunication, media and information technology industries in
the areas of accounting, financial management, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition activities, initial public offering on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, management of Hong Kong listed
companies and corporate compliance with the Listing Rules.
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From 1990 to 2001, she served as the group financial controller of
a number of listed companies on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. During the time, she participated in the listing of Star
Telecom Holding on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the
large-scale acquisition and merger of Tricom Holdings Limited. In the
past twenty years (from 2002 to 2022), Dr. Tang has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary of Excel Technology
International (Hong Kong) Limited.

Dr. Tang is a committee member of the departmental advisory
committee for the Department of Accountancy of the City University
of Hong Kong. She was elected as a council member of ACCA
Hong Kong Branch (from 2015 to 2021). She was appointed as a
Financial Expert by the Hong Kong Council for Accreditation of
Academic & Vocational Qualifications (from 2014 to 2020).

Dr. Ho Ho Ming, aged 52, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 7 June 2024. He is also the chairman of the
Risks Management Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Investment
Committee.

Dr. Ho is a seasoned investment banking and credit rating expert,
having held senior management positions at global and China credit
rating agencies with solid experience in China credit rating and
capital market transactions, green finance and ESG rating, including
CS First Boston, Merrill Lynch, Bear Stearns, Fitch Ratings and
Lianhe Ratings Global. Dr. Ho is the Representative in Hong Kong of
Syntao Green Finance International Ltd., and the Green Finance
Certification Scheme Technical Committee Member of Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA). He is also The European
Federation of Financial Analysts Societies (“EFFAS”) Certified ESG
Analyst (CESGA®) Examiner and the Senior Academic Advisor for
Sustainable Finance Research Hub (SFRH) set up by EFFAS to
promote EFFAS qualifications in the Asia Pacific Region.

Dr. Ho is the Adjunct Professor of the Business School at the
University of Hong Kong (HKU), the Adjunct Professor (EMBA) of the
College of Business at City University of Hong Kong (CityU), the
Adjunct Professor of the School of Business at Hong Kong Baptist
University (HKBU), and the Adjunct Professor of the Faculty of
Business and the Professor of Practice (MIBF) of the Department of
Economics at Lingnan University (LU).



120

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ABTEERNEEREARE (EARHFIRE
BEL)  MBAB(IHEEBRL) REBH
MAB(IFERBL) WBELTR_ZT=_—
FREFTERTMABEHSRALRRLE [
B ARBMNS R D IR S € REBESG D HTAD
(CESGA®) LA 2 SGS ESGER&E 2 #TAl ©

MAREE  BESNT R R-FT-OFX
ACtBEZERBIUIFATES - BN SFH
MEEELERUARBEZZBERERZE
EEBEZKE -

EERCEMBERFBEFLELR -
hAEEG B EREBHE  FEETL
MR RERERNER K - LTI
AEPERIER  WWAMCKBEERF
Birbr & &L 7B & KEMBAZ A BBl
FoRMAREEZAT - PhooELEESZHE L
MARMBYES BRLUAKBROER
AR (HEZHTRONRINESZ S LT -
B3 5% 1 000755) + BEEERRHDERA A
(HBEBTROR ER LT BHARR:
600780) + KRET RN BR AR (KB ST
[ EAZFT ET 0 IR ASE : 600169) + &
AE#HBOERAR (EEETRON ERFT
7 BRDSE : 600495) - LA K ILTERS e
ItEERGARAR - ILARORNEER
TR BERAANZEBIES - hAER
—NN=ZFRNAESLAEERE (RE AL
TR AB) SHRSHEBEFE I KESBSA

B —NMNAFNAESPEYERE(GE
ZETEMEBERR) G ESHEFEY

BB T2 -

Dr. Ho graduated with BBA in Information Systems from HKUST,
MBA from University of Cambridge, and DBA from CityU. He is
awarded the Distinguished Alumni Award by CityU College of
Business in 2022. Dr. Ho is EFFAS Certified ESG Analyst (CESGA®)
and SGS ESG Reporting Analyst.

Mr. Yao Xiaomin, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director on 7 June 2024. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Yao has extensive experience in corporate financial
management. Mr. Yao was a professor at Shanxi University of
Finance and Economics. He also served as the deputy dean of the
Vocational and Technical College of Shanxi University of Finance and
Economics, the deputy director of the Finance Department of Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics, the dean of the School of
Continuing Education of Shanxi University of Finance and
Economics, and the dean of the MBA School of Education of Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yao served as an independent director of several listed
companies, including Shanxi Road & Bridge Co., Ltd. (the issued
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 000755), Tongbao Energy Co., Ltd. (the issued shares of
which are listed on the SSE, stock code: 600780), Taiyuan Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd. (the issued shares of which are listed on the SSE,
stock code: 600169), Jinxi Axle Company Limited (the issued shares
of which are listed on the SSE, stock code: 600495), and Shanxi
Sunshine Coking Group Holding Co., Ltd.* (LI a5 Y &L EER D
AR /AR]) and Shanxi Jiaokou Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.* (LU
AR O BN EERITIRM AR A E]). Mr. Yao obtained a bachelor's
degree in economics from the Department of Accounting of Shanxi
Finance and Economic Institute (currently known as Shanxi University
of Finance and Economics) specialising in accounting in June 1983
and a master's degree in economics from the Department of
Accounting of Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics
(currently known as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law)
specialising in accounting in June 1995.
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Senior Management

Ms. Chan Lok Tung has been appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1 September 2024. Ms. Chan obtained a
Bachelor’'s degree of Business Administration (Honours) in
Accountancy at the City University of Hong Kong in July 2016. She
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators). She has over six years of experience in handling
listed company secretarial and compliance related matters.

Mr. Han Xuyang, aged 35, was appointed as the secretary to the
Board of the Group on 1 January 2025. Mr. Han previously held key
positions in bond financing and information disclosure at Shanxi
Construction and was the head of the financial management
department of Shenzhen Huakong Seg. He holds PRC legal
professional qualification and senior accountant qualification, etc.,
and has extensive experience in the information disclosure and
financial management as well as excellent management capabilities.
Mr. Han obtained a master’'s degree in finance from Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics in July 2017.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM
has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of the Executive Directors, Mr. Wang Feifei, Ms. Qiao Linna,
Ms. Guo Zixiu and Mr. Liu Jiankun, entered into a service contract
with the Company with no fixed term commencing from 7 June
2024, unless terminated in accordance with the respective service
contract, or by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ notice in writing.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Yu, entered into an
appointment letter with the Company with no designated length of
service commencing from 19 April 2024, unless terminated in
accordance with the appointment letter, or by either party giving to
the other not less than three months’ notice in writing.
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Each of the INEDs, Dr. Tang Lai Wah, Dr. Ho Ho Ming and Mr. Yao
Xiaomin entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a service term of three years commencing from 7 June 2024.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associate(s) had any
interests or short positions in the shares (the “Share(s)”), underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors, the
controlling Shareholders or their respective close associates is
interested in a business apart from the Group’s business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s businesses to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, or holding companies was a party
and in which a Director or any entities connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors and every one
of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Year which provides appropriate coverage
for legal actions brought against the Directors.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or executed
during the Year.
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At 31 December 2024, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executives of the Company,
the following Shareholders (other than a Director or the chief
executives of the Company) had 5% or more interests in the Shares
or underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept

N2
o

-

R R 1 &

Name of Shareholders

B R
China Health

ERTFL
Waranty Hong Kong

RYNEFZR
Shenzhen Waranty

BEERNBR=-EFERREREESAREE
(BRE&R)([=8®&K])

Ningbo Free Trade Zone Sanjin Guotou Private
Equity Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* (“Sanjin Guotou”)

IIicp=350
Shanxi Construction

WA ELABREERRAEERF
(MUuAAmERE])

Shanxi Province Expressway Group Limited
Liability Company* (”Shanxi Expressway”)

IR BIERERABR AR ([LAERA])
Shanxi Transportation Holdings Group Co.,
Ltd.* (“Shanxi Transportation”)

under section 336 of the SFO:

546
Capacity

BEEEAA

Beneficial owner

ZESEEER
Interest of a controlled
corporation

SESEEER
Interest of a controlled
corporation

EEHEEE s

Interest of a controlled
corporation

SESEEER
Interest of a controlled
corporation

42 R B AR 2

Interest of a controlled
corporation

SIEHEE R
Interest of a controlled
corporation

"R
Long positions
BARER DL

Approximate
percentage of
interest in
shareholding

% 10 2 B
Number of
Shares

3,172,778,000M 56.77%
3,172,778,000? 56.77%
3,172,778,0009 56.77%
3,172,778,000% 56.77%
3,172,778,0009 56.77%
3,172,778,000© 56.77%
3,172,778,0007 56.77%
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wr
Long positions

BOREBD

Approximate
KRG A percentage of
R R & &4 Number of interest in

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares shareholding

LA EEBEERNEZGRAA HEGEEER 3,172,778,000® 56.77%
(EEHEELRNF])
(ABLAEEAEAREELZBRAA)
Shanxi State-owned Capital Operation Co., Interest of a controlled
Ltd.* (“State-owned Capital Operation Co.") corporation
(Formerly known as Shanxi State Capital
Investment and Operation Co., Ltd.*)

WS ARBANBEEEEEBEELZES REGEEE R 3,172,778,000? 56.77%
(MEEEEZE])

State-owned Assets Supervision and Interest of a controlled
Administration Commission of corporation

Shan Xi Provincial Government
("Shanxi Government Commission”)

BER T E R IEIRB R AR BESBEAA 513,994,0001% 9.20%
(BEERHERE])
THTF Energy-Saving Holdings Limited Beneficial owner

("THTF Energy-Saving”)

Resuccess Investments Limited (“Resuccess”) TEEGEEE R 513,994,000 9.20%
Interest of a controlled
corporation

[ 73 B 17 HEGEEER 513,994,00002 9.20%
Tsinghua Tongfang Interest of a controlled

corporation
B 5T - Notes:

(1) WHEFHEPEFEER3,172,778,000 8% % 2 (1) The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interests of China Health
FRERERER - in 3,172,778,000 Shares.

(2) EMHEFBHEHEREDLETRA100% (2)  Waranty Hong Kong owns 100% interests in the issued share capital

ZHEZ AhERARNPRERESER 2 of China Health and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
BOPHEA#EZ - RIBFES LEEKR - 1t Shares in which China Health is interested. The figure refers to the
HFFEPRERZARRKRGREZ - same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

) RERRFEREZEWBAFREMRES (3)  Shenzhen Waranty, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, namely

BEPEREDFITRA100% 2 e Waranty Hong Kong, owns 100% interests in the issued share capital
LR AR R ERREE R RIS of China Health and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
s - RIBEF LG RY - tbBFaH E Shares in which China Health is interested. The figure refers to the

Rz ARRMDERS - same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.
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Sanjin Guotou owns 45.50% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty is interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

Shanxi Construction owns 46.38% interests in the registered capital of
Sanjin Guotou and 46.40% interests in the registered capital of
Shenzhen Waranty respectively and is therefore deemed to have,
including via Sanjin Guotou, an interest in the Shares in which
Shenzhen Waranty is interested. The figure refers to the same
interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

Shanxi Expressway owns 46.38% interests in the registered capital of
Sanjin Guotou and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Sanjin Guotou is interested. The figure refers to the
same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

Shanxi Transportation owns 100% interests in the registered capital of
Shanxi Expressway and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Shanxi Expressway is interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

State-owned Capital Operation Co. owns 90% interests in the
registered capital of Shanxi Construction and 90% interests in the
registered capital of Shanxi Transportation respectively. State-owned
Capital Operation Co. is therefore deemed to have, via Shanxi
Construction and Shanxi Transportation, an interest in the Shares in
which Shenzhen Waranty is interested. The figure refers to the same
interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

Shanxi Government Commission owns 100% interests in the registered
capital of State-owned Capital Operation Co. and is therefore deemed
to have an interest in the Shares in which State-owned Capital
Operation Co. is interested. The figure refers to the same interests of
China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interests of THTF Energy-
Saving in 513,994,000 Shares.

Resuccess owns 100% interests in the issued share capital of THTF
Energy-Saving and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which THTF Energy-Saving is interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of THTF Energy-Saving in the Shares under the
SFO.

Tsinghua Tongfang, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, namely
Resuccess, owns 100% interests in the issued share capital of THTF
Energy-Saving and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which THTF Energy-Saving is interested. The figure refers to
the same interests of THTF Energy-Saving in the Shares under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any person (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associate(s)) of any
interest and short position in the Shares and underlying shares
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 17% and
41% respectively of the Group’s total revenue during the Year. The
aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases during
the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) or the Shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company, had any beneficial interest in the five largest
suppliers or customers of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury Shares) during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded as
“related parties” under the applicable accounting standards. Details
of these transactions are disclosed in note 49 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. Certain related party
transactions as disclosed in note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements constitute connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all applicable
rules under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Master Tenancy Agreement
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

On 6 April 2022, Tongfang Pharmaceutical (as the landlord), and
SPF (as the tenant) entered into the master tenancy agreement (the
“2022 Master Tenancy Agreement”), pursuant to which Tongfang
Pharmaceutical agreed to lease certain factories and warehouses
(the “Properties”) in Yanging District, Beijing, the PRC, covering a
gross floor area of approximately 14,080 square metres to SPF for a
term commencing from the 29 July 2022 and ended on 31
December 2024 (both days inclusive).

Upon the completion of the transaction contemplated under the
equity transfer agreement dated 6 April 2022 entered into among
Tongfang Pharmaceutical, Shenzhen Waranty and SPF, SPF became
a subsidiary of Shenzhen Waranty, which is a controlling
shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, SPF became an associate
of Shenzhen Waranty and thus a connected person of the Company
and the transactions contemplated under the 2022 Master Tenancy
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest
applicable percentage ratio calculated based on the highest annual
cap under the 2022 Master Tenancy Agreement exceeds 0.1% but
is less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Master Tenancy Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the above transactions were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 6 April 2022.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the
above continuing connected transactions.

During the Year, the actual amount of transactions under the 2022
Master Tenancy Agreement was RMB3,312,552 and was within the
annual cap of RMB3,700,000.
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On 24 December 2024, Tongfang Pharmaceutical as landlord and
SPF as tenant entered into a master tenancy agreement (the “2024
Master Tenancy Agreement”), to extend the term of the 2022
Master Tenancy Agreement which expired on 31 December 2024.
Pursuant to the 2024 Master Tenancy Agreement, Tongfang
Pharmaceutical continued to lease the Properties in Yanging District,
Beijing, the PRC, covering a gross floor area of approximately
15,000 square metres to SPF for a term from 1 January 2025 to 31
December 2027 (both days inclusive).

Details of the 2024 Master Tenancy Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 24 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction discloseable under the Listing
Rules during the Year and up to the date of this report.

Annual Review of Continuing Connected
Transactions

The continuing connected transactions contemplated under the
2022 Master Tenancy Agreement have been reviewed and approved
by the Board, including the INEDs.

The INEDs had reviewed and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions contemplated under the 2022 Master
Tenancy Agreement were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties conducted in accordance with the
terms of the tenancy agreements; and (iii) in accordance with the
tenancy agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the 2022
Master Tenancy Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the 2022
Master Tenancy Agreement in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 24 June 2025.
For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 18 June 2025 to Tuesday, 24 June 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered.

In order for the Shareholders to be eligible to attend and vote at
the 2025 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 17 June 2025.

DONATIONS

The Group did not made charitable donations during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 77 to 108 of this annual
report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information which is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the
Year and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and the Year have been audited by BDO Limited who
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A
resolution to re-appoint BDO Limited and to authorise the Directors
to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Feifei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

*  For identification purpose only
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
F 55 : +852 2218 8288 FRTHEP115R
{EH : +852 2815 2239 Tk ZHI254E

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kontafarma China Holdings Limited ZEZERZFEEBR AR (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 140 to 299, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the vyear then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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HREREE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

AREZFHERBERMAIERHE  HX
MRS BRRIBERRRER TR -
ZEERRERMERBREEYBHRERNK
HABRRETREN HMATERZFTE
RREHEBFER -

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

AREREE
Key audit matter

BMNELNAEERRERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EBHESZRE  —HEEARAIARREMERE AR ZEHRGEER ((RUEEEHE] FM
Expected credit losses (“ECL") assessment of trade receivables, amount due from an associate and
amounts due from other related parties

BMKEKE SHRIE - —HEERAARRREMER AR RMEEEKESRIE  —EBE AR KRR EHE @S
RZEHMEEBERTGINAEREZETE  DARESR XRZEREEBEETRCEFEE

Y BEEENGAYBRKTEBEEAR - BRFEIREHRE Our procedures in relation to ECL assessment of trade
ERENEHEEEEB SR EEAG N EEEMEr o receivables, amount due from an associate and amounts
We identified ECL assessment of trade receivables, due from other related parties included:

amount due from an associate and amounts due from

other related parties as a key audit matter due to the o  EEHEEEFREZIEF (BIEFRAEEERE) D
significance of balances to the Group’s consolidated TR

financial position and the involvement of subjective Obtaining an understanding of management’s process

judgement and management estimates in evaluating the
ECL at the end of the reporting period.

AR ISR R M4 46T IEE W_ZE—NF+ =
A=+—H E£EMEKREZRIE  —[BERFRX
HREREMBEBRIRIAR(NMEKREEEBEERE) 2RO A
108,710,000,%8 7T * 149,043,0007% 7T }280,034,000/% JT ©
As disclosed in note 4 and 46 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s trade receivables,
amount due from an associate and amounts due from
other related parties, net of allowance for credit losses,
amounted to approximately HK$108,710,000,
HK$149,043,000 and HK$80,034,000 respectively as at 31
December 2024.

of assessing the impairment including the use of
provision matrix;

FBREOMPREIEE EAREE S  HERE
REBARLEBLCHEEER  HEBER B EHDE
R BRI ER A OE S B AE M E TR
Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix and
individual assessment, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant sales agreements, sales invoices and historical
settlement record of debtors;
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REERER

Key audit matter

EMWERNEEARERSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

SEEEB()VRERERERE EERE T ERNEFEANE o EE@%IEE?EZEEA:§:E¢+_H:+—EZFE

Epﬁf&mwﬁéﬂé %ﬂﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁmfﬁA
EITHHE  mATREKESHIENERREERSE A
B ERE 2 & A RIE B +aﬁﬁ,€ﬁ}ﬁ1*éﬁéﬂé o flEt
BRXDENEBYRR 2 AR ERFRAANERMEZE
SEAOX  RBAEUEERMELAR  R>INBREBEEBAN
ERIBREIE N RN EBE B RBR AT R F R M et —EEE A
RIR R R E AL RARE 7 RK - LB EEERRSKEERER
BRI - %ﬁﬁﬂ&w%&éﬂﬂﬁémﬂﬂﬁET°
The management of the Group estimates the amount of
ECL of (i) trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns after considering historical default rates and
forward-looking information of respective debtors, except
for debtors with credit-impaired which assess expected
credit loss on individual basis. Estimated loss rates are
based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information; and (i) amount due from an
associate and amounts due from other related parties
based on individual ageing profile and external credit
rating proxies of debtors to determine whether there is
significant increase in credit risk or credit impaired so as
to project the individual loss rate adjusted with forward-
looking information.

TEHEEEEZFIBHNGRE SR ER W 546 -
Details of the ECL are set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements.

WE 5 IA(E B BB B AR TR E’J%/i&ﬂ%ﬁ
REEBRBEERSTKEKES "ZHITH*E
RIKE M LA&FﬁHEA%éﬁ%E@ iEE‘JEI’Ji‘EEﬁFﬂE
EEHE(W2EZBTENERAELEER) :
Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance of trade receivables
as at 31 December 2024, including the
reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
trade debtors into different categories in the
provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix (with
reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information);

CHEREEEETN _ST-_WF+_A=+—RHz—
ML RN RIRE &EM% B h RREE BB ERET
RANEERHE B SESEETERUREZE
ERBERCRERN KEZFEBHAZEWFIA

EAHREERENEEERERABRNGEN &
fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁZﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%Xﬁz%
2
Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance of amount due
from an associate and amounts due from other
related parties as at 31 December 2024, including
the appropriateness of the Group’s determination of
whether the debtors have significant increase in
credit risk, whether the receivables from these
debtors are credit-impaired and reasonableness of
significant assumptions, checking to estimation
methodology of ECL and checking the parameters to
external data sources;

BAETEEAE 2 ABEEBRNERLE &
Testing the accuracy of management’s calculation of
the expected credit losses; and

A ARG A M mR 46 2 RHEEERNGEZ
BEEE -

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the ECL
assessment in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REREFORBEHEENBREZARBRELERTEBMESRIREUA(REXK ) ESREE 2B ER

1l

Impairment assessment of goodwill allocated to the operating fitness centres and providing consultation
services for fitness and health activities and operating the franchise business for royalty fee income

("Fitness business”)

HREREZAMBRERY S REXRAL  WEMAKY RMABESETREEB BEERENGEZEFBHE
Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill goodwill allocated to the Fitness business included:

RTREXB HBRENGRESEREREE -

allocated to Fitness business as a key audit matter due to
the complexity and significant judgments involved in the
management’s assessment process.

AR AT IERERM T4 - 19R21FTHE  ZBEN =
“FE+ A=+ BZERE{EXR138,426,000/& 7T
ErREREREERERFGME KRB ECReELSE
U ([ReEEEM]) 2 KBS -

As disclosed in note 4, 19 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of such
goodwill, was approximately HK$138,426,000 as at 31
December 2024. Determining impairment of goodwill
required the management’s estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit (“CGU") to which the
goodwill has been allocated.

=
=
o

WEAReELEU TR Oe B (HAEREREEL
HEMZPFEEREENET)N  FAZIERRKE
FUHRE ReEFBEUREHERAREERERE
NREBBZRERALREER - #HEREHEBHERD
BZREBRRYRERNEEH G R -

In estimating the recoverable amount of the CGU which
management determined based on value in use
calculation with assistance from independent valuers, key
assumptions used include discount rates, growth rates of
budgeted sales and operating expenses and their related
cash inflows and outflows patterns for the CGU.
Significant management judgments and estimates are
required to conclude whether there is impairment loss of
goodwill need to recognise.

B hEMER e REBI
Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent valuers;

K2z BB SHERFETHERRKESR
EREAEE AXFURREREER ZRR (B
BRERE REHEHAREERX)

Evaluating the assumptions underpinning the
discounted cash flow models, including growth rates,
budgeted sales and operating expenses through
assessing the reasonableness of forecasted future
cash flows by reference to the latest business plan of
the Group;

BRI BUR MECESURETHILL - FIAEEER
BERMRBZUREXELAE
Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rates
applied in determining the value in use by
benchmarking against market data;

BRKEARKRREREEARNFEERERDERLR
WEREMERERNRE  FEEARKRRSRE
BEREER: &

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the forecasted
future cash flows by comparing them to the actual
results in the current year on a sample basis and
understanding the causes of any significant variances;
and

AHER A M RARM T2 1 B R S X BB R ER
BB -

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of goodwill of Fitness business in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process. The audit committee of the
Company (“Audit Committee”) assists the directors in discharging
their responsibilities in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors of the Company,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate Number P0O5309

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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HE-Z-_MWF+=A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-F —E=F
2024 2023
B 5 FERT FHT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue 5 897,521 809,107
$HE R AR A AR Cost of sales and services (381,364) (337,815)
EH Gross profit 516,157 471,292
H g A Other income 7 34,362 24,469
o 5 K B 18 Other gains and losses 8 (26,532) 111,162
TEHEEEEKRNATBE T2 Impairment losses under expected credit
REEE B ELE S5 loss model, net of reversal 9 (49,903) (72,350)
DERIHEER Distribution and selling expenses (437,771) (429,469)
THER Administrative expenses (86,270) (113,023)
HZE A Other expenses (34,630) (20,750)
A& B Finance costs 10 (13,392) (15,250)
B % A & 18 Loss before taxation (97,979) (43,919)
i I8 Taxation 12 (1,042) (17,196)
REREE Loss for the year 13 (99,021) (61,115)
Hi2m(ZH) WA : Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
GEE T E8EFH 7B EEi R Item that will not be reclassified
ZHEE subsequently to profit or loss:
HBEHNEBEELEZER  Exchange difference arising on
=¥ translation to presentation currency (11,682) (11,936)
FEE I BEEFT 72187 AR Item that may be reclassified subsequently
ZIEE : to profit or loss:
HIGINEREEZIEN  Exchange difference arising on
Z&E translation of foreign operations 10,202 (4,585)
RNEFHMEME L - F1k  Other comprehensive expense for the year,
A net of tax (1,480) (16,521)

AREFEEHE Y HARZE Total comprehensive expense for the year (100,501) (77,636)
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HE-Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-F =%
2024 2023
M 5 FHBT T T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
NEEBEEMLT Loss for the year attributable to:
PiNNET i Owners of the Company (75,537) (28,843)
FE 12 I e 7 Non-controlling interests (23,484) (32,272)
RNEZ B R Loss for the year (99,021) (61,115)
ANFEERAEX T EE Total comprehensive expense for the year
e ¢ attributable to:
— RNARIRER — Owners of the Company (78,588) (43,818)
— FEIERRERS — Non-controlling interests (21,913) (33,818)
(100,501) (77,636)
AL Rl
S EE Loss per share 14 HK cent HK cent

A Basic (1.35) (0.52)
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R=_ZT-_mM&E+=—F=+—H At 31 December 2024

—E-F —E=F
2024 2023
B 5 FHBT T T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
IREBEE Non-current assets
Wz - BWE KFE Property, plant and equipment 16 228,321 240,196
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 258,375 334,214
wEY Investment property 18 32,901 35,424
EES Goodwill 19 253,303 253,418
BEEE Intangible assets 20 222,546 249,630
R—REEE R Rz E= Interest in an associate 22 — —
— M E R AR Amount due from an associate 48 18,654 12,835
RIERIBE = Deferred tax assets 38 258 160
Helke Rental deposits 14,328 11,805
B Contract costs 25 1,737 1,896
1,030,423 1,139,578
REEE Current assets
e Inventories 23 85,956 98,266
FEYE 5 RIB Trade receivables 24 108,710 106,518
BRI Contract costs 25 6,062 6,361
Hip el kI8 « %4 K IE  Other receivables, deposits and
FKIE prepayments 26 55,273 45,668
Hi&RE Other investment 27 10,000 10,000
—EHR N ERAFIRK Amount due from an intermediate holding
company 48 = 9,238
— [EB & N R R 3R Amount due from an associate 48 130,389 132,346
H {th BEESE 5 R K Amounts due from other related parties 49(d) 80,034 101,701
ReMBESEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 28 80,585 77,659
557,009 587,757
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RZZZME+=F=+—H At 31 December 2024

—E-MEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
Mo aE FET FET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
REBEE Current liabilities
FERTE 5 R IE Trade payables 29 6,659 6,674
HiEMFEREWIEZS  Other payables and deposits received 30 113,643 99,592
R B Ath BEESE 5 KR Amounts due to other related parties 49(d) 9,979 7,522
MIBEE Tax liabilities 39,409 36,321
—FRR B RITEE Bank borrowings due within one year 31 88,054 39,546
18 J5 B AN B A Provision of reinstatement cost 39 1,227 —
IR IEUT A Deferred income 32 214 218
BHEE Contract liabilities 33 120,674 127,593
HESE Lease liabilities 40 62,453 66,134
442,312 383,600
REEEFHE Net current assets 114,697 204,157
BEERABEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,145,120 1,343,735
B A R & Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 34 11,177 11,177
f& 10w 18 K wE Share premium and reserves 37 967,524 1,046,112
RN AR R EG Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 978,701 1,057,289
IR Non-controlling interests (17,165) 4,657
EmAE Total equity 961,536 1,061,946
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R=_ZT-_mM&E+=—F=+—H At 31 December 2024

—E-MEF —E-=F
2024 2023
Mo aE FET FAT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000

ERBEE Non-current liabilities
—FRIBZRITEE Bank borrowings due after one year 31 — 12,801
R IR Deferred taxation 38 25,795 40,434
18 JR B AN B Provision for reinstatement cost 39 10,359 12,230
PEIEUT A Deferred income 32 748 982
HEBE Lease liabilities 40 146,682 215,342
183,584 281,789
1,145,120 1,343,735

FIU0BEF29B GV BHRERE The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 299 were
—HE-AZtN\BEESTeHEREET approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

B WA NIEERKREE - 28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf by:
E AR BEF
Wang Feifei Guo Zixiu
EF EF

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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HE-Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

RARREREE
Attributable to the owners of the Company
R %R
A
BE  RiEE 2B EXRE  RRRE  EARE  AbRE  REEW & FERER  BREER
Shares held
for share Non-
Share Share award  Translation Special Capital Other Retained controlling Total
capital  premium scheme reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
TEL FiEL FhT TEL FiEL FhT TEL FiEL FhT TEL FiET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(M 5E37()) (BitE3760)
(note 37(i)) (note 37(if)
W=Z2-=%-f-H At 1 January 2023 1177 1,523,949 (4,854) (30,387)  (392,735) 28,457 (87,489) 52,989 1,101,107 55174 1,156,281
rEEEBR Loss for the year = = = = = = — (28843 (8843 (3227 (61,115
FERAMREXE Other comprehensive expenses for
the year:
— HRRIEBELCEREE — Exchange difference arising on
translation to presentation currency - - - (11,441) - - - - (11,441) (495) (11,936)
— BB EBEECEREE — Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations = = = (3,534) = = = = (3,534) (1,051) (4,585)
AEERENLAS Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — (14,975) — — — (28,843) (43,818) (33,818) (77,636)
HERBAR (KEa1) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) — — - — — - — — - (16699)  (16,699)
R-E-=%+-A=1+-8 At 31 December 2023 1,177 1,523,949 (4,854) (45,362)  (392,735) 28 457 (87,489) 24146 1,057,289 4,657 1,061,946
AR ERREE
Attributable to the owners of the Company
ARRZR
bg o] REEH
ks ROER <Rt EXGE  RERE  EREE  EREE  (RHER B FEREE  REEE
Shares held Retained
for share profits Non-
Share Share award  Translation Special Capital Other (accumulated controlling
capital premium scheme reserve reserve reserve reserves losses) Total interests  Total equity
TER Tz TEn TER Tz TEn TER T TEn TER T#n
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
(W&370)) (B&37i)
(note 37(i)) (note 37ii))
RZZ-RmE-A-R At 1 January 2024 177 1,523,949 (4,854) (45,362) (392,735) 28,457 (87,489) 24,146 1,057,289 4,657 1,061,946
TEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (75,531) (75,531) (23.484) (99,021)
FEEEHRALL Other comprehensive expense for the year:
—ABSSIENELVENER — Exchange difference arising on tranlation to
presentation currency - - - (10,569) - - - - (10,569) (1,113) (11,682)
— ABENFHELCENER — Exchange difference arising on translation of
foreign operations - - - 7518 - - - - 7518 2,684 10,202
FERRAXHEE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - (3,051) - - - (75,531) (78,588) 1913) (100501
HH-EHEAA Deregistration of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 9 91
RZF-ME+-A=1-H At 31 December 2024 11 1,523,949 (4,854) (48,413) (392,735) 28,457 (87,489) (51,391) 978,701 (17,165) 961,536
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—E-F —T=%F
2024 2023
FHBT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEXK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B #% A A 18 Loss before taxation (97,979) (43,919)
FTFIIEE EE 2 % Adjustments for:
BT E Amortisation and depreciation 99,129 107,164
SEMEERERIE Impairment losses on financial assets, net of

MR L& 8 reversal 49,903 72,350
FFEr e R E R 18 Impairment loss on franchise agreement 18,816 —
HEMH B AR Z WS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries — (110,491)
BT %8 Bh Mo 4 B Government grant and subsidy (217) (220)
& KA Finance costs 13,392 15,250
B WA Interest income (5,816) (3,502)
HERMEME - BER Net loss on disposal and write-off of property,

BB BIEFEE plant and equipment 25 722
EBEHNREH L 2WE  Gain on lease modification and reassessment (320) (352)
HERMEEFEEEE  Loss on disposal and written off of

intangible assets 1,120 5,543
LEESEHA 2 EEIHE  Operating cash inflow before movements in
A working capital 78,053 42,545
FERA GEm) Decrease (increase) in inventories 10,822 (6,169)
fE U B 5 FRIE 0 Increase in trade receivables (5,202) (19,945)
HEUWTRIE #& KFERT  (Increase) decrease in other receivables, deposits
FRIA (3 hn) and prepayments (6,849) 41,109
B XA A (3E ) Decrease (increase) in contract costs 206 (1,647)
— FEI Bk & 2 ) R SRAE N Increase in amount due from an associate (32,141) (39,917)
ABHAECRD) LM (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (3,096) 54,298
FEATE 5 FRIEE 10 Ot ) Increase (decrease) in trade payables 170 (806)
H e E0E K B WIREIE N Increase (decrease) in other payables and deposits
CR2) received 16,838 (11,050)
18R P A B A5 Decrease in provision for reinstatement cost (63) (1,414)
LEELECZHES Cash generated from operations 58,738 57,004
B ETEH Income tax paid (11,692) (19,885)
EEXBELFMAZEREFEHE NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 47,046 37,119
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—E-mEF =%
2024 2023
FHBT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
REXHK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
HEME  BRERZEZ Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
Fr{8 5018 equipment 137 286
BEME  BWERRERE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (13,637) (23,923)
e FEmiae Release of rental deposits — 1,554
GEHEESES Placement of rental deposits (435) —
NEBTEE Addition of intangible assets — (272)
HEREEE ZFISHIE Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 20 —
ERT—HEH#E R Loans to an associate (12,796) (25,420)
—EE R RER Repayment from an associate 10,143 —
REREES Subscription of investment fund (10,000) (35,000)
E“"@&é{ﬁéZFﬁﬁ?ﬁ’\ Proceeds from redemption of investment fund 10,000 45,000
HENBARFESZIRE  Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries
mAFEE (FM1sEa1) (note 41) 9,252 179,842
B U F B Interest received 1,301 2,076
REXBK(MA)EXZ NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM
HEFH INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,015) 144,143
BMEXK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
B FI B Interest paid (13,392) (16,436)
%ﬂﬁfifﬂﬁﬁ New bank borrowings raised 69,279 28,883
EERITEE Repayments of bank borrowings (31,673) (129,522)
EEHEBBE A Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (66,735) (65,139)
’E—EHN TWHQATZ 5% Advance from an intermediate holding company — 1,800
M — MR R B ER Repayment to an intermediate holding company — (1,805)
2R B H BB 77 #25R Repayment to other related parties — (16,593)
RMEXKIARETHE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (42,521) (198,812)
BERBESEEYWRAFEE  NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (1,490) (17,550)
FOZRERRLSEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR 77,659 122,595
EXEH B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,416 (27,386)
FRZEAESRASEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR 80,585 77,659
BN Represented by
WITHEBRERE Bank balances and cash 80,585 77,659
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—REH

EEREFREBGRAR ([ARF]) R
FEHBEERFNRERFE(—NR—
FEOIFR3ER BEAREF R _-F
——$=A_+—HERSESEMK
MA—RERREERAR - KRB 2K
ME-_E——F—A+tN\BEREBH
EBRSMBRAR (TBEAFT]) £ - H
IEERA/TEREEEREBRAT
(—EREBRABESFEMAL A
BERRAR) - EBZRERBERBEAARDE
ARKME ([HE]) LTEE ARBITE
BEEEEEEZEE - AREIEMM
ZREETBERMWE A RNAERD
BRI ARKE

ARrREWMB AR (REAIAEE])
TERFAETERENBEEER (B
L% - R ZE([[REIEE]) RIRE 2
M)  KRERFFLRREHIZSME
Bt RIS A S S & R RIS A S 47
AHREBERA - ARRIA—HREERA
Al EMBRARZEREBENME
53 -

REMBHRRABIT(ET) 2% 8
IRARBIZHEEEARE(TAR
%) RARAKAREZR/EBETHS
BAKEZHBERZ D -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kontafarma China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 21 March 2011 under the Companies
Law, Chapter. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company
have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18 January 2012. Its
substantial shareholder is China Health Management
Investment Limited, a private limited company which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate beneficial
owner is State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Shan Xi Provincial Government* (L& AR
BFEEEELEEEIELZEE) of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing
and sales of drugs, including chemical drugs, active
pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”) and API intermediate in the
PRC, operating of fitness centres and provision of consultation
services for fitness and health activities and operating of the
franchise business for royalty fee income. The Company acts
as an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 53.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"”) which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”), as the directors
of the Company consider that HK$ will facilitate analysis of
the financial information of the Group.
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2.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional

EL+ZEAABBENER  UGARE guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
DEARDBGERBEE - RHMAR least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
EEHME S liabilities as current or non-current, which:

3 specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity

BEONKRATEA - & E 2 KK instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
THERXSGHFEENEERERA that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
GeBRATAZEE - AIRBEERE its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity

BEAEAGHEERRIH
TRZZ B2 EREBERR
BATAE  ZFHEITTEF
BEERRBUIERED 2D -

instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments. Presentation.
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2.

HE-Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant
is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants)
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information about the
covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts
and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may
have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification of
liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows stating that an entity is required to
disclose information about its supplier finance arrangements
that enables users of financial statements to assess the effects
of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash
flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was
amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example
within the requirements to disclose information about an
entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity is not
required to disclose comparative information for any reporting
periods presented before the beginning of the annual
reporting period in the first year of application as well as the
information required by HKAS 7:44 (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) above as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies those amendments.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendment to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

215RAERT AR
BV BmEE SsRIAEHEHR
AIEIRRBE  FTEEBEIA?
B 75 &5 22 R
FETRIEFTA
BEANBmMELE KREBEHEHBE
BIZE105E & UNCIE AR /N
BERtERE RZEZEE
285RAERT AN &I Al
BV BmMEE BEYBRSE
Az 2528 Bl & 5T 22 B &9
BRI FEUE —
F111H=2
BEYBRELE HHREHZT
BIJZE 185% EA % 7R3

U R-ZE_AF—A— B Z2EHBN t

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

HKFRS 18

F [ B A 2025
2 RZZE-_ R "F—A—BsZ2EAKRKN 2
FEHBER 2026
E R-BE-_t+tF— A —BZ2%&ABRN 3
FEHBAER 2027
3 RERFTE B AERRZ FE 8/ 4
R determined

B T XTI AT R RS AT I BB B S 4R
9 B @ HE RS

=]

EUBRRERERTE -

ARBEEHAHE
FFTE B3 5] REERT MBI
SR ERE TSR R KR E &

Associate or Joint Venture*

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 112

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no

other new and

material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and add
an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment of
whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being
compensated for rather than the compensation amount.
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a
basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some
cases, a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash
flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
both before and after the change in contractual cash flows,
but the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate
directly to changes in basic lending risks and costs.
Furthermore, the description of the term “non-recourse” is
enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually linked
instruments” are clarified in the amendments.
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2.

HE-Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during the
period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative
gain or loss within equity related to the investments
derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect
the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have material impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that
does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting
from the remeasurement of investments retained in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
material impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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2.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments specify how to assess whether a currency is
exchangeable, and how to determine the exchange rate when
it is not.

The amendments state that a currency is exchangeable into
another currency when an entity is able to obtain the other
currency within a time frame that allows for a normal
administrative delay and through a market or exchange
mechanism in which an exchange transaction would create
enforceable rights and obligations.

An entity assesses whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency at a measurement date and for a specified
purpose. If an entity is able to obtain no more than an
insignificant amount of the other currency at the
measurement date for the specified purpose, the currency is
not exchangeable into the other currency.

The assessment of whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency depends on an entity’s ability to obtain the
other currency and not on its intention or decision to do so.

When a currency is not exchangeable into another currency at
a measurement date, an entity is required to estimate the spot
exchange rate at that date. An entity’s objective in estimating
the spot exchange rate is to reflect the rate at which an
orderly exchange transaction would take place at the
measurement date between market participants under
prevailing economic conditions.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
(Continued)

The amendments do not specify how an entity estimates the
spot exchange rate to meet that objective. An entity can use
an observable exchange rate without adjustment or another
estimation technique. Examples of an observable exchange
rate include:

° a spot exchange rate for a purpose other than that for
which an entity assesses exchangeability;

3 the first exchange rate at which an entity is able to obtain
the other currency for the specified purpose after
exchangeability of the currency is restored (first
subsequent exchange rate).

An entity using another estimation technique may use any
observable exchange rate — including rates from exchange
transactions in markets or exchange mechanisms that do not
create enforceable rights and obligations — and adjust that
rate, as necessary, to meet the objective as set out above.

When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a
currency is not exchangeable into another currency, the entity
is required to disclose information that enables users of its
financial statements to understand how the currency not
being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is
expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial
position and cash flows.

The amendments add a new appendix as an integral part of
HKAS 21. The appendix includes application guidance on the
requirements introduced by the amendments. The
amendments also add new lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKAS 21, which illustrate how an entity might apply some of
the requirements in hypothetical situations based on the
limited facts presented.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
(Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with earlier application
permitted. An entity is not permitted to apply the
amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity is required to
apply the specific transition provisions included in the
amendments.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
material impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, at the end of each reporting
period as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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3.

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of
inputs, as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income of
subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

REZBER  AEBESREMREARZ Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
MEmE A ZERAR 2T BUERE statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
REBZEHBEKE—H - line with the Group's accounting policies.
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BREeRENGE AR BB H

WK R B Z FFE R i o B AN R (B 2
BOREY - ZFEBRER THE AR
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All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs") (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGU). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent period.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described below.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investment in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investment in associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

— Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

— Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

— Step 3: Determine the transaction price

— Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

— Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained. The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions)
as an asset if it expects to recover these costs.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those goods or
services that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within
one year.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the
contract,. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property are
presented within “investment properties”. If an right-of-use
asset becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, the
carrying amount at the date of change in use is transferred to
investment property.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the carrying amount of the relevant right-of-use asset
is transferred to property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use asset.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
structures owned by the Group and held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose, and other than construction in
progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, other than construction in progress, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination with finite useful lives are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives and
contract costs to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or group
of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the CGU or group of
CGUs.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group
assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other assets
related to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable
standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised
as contract costs is recognised to the extent the carrying
amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that
the Group expects to receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the costs which relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses.
The assets capitalised as contract costs are then included in
the carrying amount of the CGU to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of CGU. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
difference. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a

HEEEBE - LI - MRREZERY) transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
IRHEREEMESL @ TS BAELR accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
HEE - give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
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differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interest in an associate except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

HEBRELEZHEEBRERR - items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Group (i.e. HK$); and (i) the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations denominated in RMB are also translated
into HK$, using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). The accumulated exchange
differences arising from translation into presentation currency
will not be recycled to profit and loss.
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3.

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group's net assets in Singapore Dollars and Renminbi to the
Group’s presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in
the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently,

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
(including Mandatory Provident Fund and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes) are recognised as an expense

IR R FER B - when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Short term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expenses unless other
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will
result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Provision for reinstatement cost

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their
original condition, as required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, are recognised at the date of inception of the lease
at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would
be required to restore the assets, estimates are regularly
reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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3.

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding;

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

()

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3.

HE-Z-_MF+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount due from
an associate or other related parties, rental deposits and cash
and cash equivalents) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(@

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(@

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have

occurred.
credit-impaired

Evidence that a financial asset is
includes observable data about the

following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, and forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amounts due
from other related parties and amount due from an
associate where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.



198
EZEEREEAMRAT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-Z-_MWF+=A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. EARSHEER(E) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

ETMEENSORFBENRE - XK
EeERMAEERERIBER(BEE
HRR)  FEEETNERIECTER
HREGREEXNER - fiE HEF G
EEwm  RMREBEFGINRASREN
MR E(BREMDNERTNREM
BEWER UEMRRERFNKRER)HE
ReMEENKRRESRENMREAE
(MR E M REAER) HEED
Bazt AXAKERRZFGRBE
RER o

ATEEHERMEERILEANTERKR
EmE  HECREENREE/S
ReMEENRERNXRNLER]
BHRTRENBREAE -ELENRD
KAKERCHABRERETCHEEN
BREE - YRR NFHTASE - S/
BEREENTMNARNMESRBEHER
= ARTER ©

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, after
reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value
of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of
the modified financial assets and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
and deposit received, amounts due to other related parties
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

BRPRAEFENE T LTAERA The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
REEEERAANEESTHERBERAT involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
fE 2 B A - MRS Mgk Company have made in the process of applying the Group's

MR ETREEREATE -

ETeEsEEESONER

AEERAAEBNEEEEREAEAR
BEERERNHEESN(LESEEH
REMBEHONEE)HEY - AR

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Determination of lease term of contracts with renewal
options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease term for
lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal
option, specifically, the leases relating to offices and fitness

ENREEERERTHEEAENTMG centres. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably
AN mMAEBRABSYE IR certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term,
ECENERAREENSRBEEARY which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and

2 o BTN EERNEE AL %‘J%ﬁ
lWH%Q%ﬁZEK?@&EK\
BERFHET -

right-of-use assets recognised. Re-assessment is performed
upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances that is within the control
of lessee and that affects the assessment.
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4.

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Determination of lease term of contracts with renewal
options (Continued)

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances including economic
incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the
options. Factors considered include:

o contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with market rates (e.g. whether the amount
of payments in the optional periods is below the market
rates);

3 the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by
Group; and

° costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation
costs, costs of identifying another underlying asset
suitable for the Group’s needs).

Method of measuring progress for performance
obligation satisfied over-time

Under HKFRS 15, revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised by a single method for each performance
obligation satisfied over time and the method should be
applied consistently to similar performance obligations in
similar circumstances. The Group has considered that the
output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of services transferred to the
customers to date relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract, would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. Accordingly, revenue recognised from provision of
membership packages in fitness centres is based on output
method.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, amount due from
an associate and amounts due from other related parties

Except for debtors become credit-impaired which assess
expected credit losses on individual basis, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables. The
provision rates and matrix are based on the Group's historical
default rates from debtors with similar loss patterns taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The Group assesses ECL for amount due from an associate
and amounts due from other related parties by taking
reference to individual ageing profile and internal credit rating
of respective debtors to determine whether there is significant
increase in credit risk and whether credit impaired so as to
project the individual loss rate. At every reporting date, these
loss rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s trade receivables, amount due
from an associate and amounts due from other related parties
are set out in notes 24, 48 and 49(d) respectively.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, amount due from
an associate and amounts due from other related parties
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$108,710,000 (2023: HK$106,518,000) (net
of credit losses of HK$2,597,000 (2023: HK$2,856,000).
Details of the allowance for credit losses are set out in note
46.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of amount due
from an associate is HK$149,043,000 (2023:
HK$145,181,000) (net of credit losses of HK$167,007,000
(2023: HK$135,784,000). The carrying amount of amounts
due from other related parties are HK$80,034,000 (2023:
HK$101,701,000) (net of credit losses of HK$43,530,000
(2023: HK$32,552,000)). Details of the allowance for credit
losses are set out in note 46.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill, trademark and franchise
agreement are impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the CGUs to which goodwill,
trademark and franchise agreement have been allocated,
which is the higher of value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the present value of the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGUs containing goodwill, trademark and
franchise agreement using suitable discount rates, growth
rates for budgeted revenue and operating expenses and
related cash inflows and outflows patterns. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of
growth rates for budgeted revenue or upward revision of
discount rates or budgeted operating expenses, or change in
related cash inflows or outflows patterns, an impairment loss
may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount
rates are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties
due to uncertainty on how the enhancement of mental and
physical awareness people in the countries the Group entities
operating may progress and evolve. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are set out in note 21.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of goodwill,
trademark and franchise agreement are approximately
HK$253,303,000, HK$92,876,000 and HK$127,128,000.
(2023: HK$253,418,000, HK$92,876,000 and
HK$152,456,000) respectively. Details of the impairment of
goodwill, trademark and franchise agreement are disclosed in
notes 19, 20 and 21.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycle. Management reassesses the estimations at end
of each reporting period.
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5. WA 5. REVENUE

(A) REEFEFEHNZW BN

(A) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

RERREBEZWADHFTWMT

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as

follows:
S )2 ZZ-=F
2024 2023
BEER BEEHR @ BEEK eSS it
Pharmaceutical Fitness Pharmaceutical
business business Total business  Fitness business Total
FET TAL TER TET FHT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBHBEREENE155EE  Revenue from contracts with
ANRBEEFEHZEA customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15
REIEERIARBEAS Disaggregated by major products
or services lines
BEREEER  BEKE  Manufacture and sales of drugs,
Z RRERRERER including chemical drugs, API
i and APl intermediate 682,086 - 682,086 607,131 — 607,131
mEEgHROREEESME  Operation of fitness centres and
RABHARE provision of consultation services
for fitness and health activities
— BAFIRRE — personal training classes - 69,707 69,707 — 65,982 65,982
— BEER — membership packages - 109,194 109,194 — 96,824 96,824
EBRSLBRERE 2HFE  Royalty fee income in relation to
BEHA fitness and health activities - 36,534 36,534 — 39,170 39,170
st Total 682,086 215,435 897,521 607,131 201,976 809,107
O8N0 Timing of revenue recognition
E-RREE Point in time 682,086 69,707 751,793 607,131 65,982 673,113
BE s Over time - 145,728 145,728 — 135,994 135,994
@5t Total 682,086 215,435 897,521 607,131 201,976 809,107
HETE Geographical markets
B i Mainland China 650,149 — 650,149 592,366 = 592,366
% Singapore - 178,901 178,901 — 162,806 162,806
ag Taiwan 897 36,534 37,431 — 39,170 39,170
Hity Others 31,040 - 31,040 14,765 = 14,765
b Total 682,086 215,435 897,521 607,131 201,976 809,107
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5. WA (&) 5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(B) EFEHNZEHNERE

(B) Performance obligations for contracts with
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BUCH - &5 BUR R ER WA
ZERNEBE BHRS REER
BZRTEBRARBENEEE
i By [ s ) AR

customers

For manufacture and sales of drugs, including chemical
drugs, APl and API intermediate, revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been delivered to the designated
location (delivery). The normal credit period is 30 to 180
days upon delivery. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits.

For provision of personal training classes in fitness
centres, revenue is recognised at point in time when the
customers obtain the control of the services. For
provision of membership packages in fitness centres,
revenue is recognised over time when the control of the
services have been transferred to the customers. Trade
receivables mainly represent receivables from financial
institutions in relation to the payment settled through
using credit cards by individual customers of which the
settlement is shortly after transaction date. Transaction
price is always received in advance in full for prepaid
membership packages or personal training classes and
this will give rise to contract liabilities in which revenue
has not been recognised. Royalty fee income in relation
to fitness and health activities is recognised over time
when the performance obligation has been satisfied.
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5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(C) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

—ElmF —E_=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
—F R Within one year 103,633 110,466
—F A E BT BBRE More than one year but not more
than two years 24,091 25,145
M LA BB R More than two years but not
more than five years 1 111
127,735 135,722

6. DEEFR
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive of the Company,
being the chief operation decision maker (the “CODM"), for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on business units. The Group reorganised
its internal reporting structure which resulted in changes to
the composition of its reportable segments.

Segment revenue, result, assets and liabilities

The Directors have chosen to organise the Group around
differences in products and services. The Group is principally
engaged in pharmaceutical and fitness business.

° Pharmaceutical business — manufacture and sales of
drugs, including chemical drugs, APl and API
intermediate.

3 Fitness business — operate fitness centres and provide

consultation services for fitness and health activities and
operate the franchise business for royalty fee income.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products or services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.
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6. ZHEEHR(A) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i) PBURARESE (i) Segment revenue and results
AT LA 2 WA & 5 2B 8 A The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
SEWAREEN DN - results by reportable and operating segments.
BEER BEER i
Pharmaceutical business Fitness business Total
“WE —ERCO=F ZEIQNF —T-=F ZEBRE T -=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
THET FHET THET FHET THET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

INRBEEDEBUA  Segment revenue from

external customers 682,086 607,131 215,435 201,976 897,521 809,107
DEEE Segment results 6,956 69,607 (71,753)  (81,470)  (64,797) (11,863)
ADEMAEZEWRA  Unallocated corporate

income 5,755 2,907
ROBEERAT Unallocated corporate

expenses (38,937) (34,963)
BRI ES 18 Loss before taxation (97,979) (43,919)
D IR R ET IR B S 3 A The accounting policies of the operating segments are
NAEENEABEMER - DH the same as the Group's accounting policies described in
FEEARDE LD EWAMFA note 3. Segment results represent the profit earned by
X AR &S S B A& 1 (R (loss from) each segment without allocation of certain
RER) AR AEEEEES corporate income and expenses. This is the measure
REERENTE  UEERS reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of
B AR IR GG A& o resource allocation and performance assessment.

HE_ZTZ_HNEFR_ZTZ
TZA=+—HRLEFEARALE
EBEHE ©

There was no inter-segment sales during the years
¥3) ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

ﬁ‘ll\
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6. TEEHR (&)

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) ?HEERERE (ii) Segment assets and liabilities
AT B 1L 7] 2 B & 5 20 8 A The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and
SENEERBEND liabilities by reportable and operating segments:
BEEK BEEK ot
Pharmaceutical business Fitness business Total
“BCME —FTo-F CBOME —T--F ZE-@MF —To=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TER THT TER THL TER FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SBEE Segment assets 725,666 782,770 798,934 878,749 1,524,600 1,661,519
EERBEEE Deferred tax assets 258 160
APECEEE Unallocated corporate assets 62,574 65,656
RREE Consolidated assets 1,587,432 1,727,335
BEEK BEEK BE
Pharmaceutical business Fitness business Total
“$-@E —%- % -¥-BF —$--F “B-RF —5-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TER THT TER THT TER TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SBaE Segment labilities 176,654 109,656 375432 467,155 552,086 576811
REARE Tax liabilities 39,409 36,321
ERRBAR Deferred tax liabilities 25,795 40,434
AOBEEBE Unallocated corporate liabilities 8,606 11,823
GEARE Consolidated liabilities 625,896 665,389
BEFES E‘B%i@&ﬁ” & o B For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
BRmE : and allocating resources between segments:
. FTEEENRELEHEL e all assets are allocated to operating segments other
’\‘ET\’E%LL%RIEQF&* than deferred tax assets and unallocated corporate
NEEEFEEE  RARZS assets as these assets are managed on a group
BEKRMEHNELEER & basis; and
. FIBERESEELED T - . all liabilities are allocated to operating segments

HETBEEMEAR  ELTH
REERADECEREE
REARBZE A ERARIELE
B o

other than tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and
unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.
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(iii) Other segment information

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

BELEY REEH KB @zt
Pharmaceutical business Fitness business Unallocated Total
—B-mE -—ZT-=F ZB-NE -—F-=4F4 ZF-ME -T--F ZB-NE -—T-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TiEn T THEr THT TiEn Tin TiEn THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FARTEER A FEEFEZ  Amounts included in the
2l measure of segments
results or segment assets:
REFRDEE Addition to non-current
assets* 15,380 38,106 1327 19,337 - 19 22,707 57,462
BHERTE Amortisation and depreciation 21,836 28,828 74,464 75,515 2,829 2,821 99,129 107,164
RHAEEBHBEAETZHE  Impairment losses under
B IREDeE expected credit loss
model, net of reversal 12,545 11,225 29,360 51,017 7,998 10,108 49,903 72,350
R G ABERRBMA)  Write-down of inventories
(included in cost of sales
and services) - 1,554 - = - = - 1,554
HERMENE - BMEREZEZ  Net loss on disposal and
EBRFE write-off of property,
plant and equipment - 292 25 430 - — 25 722
RERMMEENEEHEFE  Net loss on disposal and
written off of intangible
assets - 5,543 862 - 258 — 1,120 5,543
RENBARZz WA Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries - (110,491) - = - = - (110,491)
FlEMA Interest income (688) (1,020) (206) — (4,922) (2,482) (5,816) (3,502)
MER% Interest expenses 1,406 2726 11,578 12,006 408 518 13392 15,250
THRATEELERRERT  Amounts reqularly provided to
EIASTREEN G the CODM but not
included in the measure
of segment results:
FiEBiE: (Ee) Income tax expenses (credit) 3,217 22,514 (5,483) (5318) 3,308 — 1,082 17,19
* IRNBEETEBREMEER * The non-current assets exclude financial assets and

BERBEE

deferred tax assets
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6. ZHEHR(A) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(iv) BBEFXTEEFEF2EH (iv) Information about major customers
HMEFEMAEEHEES AFEER Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
10% 8RB ZEFRWALT - contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group

are as follows:

BEILEE
Year ended
—EomE —E-=4F
2024 2023
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000
ZEA Customer A' 154,932 134,537
FFB Customer B’ N/ATIE 2 86,072
L RE B 2B 1 Revenue from Pharmaceutical business
2 TR M A SR &R B 48 5T U A A 2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10%
BRI EBE10% of the total revenue of the Group
(v) HEER (v) Geographical information
RNE Bz @ B A R The Group's operations are mainly located in the
i - BEAREBEIERBEEDN Mainland China and Singapore. Information about the
BEREREE ZHIBA BRI ° Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the

geographical location of the assets.

kREBEE
Non-current assets
—E-mEF —E-=F
2024 2023
TH&x F&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
A A i Mainland China 415,308 434,700
T hnig Singapore 558,120 656,625
BB Hong Kong 23,755 23,453
997,183 1,114,778
e ERBEETRIFEEREBE Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets and

EREBIAE- financial instruments.
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Het A

7. OTHER INCOME

—E-ImEF —E=5F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RERITZFEMA Interest income from banks 540 1,143
RE—MEHRNIER AR ZFE  Interest income from an intermediate
WA holding company 361 —
RKEH T EBE QAR ERZ Interest income from loans to an
B WA associate 4,515 1,817
REEMTE ZFERA Interest income from other investment 400 542
5,816 3,502
I8 %8 Bh Kz 483 R Government grant and subsidy
—IREW AR (FFE32) — release from deferred income
(note 32) 217 220
— A (W) — related to expenses (note i) 7,792 5,669
— B B AE A (B 5Zii) — related to employment (note ii) 2,404 2,064
EL WA Rental income 3,629 3,680
AR 75 A Service income 1,105 280
FETRW A Sundry income 13,399 9,054
34,362 24,469
M- SEEXRFELCEEENBAIH AR Note i The amount represented financial subsidies received for

HiEEii

o5 80424 BV B O 30 0 B IR 73
B - 34 75 B B 0 R AR M P ok
SASEIE - BT ER AR B BT AR 2 4
MR -

Bt EB BB EZHH M
R B4 A9 o =X hn 3 4 Bh At )
(MEEXmE T2 D EE ©A
1,690,000 T (=% = = 4 :
1,335,000/ 7T.) © &3 =X 0 % 4 B 51
BT FREREMESHBRE - AE@EE
BERBRE NGB HEEBE27
BIEMKA] > MIERDHEBRAL -
B2 EN A AR R WG
HE MK REIE o

Note ii:

compensating expenses already incurred or giving immediate
financial support to the Group. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies in relation to the grants and the
grants were determined at the sole discretion of relevant
government authorities.

Government grant related to employment mainly arose from the
Progress Wage Credit Scheme (“PWCS”) introduced by the
Singapore government of approximately HK$1,690,000 (2023:
HK$1,335,000). The PWCS supported employers to expend
local hiring. The Group has elected to present this government
grant separately in profit or loss as “other income”, rather than
reducing the related expense. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies attached to the receipts of those
subsidies.
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8. HttWz=ERER 8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
—E-MmF —T=F
2024 2023
FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
&5 (E518) s /55 Net foreign exchange (loss) gain (7.822) 5,125
HE NS ER S E 2 B518/%  Net loss on disposal and written off of
L) intangible assets (1,120) (5,543)
HERMEDEE - BEK&ZME Net loss on disposal and write-off of
2 BEFRE property, plant and equipment, net (25) (722)
HENE AT ZUES (M5E41) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
(note 41) — 110,491
HEE Rz W Gain on lease modification 320 352
FrEr Rl E R B (f5E20)  Impairment loss on franchise agreement
(note 20) (18,816) =
H A Others 931 1,459
(26,532) 111,162

9. FEHEEFEERETNZREME 9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

EE HKREEE£EE CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL
—ETF T =4F

2024 2023

FHT Tt

HK$'000 HK$'000

FLIA T EIB (HER) BBl 28 fE Impairment losses (recognised) reversed

18 on:
— EWE 5 HKIE — Trade receivables (2,719) (375)
— HihEWRIBE R IES — Other receivables and deposits (400) 890
— — A E QT RR — Amount due from an associate (35,449) (61,195)
— Ha @ R—FEFRN — Amounts due from other related
2 FNEIDNE parties and an intermediate
holding company (11,335) (11,670)
(49,903) (72,350)
BWEN AF BRI F46[ EE R R Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 46 under

A o “Credit Risk".
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. AE A 10. FINANCE COSTS
—E-mEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
MEBER Interests on:

— RITER — Bank loans 2,480 4,991

— ke —EARNERR A — Loan from an intermediate
BN holding company — 5
HEAENE Interests on lease liabilities 10,912 11,440
13,392 16,436

W EREIRER S Less: Amount capitalised under
construction in progress — (1,186)

13,392 15,250
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11.

BEE - BRETHAE -EER 11

EREBAEME

AERZEE R=TBAER

=P

SREEZABMERE ETRAIREE
D BVGRPI T AR TE 2 58 R R B R I R

DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S,

EMPLOYEES' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS

Emoluments of directors, chief executive, employees and senior
management for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable
disclosures required by the Listing Rules and Hong Kong

T Companies Ordinance are as follows:
EERESTHRAEMS Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
ENSENEEREEHNTESEZM The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and
2T the Chief Executive Officer were as follows:
BE-ZB-NE+=B=+-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
H2/MEE BRRAHE BRER
EExHe REMEA ZIA sHEIHR MemE
Emoluments paid or payable
in respect of a person’s services as Salaries/ Retirement
REALTES a director, whether of service fee  Performance benefits
(FHRBFDIREMBAAER) the Company and its subsidiary Directors’ and other related scheme Total
BHEARESHHE undertakings fees benefits bonuses contributions  emoluments
FET TET FET TET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
HREGTERGTES Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director:
Bt (HEE2) Mr. Jiang Chaowen (note 2) 4 890 — 174 1,068
#i7 Executive Directors:
fﬂxﬁ%i(ﬁ 1) Mr. Wang Feifei (note 1) — - — - —
BBt (fizE1) Ms. Qiao Linna (note 1) — - — - —
BEFLL (HaE1) Ms. Guo Zixiu (note 1) — 63 — 42 105
ZIR1B £ (HaE1) Mr. Liu Jiankun (note 1) — - — — —
SERAEE (HE2) Mr. Chai Hongjie (note 2) — — — — —
HEEEAE (fiF2) Mr. Bai Pingyan (note 2) — - — - —
HartE (HF3) Mr. Huang Yu (note 3) 3 425 — 26 454
FHTES: Non-Executive Director:
HarnE (H3) Mr. Huang Yu (note 3) 7 712 — 31 750
BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors:
HEEEL (Fa1) Dr. Tang Lai Wah (note 1) 6 62 — — 68
A R&E L (k1) Dr. Ho Ho Ming (note 1) 6 62 — - 68
#hNR S (HEET) Mr. Yao Xiaomin (note 1) 6 62 — - 68
PR B A (HaE2) Mr. Chan Sze Chung (note 2) 4 47 — - 51
%Efmﬁ,%i(mﬁﬂ Mr. Zhang Ruibin (note 2) 4 47 — - 51
K& E (fEE2) Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack (note 2) 4 47 — - 51
1 2,417 - 273 2,734
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EE - BRE{TRAS B8R 11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S,
EREY Aé@ﬂé( ] EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
EERERETHRAEME (&) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
M1 BIEREEFRAG BB T B RE Note 1: Following the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
R ZEEFE= Y_V_Eli/\ﬂtEl meeting, these directors are appointed as executive and

HREZERATESTRBIIFNTE

EFo

M2 BIBERRBAFASHE
R ZEESFSE-_T-_MNF~AtH
RRERTESRBILIERTES -
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independent non-executive directors from 7 June 2024.

B EERE Note 2: Following the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting, these directors retired as executive and independent
non-executive directors from 7 June 2024.

M3 : makED EE*M‘T%%EHEE?%$ Gl Note 3: Mr. Huang Yu has been re-designated from an executive director
FHMITEE BT _MFEMA TLj_L to a non-executive director of the Company with effect from
BB 19 April 2024.

BE-Z-=F+-A=T+—-HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
e/ REE RREHE RREA
EEHE  REMEF TR BE 3N [t
Emoluments paid or payable
in respect of a person’s services Salaries/ Retirement

REAAETES as a director, whether of service fee  Performance benefits

(TmABRRAKENBRRER) the Company and its subsidiary Directors’ and other related scheme Total

BBBENIEROME undertakings fees benefits bonuses  contributions  emoluments

FHET FTET FHET FTET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HREGTERGTES Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director:

et E Mr. Jiang Chaowen 10 1,631 1,549 167 3,357

HTES Executive Directors:

BaKL Mr. Huang Yu 10 1,618 — 46 1,674

BRNEE Mr. Chai Hongjie — — — — —

HEELE Mr. Bai Pingyan = = = = =

BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive

Directors:

fRBRLAE Mr. Chan Sze Chung 10 108 — — 118

SR 5 A Mr. Zhang Ruibin 10 108 = = 118

RIEEEAE Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack 10 108 = = 118

50 3,573 1,549 213 5,385

AREREFZREDTHRA BB B S
MEEeEE  ETRZEREAXRALT

5BE -

The remuneration of directors and the chief executive of the
Company were determined by the remuneration committee

having regard to the performance of individual and market

trends.
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M. B5  BEITBRAE - EER
rjn E&ﬂiu*\EEﬂW|ﬁ? (%ﬂ)

EERESTHRAEME (&)

il
ot

AT EREERLEEE  BARR
KBTS BIRETE -

BE_Z_NEER-_ZT=_=F+=A4
== Eti&‘ BMERARREEY
Nl - fERRSIMAREE KR IMA
REBBAEE - KERBERAME -

BEME

AEEhEESFTMALS  HEAL
o= —R)BRARRNEERE
FHMITE  BREZMECR EXHE -
HBRAR(ZTZ=F : NR) &= 5o

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S,

EMPLOYEES' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Bonus was determined with reference to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

No emoluments have been paid to directors of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Employees’ emoluments

Among the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, no directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (2023: one) whose emoluments are included in the
disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining five (2023:

ATZMEBT four) highest paid individuals were as follows:
—E-ME —TE-=F
2024 2023
FET T
HK$'000 HK$’000
e hEMmBER Salaries and other benefits 5,383 4,725
BRBFTE ZIEA Performance related bonuses 3,122 3,571

RRE A ET B R Retirement benefits scheme

contributions 686 454

9,191 8,750
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EE - BRE{TRAS B8R 11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S,
SREBAEME () EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

EEM< (&) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)
BEZMEN TR THIAER Their emoluments were within the following bands:
ZENF —E=F
2024 2023
EE®E EE8#A
Number of Number of
Employees employees
#£ 2 1,000,000/% 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 — =
1,000,00187C £ 1,500,000 7t HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 —
1,500,001% 7c £ 2,000,000 7 HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 e
2,000,0018 722,500,000 7C HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2 4
5 4
HE_ZT-_NWFRZ-ZZE=-_=F+=A8 No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
=+—HIEFE AEEHERRER paid individuals as an incentive payment for joining the Group
BEMA T EAME - AEARRSI or as compensation for loss of office for the years ended

BEMASKRINALEE R 2 2E s B 31 December 2024 and 2023.
BiE -



220
EZEEREEAMRAT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-Z-_MWF+=A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

11. EE - BE1THAE - EER
EREEASME (&)

BREBAESHE

REFESHEEAERENG(ZZ
—=F B ABARAEE  HEY
MEEREXHEE - BHE_T_NF
+ZA=+—HLFE EH#HmE (=
E=F :WMB)ALTZHMEWT :

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S,
EMPLOYEES' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Among the senior management of the Group, eight (2023:
four) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2023: two) individuals for the year ended
31 December 2024 were as follows:

—E-mEF —E=F

2024 2023

FET F&TT

HK$'000 HK$'000

e kAMmBETR Salaries and other benefits 1,179 1,967

BRIBFTE ZIEA Performance related bonuses — —
RIRE FET SR Retirement benefits scheme

contributions 52 82

1,231 2,049

#E2 MeN TR TFIER -

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

—E-gE —E-=F

2024 2023

EE®A EE A

Number of Number of

employees Employees

#£2 1,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001/% 7L 2 1,500,000/ 7t HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 =
1,500,001/8 7L 22,000,000/  HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 — =
B 3%2,000,0007% 7T Above HK$2,000,000 — 1
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12. HIE 12. TAXATION
BHRRERNMAERET Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows
ZENF —E=F
2024 2023
FHEx FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BN AR I8 Current tax
— PR ERER — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 5,804 19,992
— REFBHFAER — Dividend Withholding Income Tax 3,287 2,825
— BEFEM — Hong Kong Profits Tax 21 —
— BEDLEMERH — Taiwan Corporate Income Tax 5,480 5,875
14,592 28,692
BEFEREBTR Under-provision in prior years
— AR EMRESH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,382 —
1,382 =
IEIEFR I (BI3E38) Deferred tax (note 38) (14,932) (11,496)
1,042 17,196
PEEEREHR PRC Enterprise Income Tax
HRE{R EPTIS BB P B A s 2 A 2 i The PRC Enterprise Income Tax represents tax charged on the
ST FE R T S A T 2 B IE - BRE TR estimated assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In
BRAIZF15% 2 BEHEIN  AEH general, the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Mainland
TE A B P 3 58 O BT B 8 B — AR ZB AN China are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of
FEEMEH 2 HER25% ° 25% except for certain subsidiaries which are entitled to
preferential tax rate of 15%.
Fronsg EEMEH Singapore Corporate Income Tax
I ERE R AFE 2 (5T ER Singapore Corporate Income Tax is calculated at 17% of the

RmAIZ17%ETE - estimated assessable for the year.
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12. $iE (&) 12. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

REFAHFRER

BIE(PEAREFNBEDZEMBRE) -
SNEIIR B AR BRI IR B 3
FrE1S HY A% B ZE R BB 10 % B 7 R UL 78
RE - ZBER T N\F—A—HiE
R BRAR_EEEF+_A=+—
B#& 1R 25T AT 2 B FDE o fi BB
7 INE I B B AT R B R skt [ U 1
ERWLHE - AJEARERE -

HFRNEH

RIEFNSHMRSG  AERKEERS
28 878 7T N K 128.25% H T R
BoRBB2BE AT E N R
16.5% F B R - A58 MR E
MERZEBEER 28 M #ER
16.5% Z & — R BRI -

BELEREN

BEBTLEMEHIMEFE 2B ER
BmE MR 15% 5 & o

Hitb R ZEE

REREHELRBRELES ([REKE
LEB DR RRD - NEEHBEAS
MRESRELRRBRLEENEMME
B o

AEBEERKLEHES - AERER
REBHREAEREE - R - ARA
SERBEEEMNREMLT B RS
“XERANBRE  AREKERE
BB RAERM G ERREOER
15% @ At AKEEEER A KEH
ARBE R AERER -

Dividend Withholding Income Tax

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends distributed to foreign
investors by the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings accumulated after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and jurisdiction of the foreign
investors.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%.

Taiwan Corporate Income Tax

Taiwan Corporate Income Tax is calculated at 15% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years.

Others jurisdictions

Pursuant to the rule and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar
Two Rules are enacted but not effective. However, as the
Group's estimated effective tax rates of all the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates are higher than 15% after taking
into account the adjustments under the Pillar Two Rules based
on management’s best estimate, the management of the
Group considered the Group is not liable to top-up tax under
the Pillar Two Rules.
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12. BiE () 12. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
AEEHBEX HEGSERIAMEE The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
WKk AN 2R AT EESRAT before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

—E-E —E-=F
2024 2023
FHExT FHE T
HK$°000 HK$°000
BrEiRIE 1R Loss before taxation (97,979) (43,919)
BEANBRHRHRE25% (=Z Tax at the domestic income tax rate of
T=F 1 25%) At EZHIE 25% (2023: 25%) (24,495) (10,980)
PNAHR ST H 2 RBEZE Tax effect of expenses not deductible 5,623 1,866
BARMBAZ BB E Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose (5,984) (1,684)
RERMEBE 2 HIEFZE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 23,196 18,950
KRERAHREGR =R 2 B8 Tax effect of deductible temporary
TE differences not recognised — 280
BEMEZHFE Effect of preferential tax rate 2,072 2,185
HEEHMEEER ZTRFBIRZ  Effect of different taxation rates in
o other jurisdictions 16,905 8,249
BEFEREBTR Under-provision in prior years 1,382 —
BABEAER2BIERE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (17,657) (1,670)
REEFFHIEZ M Taxation charge for the year 1,042 17,196
Mz BB EERPREE T ZEB/A Note: The domestic tax rate represents the statutory tax rate of the

Al ZEERE o major group companies operating in the PRC.
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13.

rEEFE 13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
FEEBREHR(ER) Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging
(crediting):
—EZMEF =%
2024 2023
FHEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIRA(BIEESEREMRE Staff costs (including Directors’ and
BEHNe) senior management’s emoluments)
— HeREMKR — Salaries and other costs 142,258 163,492
— BRRBEREE gt — Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 15,271 14,854
8 TRk A Total staff costs 157,529 178,346
B BEERNMEZTFESRE Less: amounts capitalised in inventories (12,509) (13,382)
ME TR (G ASEE MR  Total staff costs (included in cost of
AN - D R HE B ELYT  sales and services, distribution and
WER) selling expenses and administrative
expenses) 145,020 164,964
B RITE Amortisation and depreciation
— B EE#H — Amortisation of intangible assets
GtATTHRER) (included in administrative
expenses) 6,753 6,748
— BEMERE — Depreciation of investment
GFATTERER) property (included in
administrative expenses) 1,790 1,862
— ERAEEENE — Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Gt AHE KRB KA (included in cost of sales and
RITHER) services and administrative
expenses) 64,657 64,646
— WE BERZREITE — Depreciation of property, plant
(Gt AHE &R and equipment (included in cost
R - D REE of sales and services,
ERETHER) distribution and selling expenses
and administrative expenses) 25,929 33,908
REE AT E Total amortisation and depreciation 99,129 107,164
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13. XEEFHE (&) 13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)
—E_MF =4
2024 2023
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
Z SR BN & Auditors’ remuneration
— ZBR — Audit service 3,436 3,235
— FERERTE — Non-audit service 879 948
BRAXH 2 FEEKAR Cost of inventories recognised as
(BEFEMRZEST expenses (including write down of
—ZF = =4 : 1,554,000 inventories amounting to HK$nil
BIT)) (2023: HK$1,554,000)) 172,834 132,131
b e (as) F 58 Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 7,822 (5,125)
MERSWA - IBREE Property rental income, net of
THER negligible outgoing expenses (3,629) (3,680)
MERFAZEER GTAHM Research and development expenses
BH) (included in other expenses) 34,630 20,750
HEHREER GTADHERK Sales promotion expenses (included in
HEER) distribution and selling expenses) 427,604 419,097
KEEEEZHENRE Lease payments for low-value assets 125 160
RHME 2 HEHIE Lease payments for short-term lease 156 236
14. 3REE 14. LOSS PER SHARE
RAaRRES 2 ERERBEIIER The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
AT EERETE owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—E-mE —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FHEIT
HK$'000 HK$’000

A ERAFIRREGE S Loss for the year for the purposes of
EXBEsFEEE basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company (75,537) (28,843)
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14. SREE (FE) 14. LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
—E_MF —EZ=F
2024 2023
& 4 ibar)
Shares Shares
B 5 & B Number of shares
AUGTEZRANEIE 2 LR Weighted average number of ordinary
AR 4 -5 25 shares for the purposes of basic loss
per share 5,578,713,777 5,578,713,777

EXFIRZ BN B TR kR
A A B2 DAt & (T fn 22 @hat 81 )
FREZBDRER -

HREBE-T_MFER-_T_=F+=
A=1+— Etiflﬁ EE?%TTE
o MU BB E_T_MFER—
—=F+-ZHA=1+— ElJJ:EEE’]HxﬁE
SHEE -

15. K2 15.

EEefEBRMNEE T _MFE+—
B=t—BLHEEZREBRA(ZE
T=F )

$Qﬂ#@i:;:mi+—ﬂf+—
?::i-ﬁ)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares shown
above has been arrived at after deducting the shares held by
the share award scheme of the Company (the “Share Award
Scheme”).

No diluted loss per share is presented for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 as there was no potential
ordinary share in issue for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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16. ¥ - BMEKRR®E 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B RER
BEREEY HEEHE MR R ERIR R RE RERME E3
Furniture,
Buildings and Leasehold Plant and  Construction fixtures and Motor Fitness
structures  improvements machinery in progress equipment vehicles equipment Total
FiEn Tix ThEx TiEx Tix THx TiEn TiEx
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
223 CosT
R-Z-=%-A-H At 1 January 2023 151,615 71,197 61,758 171,952 31,11 6,563 3,409 504,205
xR Exchange differences (775) (114) (560) 2,501 (319) (12) 333 1,054
RE Additions — 4,932 2,541 25,009 1,487 517 517 35,003
& R Disposals and write-off — (1,540) (2,618) — (1,494) (196) (1,291) (7,139)
BYEERELAE Transfer from right-of-use assets = 1,379 = = — — 3,551 4,930
HERBLR (1) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (18,141) (2,944) (8,968) (143,541) (2,297 (706) - (176,597)
W-T-=f+-A=1-H At 31 December 2023 132,699 79,510 52,153 55,921 28,488 6,166 6,519 361,456
EXER Exchange differences (3,007) (2,578) (1,165) (1,333) (933) (116) (575) (9,707)
AR Additions - 3,607 2,029 9,455 1,030 14 156 16,291
HE R Disposals and write-off - - (246) - (234) - (508) (988)
ENDE Reclassification 384 - 7,054 (7,438) - — - -
BRAFRRLE Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - - - - 4,795 4,795
HH-FKEAR Deregistration of a subsidiary - (2,135) - - (212) - - (2,347)
RZZZME+-A=1+—-8 At 31 December 2024 130,076 78,404 59,825 56,605 28,139 6,064 10,387 369,500
FERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R=Z==%-A-8 At 1 January 2023 32,823 45,781 19,011 — 18,387 4,725 1,320 122,047
EXZR Exchange differences (6,490) (1,821) (182) = (242) (44) 358 (8,421)
KERRE Provided for the year 11,834 9912 5,759 = 3,490 546 2,367 33,908
& R Disposals and write-off — (1,425) (1,817) — (1,442) (187) (1,260) (6,131)
BHEERELE Transfer from right-of-use assets — 330 — — — — 1,176 1,506
HERBAR (Hia1) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (12,771) 2,915 (3,656) = (1,819) (438) = (21,649)
RZB-=f+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2023 25,396 49,862 19,115 - 18,374 4,552 3,961 121,260
EXER Exchange differences (1,480) (1,868) (503) - (726) (92) (540) (5,209)
RERRE Provided for the year 6,615 8,987 5,044 - 3,200 523 1,560 25,929
& R Disposals and write-off - - (124) - (222) - (480) (826)
BYEFERELE Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - - - - 2,372 2,372
FH-RENBAR Deregistration of a subsidiary - (2,135) - - (212) - - (2,347)
RZE-ME+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2024 30,531 54,846 23,532 - 20,414 4,983 6,873 141,179
RHEE CARRYING AMOUNT
RZZZME+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2024 99,545 23,558 36,293 56,605 1,125 1,081 3,514 228,321
WZZTZ=F+ZA=1-R At 31 December 2023 107,303 29,648 33,038 55,921 10,114 1,614 2,558 240,196
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16. ¥ - BMEKRE (&) 16.

AEWE - BB RERE (EE TR
TIABE R O ERITE - UFEMK
AR EEER A ERFHRNFSRERE:

BF REREY) 4.75%—-5%
HEEE 10%-33%
R = M i 25 9.5%—15.8%
R~ KB REE 11.9%-33.3%
RE 15.8%-33.3%
fiz H 384 14.3%

ARBBFURPEZEELM -

REEYME - BEMREERFBED
BifsE47 o

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line
method to allocate their costs to their residual values over
their useful lives, which are the following rates per annum:

4.75%-5%
10%-33%
9.5%-15.8%
11.9%-33.3%
15.8%-33.3%
14.3%

Buildings and structures
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Fitness equipment

The buildings of the Group are situated on the leasehold land
in the PRC.

Details of the pledge of the Group’'s property, plant and
equipment are set out to note 47.

17. EREEE 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
TibfEAE BERE BEHRL BAE Fat ]
Land use Fitness
right equipment  Fitness centres Offices Total
FHEL THEL TET FHEL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZB-ME+=A=+-8 As at 31 December 2024
EEA Carrying amounts 78,651 484 170,349 8,891 258,375
RZBZ=f+=-A=+-H As at 31 December 2023
REE Carrying amounts 81,814 3,474 232,324 16,602 334,214
HZ-E-WME+=-A=1—RALEE For the year ended
31 December 2024
TERX Depreciation charge 1,531 460 57,880 4,786 64,657
EEBEEEFHNMAX Expense relating to low-value assets 125
HEAREERNAX Expense relating to short-term leases 156
HERSMILER Total cash outflow for leases 77,928
EREEEE M () Additions to right-of-use assets
(note) 3,872
HZ-B-=F+-F=t—HLEFE For the year ended
31 December 2023
NERY Depreciation charge 1,982 1,220 56,368 5,076 64,646
BEBEEEFHNMAX Expense relating to low-value assets 160
HEAREERNAS Expense relating to short-term leases 236
HERS R B Total cash outflow for leases 76,975
EREEEE M () Additions to right-of-use assets
(note) 23,373
Wi - SERIENEESRFTE L/ ERE Note: Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from lease

modification.
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EREEE (F)

RREFE AEEHESERER
B BEPLEPHATUHEEEE -
EANNE TR A1FE5F - BAIE
H-HE—T_NEFR_T_=F+=
A=+—HLEHE #@5&%EnaTH
EREMEHERZETLE - FEN
TA4%ZE16% (Z T _=ZF 4% =&
16%) ° T & & 3R Ty 1% BB & Bl 15 R 7
E - BESENRAVGR R GG o ANE
%] 77 7 7E A0 HA K 54 1 AT USE HR R By
HAE XK EEITEE S XAl 58 BT
E’U,HHFEﬂ °©

FMEHETYERERSAERTR
TR HEE G K HR 4 R AT — S 1T /Y I AP
BIZE - EAITEAT AEESKR
FHEGRBESEEERE  NRREE
TR - TS AREHBZEREN AA
EEMIFEHBATE - AEEREER
HRERFHERTAERTEITEEHE
R MR EESSEREEE RS
NIFERNEIRNERNES)  AEBESEHNT
HERGAREMTEIIECHEE®R - —
T P04 - E— A E A RIRFE AR
BE2,764,0008 L (& = = F
7,186,0007%8 7t) B & 15 2 i 1B 25 BR
RIETER o

THFEREERTRAEE T ZTREE
T ANEERR - YR ESHESA
RE AR

S E e ER R - EAREE
EAFFEREEE ZBMERRRIN -
BFHERZENGRR - HEEERLA
FLEE B B R

AEEEREEEARFBHNME
47 -

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

For both years, the Group leases various fitness equipment,
fitness centres and offices for its operation. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 5 years, but may
have extension. Certain leases of fitness equipment were
arranged under finance lease agreement during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and carried interest
ranged from 4% to 16% (2023: 4% to 16%). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Some property leases in Singapore contain extension options
exercisable by the Group up to one year before the end of
the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the
Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to
provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The
Group assesses at lease commencement whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The
Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise
the options if there is a significant event or significant
changes in circumstances within its control. In 2024, the
Group derecognised right-of-use assets relating to an office
amounting to HK$2,764,000 (2023: HK$7,186,000) in profit
or loss as a result of lease modifications.

Land use rights comprise prepaid lease payments for the
leasehold land in the PRC under medium-term lease and is
released on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of
leases.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Depends on terms included in lease agreements, leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the pledge of the Group's right-of-use assets are set
out to note 47.
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18. REWXE 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
FB7T

HK$°000
5% COST
R-E-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 54,611
P& 5 =58 Exchange differences (591)
HEMBE AR (MEa1) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (5,254)
R-E-_=F+-_HA=+—H At 31 December 2023 48,766
PEH =% Exchange differences (1,044)
RZZEZNF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2024 47,722
e DEPRECIATION
R-_E-_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 12,700
ME 5 =5 Exchange differences (157)
HEME AR (MsE41) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (1,063)
RAFEE kK Charge for the year 1,862
R-ZE-_=%F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 13,342
PE H =58 Exchange differences (311)
RAFE E Ik Charge for the year 1,790
R-ZE-—MNF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 14,821
REE CARRYING AMOUNT
RZE_NFE+_HA=+—H At 31 December 2024 32,901
RZZEZ=F+=_A=+—H At 31 December 2023 35,424

R RS T B A
AeRFER - RENSBRRY A
F(ZE-=F:=F)  HREETR
AR GRS A G EREE -
EARDETRREMHK -

The above investment property is located in the PRC under
operating leases with rentals payable vyearly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 3 years (2023: 3 years)
with an option to renew the lease after that date which time
all terms are renegotiated. None of the lease includes variable

lease payments.
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AEBEREMENR _ZE_WFE+_A
=+—HHNAFEL HE42,297,0008 T
— T~ =4 :38,810,000/87T) - AF
BENREBEEEARNEBEEERA SR
NE BN A REE A B L (BRI T R
BESH -

REFEDRBEAEEE - ERYEDN
MSHSRREEH BN ENTED
B RE T RRER - mIBHEET)
S2EMGHEES T RBEUNENE
i AR ERETRE - BIREDHBRES
TRELUAEMNERZEHHNKRERME
E o AEZERYFREFENTISEMIED
HE URBRAKEREMENFER
RogR 2R INEREMM SRR
BRBATEH RS ERIRE 58
BHAFENLE-—FENBEEFEESE
ERTHEENE  SERGETEE AN
THEEME

EhEAMENRTER  WENTSH
EeEERER/REERNAE -

AEBEREMEBMFBENM L7 -

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$42,297,000 (2023:
HK$38,810,000). The fair value has been arrived at based on
valuations carried out by independent valuer with recognised
and relevant professional qualification not connected with the
Group.

The fair value was determined based on the income approach,
where the market rentals of the property are assessed and
discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this
type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by
reference to the rentals achieved as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is
determined by reference to the yields derived from analysing
the transactions of similar commercial properties and adjusted
to take into account the market expectation from property
investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment
properties. The ongoing volatility or disruptions in energy,
financial, foreign currency or commodity markets may progress
and evolve, which has led to higher degree of uncertainties in
respect of the valuations in the current and prior year, which
has led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the
valuations.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and
best use of the property is their current use.

Details of the pledge of the Group’s investment property are
set out to note 47.
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18. REM % (%) 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)
RBEHR  NEEREMENFE R Details of the Group’s investment property and information
NFEFHENERAT about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

—E-MF
2024
NEEER
FREE E=H
Fair value at
Carrying level 3
amount hierarchy
FET THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
IR B R TR Industrial zone located in Beijing,
the PRC 32,901 42,297
—E-=4F
2023
N EER
FREE E=5
Fair value at
Carrying level 3
amount hierarchy
FET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
IR F B R TR Industrial zone located in Beijing,
the PRC 35,424 38,810
LR EYEARERNIRERRTIR The above investment property is depreciated on a

E - straight-line basis over the lease term.
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19. & 19. GOODWILL
FHT
HK$'000
REE CARRYING AMOUNT
R-_E-_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 301,257
HEMBAR (MaE41) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (48,131)
MEH ZEE Exchange differences 292
R-ZE-_=F+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2023 253,418
PEH =% Exchange differences (115)
R-ZZE-_WF+-_HA=+—H At 31 December 2024 253,303
B8 2B AT A EEHR 21 Details of impairment assessment on goodwill are set out in

note 21.
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20. ELEE 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
efgE ERFFAE [EL:] RS EFRH& BREA BE&H #E
Club Product Franchise Customer  Development Computer

membership license Trademark g lationship penditure software Total
TiEn Tix Thx FiEn Tix THEx FiEn Tix
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(Hi3ta) (Hiztb)

(note a) (note b)

cosT
At 1 January 2023 278 9,703 92,876 195,316 17,422 8,673 3,788 328,056
EXZR Exchange differences = 142 = = = (71) 189 260
AE Addition — — — — — 272 = 272
Written off = = = = = (8,047) = (8,047)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) = (7,867) = = = = = (7,867)
At 31 December 2023 278 1,978 92,876 195,316 17,422 827 3,977 312,674
Exchange differences — (42) - — - (282) (189) (513)
Disposal (278) - - - - - - (278)
Written off - - - - - - (862) (862)
At 31 December 2024 - 1,936 92,876 195,316 17,422 545 2,926 311,021

AMORTISATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 = 3,168 = 36,350 17,422 3,087 127 60,154
Exchange differences = 2 = = = 27) 74 49
Charge for the year = 21 = 6,510 = = 27 6,748
Written off = = = = = (2,504) = (2,504)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) = (1,403) = = = = = (1,403)
At 31 December 2023 - 1,978 - 42,860 17,422 556 228 63,044
EXER Exchange differences - (42) - - — (13) (84) (138)
RAFEMR Charge for the year - - - 6,512 - - 241 6,753
RERBRNFEESE (HE8)  Impaiment loss recognized in profit
or loss (note 8) - - - 18,816 - - - 18,816
RZZZME+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2024 - 1,936 - 68,188 17,422 545 384 88,475
REE CARRYING AMOUNT
MZZZMEFTZA=+—H At 31 December 2024 - - 92,876 127,128 - - 2,542 222,546

R=2==Ff+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2023 278 - 92,876 152,456 - 21 3,749 249,630
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20.

Notes:

(a)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group's trademark has a definite legal term but is continually
renewable upon expiry at minimal cost. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group would renew the
trademark continuously and has the ability to do so. As a
result, the trademark is considered by the directors of the
Company as having an indefinite useful life because it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The
useful life of trademark with indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis. The trademark will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that it may be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing
are disclosed in note 21.

Upon completion of the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
TFKT True Holdings (“True Cayman”) and its subsidiaries (the
“True Cayman Group”) (the “True Acquisition”), the Group
grants and provides True Yoga Holdings Limited and its
subsidiary (“True Yoga Group”), an associate of the Group,
with non-exclusive rights to operate the franchise business in
Taiwan for a term of 30 years commencing from 29 May
2017 and True Yoga Group shall pay a monthly franchise fee.
The directors of the Company determined the useful life of the
franchise agreement to be same as the contractual period of
the franchise agreement and an annual review has been
performed to support the useful life assessment. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, royalty fee income of
approximately HK$36,534,000 (2023: HK$39,170,000) is
recognised. In 2024, the directors of the Company assessed
there was indication of impairment due to shortfall of
forecasted royalty fee income generated and conducted
impairment assessment to estimate the recoverable amount for
the franchise agreement based on value in use calculation with
reference to valuation prepared by professional valuation
experts. That calculation uses expected cash flow projections
based on financial budget approved by the management
covering a five-year period, the average annual income growth
rate for the first five-year period is 10%, and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady
growth rate of 2% until end of contractual period. The growth
rate is based on the forecasts of the industry and does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
included pre-tax discount rate of 21.5%, budgeted expenses
relating to the provision of franchise service and the expected
cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on the
asset’s historical performance and the management’s
expectation of the market development. Based on the result of
the assessment, the recoverable amount of the franchise
agreement is lower than its carrying amount, and an
impairment loss of approximately HK$18,816,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$Nil) (note 8).
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20.

21.

BREE (&)

RAERIERFHIERIN  BYE
EREGENAT RS

EmraE 5-7 4
FFET 199 5% 304F
EFPBIE 54F
HEER 10-184F
B 34

& R E A

RAHAEEEZRE - WE192 BB KA
BEEsREMAERSELSEGNT

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

21.

Other than the trademark, which have indefinite useful lives,
the intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Product license 5-7 years
Franchise agreement 30 years
Customer relationship 5 years
Development expenditure 10-18 years
Computer software 3 years

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL

For the purposes of impairment assessment of goodwill, the
carrying amount of goodwill in note 19 have been allocated
to two groups of CGUs as follows:

—E-mE —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FHEIT
HK$'000 HK$'000

BUE MIHEES - BFE(E2  Manufacturing and sales of drugs,

2. R R R EPREE  incduding chemical drugs, APl and AP

(TERZAL intermediate (“Unit A") 114,877 114,992
g g0 LI EE 5 A Operating fitness centres and providing

ARG IARAKCLEREFE  consultation services for fitness and

TELAESEFEBIRA ([ health activities and operating the

fiIBJ) franchise business for royalty fee

income (“Unit B") 138,426 138,426

253,303 253,418

BBEENS  T2ERELERER
EZWE BEERE BEEERE
REEE (BREXEEDR)  ERME
MRBEAZEE Tt AERIRESE
HEBUHES -

For the purpose of impairment assessment, assets mainly
include property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets (including allocation of corporate assets)
that generate cash flows together with the related goodwill
are also included in the respective groups of CGUs.
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AN 20T - AEEE R E K
HEER BEEB B TEESRER
BT EAERARNBEFERER
FEXEEERAR(RAAFEZE] 2
60% BREMEANBEEDEZEEE
FEHAEBEEE A RS E=RE
fiZA °

BN 20Tl - NEBERHIR - BT
& BEREHREPBEE RBEXBZ
ETHEMBARSREMERBEF
ExKTrue WEEHEMEENBHEC D
EEEEERMAKEREA G HRR
SR BB -

AYREEEEETRN T _WNFE+_A
—t+—BHREELBMMARTKRE S
B AR REB Y BEGEMETH
E-EBE tMREEEBEMAR KD
SHENEER FBHEBREMMRAOT

TR EABMEE ZAIKREISEETY
ENFEREBEFEEEE - ZiTEEK
FALEEEMBEMRRAF ZHEEE
ABERZBHESRETEN - MEAMA
REBMNBZRAIBIRE SR A513.82% K&
16.77% (ZE =% : B ARBENBY
BIA13.22% K 17.37%) o B AB AT
BREAFHRcEFHFERAERE
DANETE%(ZTTE_=F:97%) %
54% (ZE_=F :87%) - RNR_F
—=HER-ZTPUF - BABEEBIER
BRFHRZESRENFERBEEE
KO%HHE - ZEWRENABITERE
BAER  BTe@BEEETEsFH
RERERE - (FREAFEEZZEME
EREBEREHEEREBERIUAR
HERERARTHER - HERZSE
BUZBERBAREEEHMSREY
TEERfAET ©

21.

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Product license and development expenditure of the Group as
set out in note 20, certain production facilities and related
land use rights in the pharmaceutical business and goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition of 60% of the equity
interest in Tongfang Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.
(“Tongfang Pharmaceutical”) in prior years are allocated to
Unit A which management expected the Group would benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

Trademark, franchise agreement, computer software and
customer relationship of the Group as set out in note 20,
certain leased and owned fitness facilities in the fitness
business and goodwill arising as a result of the completion of
True Acquisition in prior years are allocated to Unit B which
management expected the Group would benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

To support the management to determine the recoverable
amount of groups of CGUs as at 31 December 2024, the
Company engaged independent professional valuers to
perform the valuation. The basis of determining the
recoverable amounts of the above groups of CGUs and their
major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amounts of the above groups of CGUs have
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses expected cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management covering a
five-year period, and pre-tax discount rates for Unit A and
Unit B are 13.82% and 16.77% respectively (2023: 13.22%
and 17.37% for Unit A and Unit B, respectively). The average
annual income growth rates for the first five-year period are
7.6% (2023: 9.7%) for Unit A and 5.4% (2023: 8.7%) for
Unit B. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% for both Unit
A and Unit B in 2023 and 2024. These growth rates are
based on the forecasts of the relevant industries and do not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industries. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations included budgeted operating expenses and their
related cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based
on the units’ historical performance and the management’s
expectation of the market development.
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21. BEREME (R

22.

AEBEEERTE  REBEZE_T_NF
MeE= == B =qr—ElleSEE ¢

HEEEEBERNZ ENABERE R
AREMAR - ZE_MF+-_A=1+—
B #ya] Y [B] € BB #)445,790,00078 7 (=
T~ =4 : 394,229,000 7T) SN H 4E
HEEEREBEMNBEE B
102,316,000 L (=& = = F
39,923,000/ 7T) - EEEMHE  E W
TEBRZEMABLAEEH I SE
BMEMAZAINE S ERE RN EER

BE-_Z_-_HWF+-_A=+—H8ItHF
B ARBEZCHTERET DAL
EEEABEMBRRBERZE ER_F
“E+-A=+t—H#ETZHE B
UBR-_E-—MNF+=—A=+—HHKHA
g [B] 4 B8 7 7 A #9400,429,00078 7T (=
=T~ =4 : 455,366,000/87C) * mAH
HEEEEFEHEMNBEE 8D
33,010,000 Tt (=& = = 4 :
78,357,000/8 70) - BIEE B - FE A
FTEBRNTMAEAEEHETSE
WEMBMAIKE B NREERER
MEfE °

21.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Management of the Group determined that there were no
impairment recognised on Unit A containing goodwill during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as the
recoverable amount of Unit A as at 31 December 2024 of
approximately HK$445,790,000 (2023: HK$394,229,000)
which is higher than its carrying amount of the relevant assets
with a headroom of approximately HK$102,316,000 (2023:
HK$39,923,000). Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any key assumptions would not cause the
recoverable amount of Unit A to fall below its carrying
amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the directors of
the Company have identified the operating loss of fitness
segment as an impairment indicator for Unit B. Based on the
assessment performed at 31 December 2024, the recoverable
amount of Unit B as at 31 December 2024 is determined to
be approximately HK$400,429,000 (2023: HK$455,366,000)
which is higher than its carrying amount of the relevant assets
with a headroom of approximately HK$33,010,000 (2023:
HK$78,357,000). Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any key assumptions would not cause the
recoverable amount of Unit B to fall below its carrying
amount.

R—EBEATR z2ER 22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
—E-mEF —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000
WEKRA  FEE™ Cost of investment, unlisted 21,640 21,640
FEfR UL BB 12 1 Share of post-acquisition reserves (21,640) (21,640)




239

“Z-MEFH ANNUAL REPORT 2024

e ISR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. A—REEE LT Z2ER (8)

AEERBERRZBERARIRE AR
FAEREFMKIZZEBIERAER
AR ZEBMMIERER A F,Z229% MK
AEZER_T—EtFRA=-T+NHH
REBUEE - True YogaEBEAENRE
KSR R IR R B AN R R A R AR
% o 2EBMINERBR AT ZFBHOT :

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

The Group’s investment in associate at the end of the
reporting period is True Yoga Holdings Limited which was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. 29% equity interest in
True Yoga Holdings Limited was acquired by the Group on
29 May 2017. True Yoga Group is engaged in operating
fitness centres and providing consultation services for fitness
and health activities in Taiwan. Details of True Yoga Holdings
Limited is as follows:

ARER ik SEwH HREMER RRE FEEREERRAES TEER
Effective equity
Place of Place of Paid up interest attributable
Name of company registration operations registered capital Voting power to the Group Principal activities
“BCOME —To=F Z“BC@E —T-ZF
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
ZERIERBERAF HE#E =Y | 165,245,000%7 & % 29 29 29 29 RAER
True Yoga Holdings Limited ~ Cayman Islands Taiwan New Taiwan dollar Investment holding
165,245,000

AEBEAEREZERINIERERA A
BHE_ZT-_NWE+-_A=+—HIEE
2 E518#932,495,000/8 T (ZE =4
22,356,000/ L) MR T W F
T A=+ —HZ R AEREGERE
BIJ#9/4135,923,0008 C (ZFE - =4 :
103,428,000 7T ) ©

The Group has not recognised loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK32,495,000
(2023: HK$22,356,000) for True Yoga Holdings Limited and
the accumulated unrecognised share of loss as at
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$135,923,000 (2023: HK$103,428,000).
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23. 7€ 23. INVENTORIES

—BWEF —E_=F

2024 2023

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

JR# Raw materials 12,842 12,984

5 Work in progress 22,290 20,444

BIRK mm Finished goods 50,824 64,838

85,956 98,266
FRN - FERAL172,834,0008 7T (= During the year, cost of inventories of approximately
T =4 : 132,131,000 L) E R B HK$172,834,000 (2023: HK$132,131,000) are recognised as
AY BE_T_MNF+_HA=+—H expenses. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
IEFE AEEBERREERG (= Group has not recognised an allowance for inventories (2023:

LT - =4 :1,554,000/ ) ° HK$1,554,000).
24. BRE 5 RE 24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E-_MEF —E-=F

2024 2023

FERT FHIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

e E 5 5IE Trade receivables 111,307 109,374

W EEEERE Less: Allowance for credit losses (2,597) (2,856)

EUWE 585 Net trade receivables 108,710 106,518
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NFEEIWE S IEN - AEEZ R
BRETHESEF—HKNTF30E2180K
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P2 FEWE 5508 Ik EEEEREE)
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Other than the trade receivables in relation to the payment to
be settled through credit cards for customers in fitness
business, the Group has a policy of allowing its trade
customers credit periods normally from 30 to 180 days. The
aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit
losses, is presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period as follows:

—E-_MF —E-=F

2024 2023

FHEx FHET

HK$"000 HK$'000

0ZE90K 0 to 90 days 74,837 68,363
91E 180K 91 to 180 days 29,530 28,465
181%365K 181 to 365 days 3,150 6,530
B Over 1 year 1,193 3,160
108,710 106,518

RZBE-ME+=-A=+—8 ' B:itA
EWE ZHIBREARASERERE
W 2B 4% 499,559,000 L (T = =4 :
3,863,00087L)  tERREHENE S
FBEZH FTARKEEZEMEHTA
DR —F o

ERIERE 5B R AT G 2 I5ER
Bif5E46 o

As at 31 December 2024, included in total trade receivables
are bills receivable amounting to approximately HK$9,559,000
(2023: HK$3,863,000) held by the Group for future
settlement of trade payables. All bills receivables are with a
maturity period of less than one year.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in note 46.
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25. S8 RAK 25. CONTRACT COSTS

—ENE —E-=F

2024 2023

FTET F&T

HK$'000 HK$'000

B HA Current 6,062 6,361
JE B HR Non-current 1,737 1,896
7,799 8,257

AEEHRENS A S RAAIER
REARRRE D02 EEANELEY
ERZEHEBERS -

BHRANEREE S EHE RAAT
MABWABERNGEESREMMEMA
WEREREDHLEEER 2 — 2
BTN RNIBEEERZENEEL
KR & 584 /53,697,000 T (— T ==
F 13,134,000 70) ° BRI A& HIK AR
2 FEEEBRKFRNE LG KK A &
A ©

WAKEREERACEELFNR—F
HAR - AIANEEERBEREE A
BERGRHEEDNHA LM 12BN SEE
RILAINRRIEZ A K 2B BREERA
REERERRAX °

The Group incurred incremental sales commission to
employees in connection with obtaining contracts with
customers for use of fitness centres, in the form of monthly
membership and personal training classes.

Contract costs are recognised as part of distribution and
selling expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in the period in which
revenue from the related membership sales and personal
training classes are recognised. The amount of capitalised
contract costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was
approximately HK$3,697,000 (2023: HK$3,134,000). There was
no impairment in relation to the opening balance of
capitalised contract costs or the costs capitalised during the
year.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sale of
membership and personal training classes with less than 12
months expiry date as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is one year or less.
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26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

—EZF —E=F

2024 2023

FHxT T T

HK$'000 HK$’000

MR A 2 B Advance to suppliers 11,463 17,965
EES Deposits paid 8,002 10,241
AR FIE Prepayments 4,769 2,155
H {th e Uk K18 Other receivables 29,852 14,940
JE YR B A Interest income receivable 1,187 367
55,273 45,668

H W IR 2R E R A E B E N M 5
46 ¢

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set
out in note 46.

HirE 27. OTHER INVESTMENT
—E-_MEF —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Emixw & (fysk) Other investment (note) 10,000 10,000

MizE - RERAEBRN —RRITRLZ—A
ERESZRE-EEHRRBER
TEAZE - A EARE K EE
B AKEBREAREEZIH 3
HARAMSHET—@ARN -

RERBTEEY

NEEFHH ZRITERTIILET ISR K5t
B ERRNFO%EITR(ZEZ=
F0%E4.78%) °

RITEREERRAGFBFHNM T
46 ©

Note: Amount represented the Group's investment in a fixed interest
fund set up by a bank. The fund will mature in twelve months
from its subscription date with fixed return of principal and
interest. The Group intends to hold the investment until
maturity which is within twelve months after the reporting
period.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances held by the Group carried interest at market
rates which range from 0% to 3.7% (2023: 0% to 4.78%)
per annum.

Details of credit risk assessment of bank balances are set out
in note 46.
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29.

30.

BNE SRR

RBERRERBERBH 22 AKHE
ENEZRBZREDITAOT

29. TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented
based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period

is as follows:
—E-NEF T =F
2024 2023
FERT FBT
HK$°000 HK$’000
0ZE 90K 0 to 90 days 4,258 3,366
912180k 91 to 180 days 16 6
181 £ 365K 181 to 365 days 136 1,010
HiE1F Over 1 year 2,249 2,292
6,659 6,674

BEEmRARBH(EEHR30E180
R AKEREVHRRERRRE - )
BARAARNFEAREESNNEE -

The credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 to
180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit

timeframe.
HEMARERE WERE 30. OTHER PAYABLES AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED
—E@OE T
2024 2023
FET T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEWE BEK Payables for acquisition of property,

R R IR plant and equipment 5,355 8,719
Hh FE IR Other tax payables 7,572 5,842
o A 5RIE (M EE) Other payables (note) 27,596 24,199
HMmEst &R Other accrued operating expenses 15,681 19,679
ENEES RKES Rental and utilities payables 21,099 40,438
B EEHERR Accruals for sales promotion expenses 36,249 609
JE A A1 B Interest payable 91 106

113,643 99,592

M : RZE-_WE+-A=+—H " it A
Hip e A EN SR BB BEER
#712,958,000 T (=& = = & :
12,351,000 0) NEERESD ©

Note: As at 31 December 2024, included in other payables mainly
represented the quality guarantee deposit of approximately
HK$12,958,000 (2023: HK$12,351,000) for pharmaceutical
business.
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31. (RITEE 31. BANK BORROWINGS
—ENE — ===
2024 2023
FET T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
IRITER Bank loans 88,054 52,347
B H Secured 85,524 28,824
E Unsecured 2,530 23,523
88,054 52,347

FRBTEEZRHERNAT

The maturity profile of the above bank borrowings is as

follows:
—BWEF —E_=F
2024 2023
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITERZIE®EEFEAEE  The carrying amount of bank loans
U are repayable as follows:
—FRX Within one year 88,054 39,546
—F LA BB BB E More than one year but not
exceeding two years — 12,801
88,054 52,347
B —FAEESIZESK KR Less: Amounts due within one year or
SFARE B EZ KIE on demand and shown under
current liabilities (88,054) (39,546)
—FRB AN AIEREBE Amounts due after one year and shown
ZFRIB under non-current liabilities — 12,801

AEBRERRTERMERZEERF
BEN A7 -

Details of the assets of the Group pledged to secure bank
loans are set out in note 47.
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31. RITEE (&) 31. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
REBZEERFERITEE 2 ERL The exposures of the Group's fixed-rate and variable-rate bank
5 borrowings are as follows:
“EBC-QREF —T=F
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000

AR TP HEEEZEEEE ©  Fixed-rate borrowings repayable:

—FERNPIZEK Within one year or on demand 70,815 21,757
—F LA BB BB MRE More than one year but not more
than two years — 12,801

=

AR THHMEEZFEEE ©  Variable-rate borrowings repayable:

—F A Within one year 17,239 17,789
88,054 52,347
RBE-_Z-_NFER-_ZT-_=F+_A The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
=S+—BUEFE AEERITEECE contracted interest rates) of the Group’s bank borrowings
PR A (Jh BB RT 49 F = 40 [R]) &6 [ 4n during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
T s follows:
—E-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
BERF= Effective interest rate:
EEWRITEE Fixed-rate bank borrowings 2.81%-5.00% 3.00%-5.00%
FRBITIEE (FFE2.1% Variable-rate bank borrowings
BRIRITE S A) (2.1% per annum above the

bank’s cost of funds) 5.28%-5.91% 6.00%-6.13%
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32. IRIEUW A 32. DEFERRED INCOME

BT BY

Government

grant

FABT

HK$’000

R-_E-_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 23,055
bE N, =R Exchange differences 461
HEMBE AR (ME41) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) (22,096)
RIBEEEER (FHFE7) Recognised in profit or loss (note 7) (220)
R-ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 1,200
PE X =58 Exchange differences (21)
RIE=RFER (M7E7) Recognised in profit or loss (note 7) (217)
RZZEZMNE+—A=+—H At 31 December 2024 962

AT R SRS E 2 B A DT -

The following is the analysis of the deferred income for

financial reporting purposes:

—E-MF —E-=F

2024 2023

FET T T

HK$'000 HK$'000

EREEE Non-current liabilities 748 982
mBARE Current liabilities 214 218
962 1,200

TR B JE R AR R RE MR A Y B B = 4R
MEEMAAERFHIBSEERTH
[EAUYAL -

The government grant have been recognised as deferred
income and transferred to profit or loss as “other income”
over the estimated useful lives of the relevant assets.
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33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

33. BN EE

—E-MmF —T=F
2024 2023
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
L 5 R L LAR ISR FRTE  Operation of fitness centres for
REHEEE provision of training classes and
membership packages 101,733 91,327
B8 N IHE B Manufacture and sale of drugs 18,941 36,266
120,674 127,593
mE Current 120,674 127,593

BHABRERERIMAIIRRIEZSL
HEZRWENBRR - ZFBRERS
BHEE BEERZGERABL -

TVECRRAHNBELENRA T FE
E QN

ReERehOURHIGRRER
BERER

BNE@REZILAIRREZIRZE
RIBESLWR SR - EREBH KRR
AZBRAEE-

RENREEHERD
AEBEERETEPRHEMBRE -
RE E‘uxﬁ? mi@%‘ﬁuﬂ& 'H 7 AR SYIN

AWBIEHA AL BEHBEAL
FrE R 3 tﬂﬁé%ﬁo

HE_Z_NWF+-_A=1+—8LFE
R Z WAL A102,042,0008 7T (ZF
T =4 :72,467,000/87T) * ZWARE
YIEFFAGHALRE -

Contract liabilities represent advances received for the
membership packages or personal training or for sales of
drugs. These advances are recognised as contract liabilities
until the transactions are completed.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Operation of fitness centres for provision of
training classes and membership packages

Transaction price is received in advance for prepaid
membership packages or personal training classes and this will
give rise to contract liabilities in which revenue has not been
recognised.

Manufacturing and sale of drugs

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront
deposits. A deposit received before the goods have been
delivered to the designated location will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
the deposit.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024
that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year is approximately HK$102,042,000 (2023:
HK$72,467,000).
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g A 34. SHARE CAPITAL
5 & E EE
Number of
shares Value
FABT
HK$’000
HREE0.002F T2 EBRK Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each
EE Authorised
RZZTE-_=F—H—H ' —Z == At 1 January 2023, 31 December
FH+-_A=+—HRE-Z P4 2023 and 31 December 2024
+-—A=+—H 100,000,000,000 200,000
ERITRAR Issued and fully paid
R-ZT-_=F—F—H ' —“ZT == At 1 January 2023, 31 December
FTZHA=T—HBEZF @S 2023 and 31 December 2024
+=-—A=+—8 5,588,571,777 11,177

RZZE-_WME+-_A=+—0 " AKH
ZENE S35 2 %D 4280 /59,858,000
f% (=== =4 : 9,858,0000%) °

fBRRERTE

ARz Bt a8 ([ E )R
“E—FMA-TN\BE® EEHR
Eb//\%ﬁ$%lf’ﬁﬂj/@\l§ﬁ DIZEFINE S
BURBEBRBEAEEHT B ZE
CUARRARBREAREEE AN
,\/J? EZenEREREHBBERNER
RENKR  REFHEHAEEES
EHEERR  HERNTIEER 7%
M EEMEREARERREAREE
BANERZERMBEMAL  AAEH
EFAKERRIZEE SMBE K
2 BERXRKR(BREAKEEMKE
RBEZEFRITHIFATES) KT
A REARARD 2 BIAE - AR
ST —_F-AtN\AEFE=F
T F AT EHETFERER - BK
BHAEER=_Z=_=—F—At+tHER
1k FE B ER e B R BB AR -

35.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated number of shares
held for the Share Award Scheme was 9,858,000 (2023:
9,858,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted on 28 April 2011 for the purpose of
providing incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract and retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The board of directors may grant an
option to subscribe for the shares in the Company to any
individual being an employee, officer, agent, consultant or
representative of any members of the Group (including any
executive or non-executive director of any member of the
Group) who, as the board of directors may determine in its
absolute discretion, has made valuable contribution to the
business of the Group based on his/her performance, years of
service, or is regarded to be a valuable human resource of the
Group based on his/her working experience, knowledge in the
industry and other relevant factors. The Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 18 January 2012 to 17 January 2022. The
Share Option Scheme has been expired on 17 January 2022
and no share option is granted or lapsed accordingly.
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36.

i1 SR B Et &

R-ZE—R"FALA-TRA(HEHAAB
H]) - RARERMIRD EBEE - 5
RTEEREE (BEREB]) BE) - UK
BREHHARERBELERER I
RAKBZRENME-TERAEEE
AT - BEE G ARERD ZE)ET 82 15
T MEERE (BRETRRESFS
THEBHMERSELK B EHAEHE
EBBRRELERZAKEIMAKER
AZEE TBAR SHBEKEM
BE (THRIBFRE)) REARQFK
0 o &R {7 B2 At 85T 81 B ] B B
BURER  RP+TF AN TR
FAATABERM-

WEFSRBEM A ZEYET 8 Rt
Z BRIt ([ 2RRE A (D |) AR B8 i R
MBEBEBETROHAEZ10% @ AIES
G 2R A — PR 22 -

BERMDEEFSAIR T —ZEEREE
ZRBEIROREEE TEBRBNREMNER
HEBETRMAE Z21% -

HREREBZERTRDEE A
4,950,000,000 % B 15 + HUAR IR A% 15 228
FETERE 2 REROESEHE A
495,000,000 % & fn » M Al &% F — & &
TREREZCEDBRNESHE B
49,500,000 % f% 15 °

REBEEZZ_MFR—_FT_=F+=A4
=+ —HLEFE BERERGZE
2RIREREEEBEIMKN EEER
MREEN ARG EBEFE 2R
MIBETHERR R -

36. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 20 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted the Share Award Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives to selected employees (the “Selected
Employees”) in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for the growth and further development of
the Group. The board of directors may award shares of the
Company, pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme,
to the Selected Employees including without limitation, the
Directors, executives, officers and other employees, whether
full-time or part-time, of any member of the Group from time
to time who the board of directors considers, in its absolute
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the business
development of the Group. The Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective from the Adoption Date for a term of ten
years and expire on 19 September 2026.

The board of directors shall not make any further award of
shares which will result in the total number of Shares
awarded (the “Awarded Shares”) and approved by the board
of directors under the Share Award Scheme, to be in excess
of 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
Adoption Date.

The maximum number of Awarded Shares which may be
awarded to a Selected Employee under the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the Adoption Date.

As the total number of Shares in issue was 4,950,000,000
Shares as at the Adoption Date, the maximum number of
Awarded Shares that may be awarded under the Share Award
Scheme is 495,000,000 shares and the maximum number of
Awarded Shares that may be awarded to a Selected Employee
is 49,500,000 shares.

No share was awarded to Selected Employees under the Share
Award Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023. The acquired shares was recognised and
accumulated in equity under the heading of “Shares held for
share award scheme”.



251
“Z-MEFH ANNUAL REPORT 2024

e M AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-_NWE+=A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

37. R EERHEE 37. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES
KEERBEEERERRNRERE
BrEENRERERNGARAEDE
REXIE

The amounts of the Group’s share premium and reserves and
the movement therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

() HrFEEEARAREEITROE (i)
BEERERNBEEFERABHBLRR
AR R r EmmETZ A
AEEMBANB ARG EE

The special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the shares of subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in the

LR o preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange in previous years.
(i RZEBE-_WOF+-_A=+—RH2Z (i) Other reserves as at 31 December 2024 comprise the
HiFEBRFEAR 2 EMH#EER following:
FELATIER -
1. HHEE£46,591,000/%8 T 1. reserve fund of HK$46,591,000 (2023:

—F = =4 : 46,591,000
AIL)  DRAREMERZ

HK$46,591,000) which is used to expand the
enterprise’s working capital. When the enterprise

LEET ERERIBE
B HRES AT ARBEHR
RERIE I T R e d B 2 /&

i

2. RZE—+tFtH ~EHE
BER-_E—tFHA%F
ZEEWREE— P RTKT
True Holdings® &
5,000,000 T (# & K
38,750,000/ 7T) ° & It -
KNEBBRTFKT True
Holdings .2 # A% & 151 % &
INZE54% o JEFE IR IR
& 58 B ph AR VE W B — R B BB
NEREIMER 2 ENRER
B 2 Z=%82,666,0007% JT
B E At {5 8 I B S B
2 Bl s A2,104,0008 7T &
562,000/ 7T :

suffers losses, the reserve fund may be used to
make up unrecovered losses under special
circumstances;

in July 2017, the Group further injected
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$38,750,000) in
TEKT True Holdings pursuant to the sales and
purchase agreement signed in May 2017.
Consequently, the Group’s shareholding in TFKT
True Holdings was increased from 51% to 54%.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
non-controlling interests and the fair value of
consideration paid in relation to the deemed
acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary of
HK$2,666,000 has been credited to the other
reserves and translation reserve at the amount of
HK$2,104,000 and HK$562,000, respectively;
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37. RO BEKRHE (H)

(ii)

(&)

RZE—NF—A  ~&HE
WEER 7 S £ E AR AT
HERA0% I AN #E 2R - FEIEAR
e BRE £ %8115,215,000
BT HER K E SR NRE
A {E 2 Z=%6231,179,000
ST E R E At R M B R
B H B FIER 113,799,000
BTN 2,165,000/8 7T : &

RZE-_—F—F A&£H
U BETFKT True Holdings
10,0000% % 17 (4918.77%
RA#E=) - RE A
4,300,000 T (#HE R
33,325,000/ 70) ° B It -
NEBNTEKT True
Holdings 2 #5 i% & F1 54 % 18
INZE73% ° EE R ERRE
SHEDNREATEZE
BE R HEMEE AR
22,385,000/ 7T °

TR B B S22 Y BB 2 ) 8 4R B8 g A B L
REBIZAESIH S MR 2 B - SRR T
ZEMBARIMEERREZINERST

B8 -

37. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(ii)

The

remittance of

(Continued)

in January 2018, the Group acquired the remaining
40% equity interest in Tongfang Pharmaceutical
Group Co., Ltd.*, the difference between the
carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of
HK$115,215,000 and the fair
consideration paid in relation to the Acquisition of
HK$231,179,000 has been debited to the other
reserves and translation reserve at the amount of
HK$113,799,000 and HK$2,165,000, respectively;
and

value of

in January 2021, the Group acquired 10,000 shares
(approximately 18.77% equity interest) in TFKT
True Holdings with a consideration of
US$4,300,000 (equivalent to HK$33,325,000).
Consequently, the Group’s shareholding in TFKT
True Holdings was increased from 54% to 73%.
The difference between the carrying amounts of
the non-controlling interests and the fair value of
consideration paid has been debited to the other
reserves at the amount of HK$22,385,000.

retained profits of the subsidiaries

established in the PRC outside the PRC is subject to approval

of the

local authorities and the availability of foreign

currencies generated and retained by these subsidiaries.
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RBERARAERAFERBEFE
N REREZRRACECHBERE
(BE)BENTRERR

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period and during the current and
prior years, deferred tax liabilities (assets) were recognised in
respect of the temporary differences attributable to the
following:

¥BadzAT
NERBHE CEERER BRE Hity B

Fair value

adjustments on

Accelerated tax  Allowance for business
depreciation credit losses combination Others Total
TET THET THET TET TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-B-=f(-H-H At 1 January 2023 4,414 (16,347) 68,813 (1,899) 54,981
B =R Exchange differences (62) (385) (350) 105 (692)
HERBAR (ME41) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) — — — (2,519) (2,519)
RERE GEA) Mk (Credit) charge to profit or loss (105) (11,043) (2,333) 1,985 (11,496)
R-ZB-=f+-A=1+-H At 31 December 2023 4,247 (27,775) 66,130 (2,328) 40,274
ERZER Exchange differences (89) 835 (473) (78) 195
REBRERFA Credit to profit or loss (103) (7,706) (7,123) - (14,932)
RZBZ@OE+ZA=+—-H At 31 December 2024 4,055 (34,646) 58,534 (2,406) 25,537

BRI AENTRNA KRR AR E
HAMHRIBRERE  MELTHMEHE
[l — B B RAARRE - BT S A E R
EEFSHAER TIEH -

AT BB BREELZELEHAEE
FEERETREERAEERR &
AR ERBHRETIA B BEHER) D1

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax relates to the same fiscal authority.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities, after set off certain deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial
reporting purposes:

—E-mEF —ET-=F

2024 2023

FET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FIERIBE Deferred tax assets 258 160
BERIEE & Deferred tax liabilities (25,795) (40,434)

(25,537) (40,274)
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38. IEERIE (&) 38. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

AR AR AR E AL - BT E
MEEERREFECLEEENETER
B) A T8 518 49353,772,00058 7T (= =
— =4F : 323,329,000/ 7T) FERIEIL T
HEE AERAVEEEBEEBEELD
32,405,000 c (=& = = & :
20,406,000/ T) r HAl g H& B #BA
FELHELAHAETF - EHAERH
THBIE ] R A48 -

BIECEMSBERERMA - PEIAT
SHRENREANEMIIERBEERD
¥ |1 EHE (A ENF BRI ST E
XM (ERVE BB E EM
2h o (B UR A B BRI IR IS P ek &
X BAERE) WA B RRE - HZEA
BB REFEEAN - RZEBMR
T AFBENBARREEEEEES
K B RS B ZE 3R 10 % sk BRI A 177 78 7 SR A
MIBMF - HAKEMES - BAREAS
10% © iré AR5 ¥R = 00 Mt AR B B B &
AEGRFT a2 NTREEELY
367,235,000 (=& = = F
380,966,000 7T ) T iRIEEFRIE - XA
REERATENBARBE TN
FRZEZ=FF+_A=+—HHERD
IRBFERARIERER - At ASEIT
R A E R HEERDIREFHTE
MErREEHIBEEE  BALEEEN
THIZE R EENBORNMAE - B
B =R A RE TG EA] AR KRB [E o

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
certain unused tax losses of group entities of approximately
HK$353,772,000 (2023: HK$323,329,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$32,405,000 (2023: HK$20,406,000) that may be carried
forward for a period of five to ten years from their respective
year of origination. The remaining unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulations, PRC
withholding income tax is applicable to interest and dividends
payable to investors that are “non-tax resident enterprises”,
which do not have an establishment or place of business in
the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of
business but the relevant income is not effectively connected
with the establishment or place of business, to the extent
such interest or dividends have their sources within the PRC.
Under such circumstances, dividends distributed from the PRC
subsidiaries to off-shore group entities shall be subject to the
withholding tax at 10% or a lower treaty rate. For the Group,
the applicable tax rate is 10%. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$367,235,000 (2023: HK$380,966,000). The directors of
the Company considered that the undistributed earnings of
the PRC subsidiaries as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 will
be set aside for expansion of operations, and therefore the
Group has not provided for the deferred tax liabilities in
respect of withholding tax on the undistributed earnings of
the Group’s PRC entities as the Group is able to control the
timing of reversal of such temporary difference and it is
probable that such temporary difference would not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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39. ERAAEE 39. PROVISION FOR REINSTATEMENT COST
FHEIT
HK$'000
R=-B-_=5—-H—H At 1 January 2023 13,336
W =% Exchange differences 307
REOMNEE Additional provision 162
)RR Utilisation of provision (1,540)
B[O B E Reversal of provision (35)
R-B-=%+=ZA=+-—8H At 31 December 2023 12,230
P i =% Exchange differences (359)
BHINEAE Additional provision 404
EUba R L] Utilisation of provision (626)
[0 B 5 Reversal of provision (63)
R-ZB-NE+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 11,586
BIBEEFHRT2HEHBZE ZBER - A Under the terms of the rental agreements signed with
SEERBBEEERZD BEBHRRE landlords, the Group should remove and re-instate the rented
REEHPLSMEENEESISL - BA premises for fitness centres or office at the Group’s cost upon
AN B - Bt - RikE HRER expiry of the relevant rental agreements. Provision is therefore
TZ@EA%  AEBEEREAELEZE made for the best estimate of the expected reinstatement
FRAX AN PTVE < B (A GTRT IR - costs to be incurred after 12 months from end of the

reporting period.

INTRERKABEBERANABREND The following is the analysis of the provision for
# reinstatement cost for financial reporting purposes:

—E-MEF —E-=F
2024 2023
FHEx TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERBAEE Non-current liabilities 10,359 12,230
mEEE Current liabilities 1,227 —

11,586 12,230




256

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-Z-_MWF+=A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. HEEE

41.

40. LEASE LIABILITIES

—E_MF —E-=F
2024 2023
FET F&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
ENEERE: Lease liabilities payable:
—F A Within 1 year 62,453 66,134
—FAEEMER After 1 year but within 2 years 53,811 62,033
MEAEBRFA After 2 years but within 5 years 87,956 122,670
BEFRE After 5 years 4,915 30,639
209,135 281,476
o T ZE B RIEMERZIE  Less: Amount due for settlement
GIATRBAERE) with 12 months shown
under current liabilities (62,453) (66,134)
+ @ A%BEEZEZE (] Amount due for settlement after
AERBEE) 12 months shown under non-current
liabilities 146,682 215,342
HENB AR 41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

R-E-_=FRAAE AEBLE
ﬁﬁﬂ?(ﬁéi‘ﬁ)ﬁig@iiﬁﬁﬂﬁaﬂz
PHERT—BBYE=H RHER
{?’fz%/\ﬁﬁ%168,160,08075($a§a?ﬁ%’9
192,425,000/ 70) ° A& AEET
BRRARNARESEESR QR REKH
BRArR(BRARESE])FHESEM
EnlEm BELEZFBRLHAR
THHHE_Y_—EEH+ AZzRA%
MBEA-_E_=FA-t+t=H2ZH&
B o PREFR N IR B BB R AR H) & IE
MO EBHRE A (fske) M=t AXE

BB -

On 9 May 2023, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in Shaanxi Unisplendour Life Care Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.* (BRAALRKRIEZEZEBR/AR]) to an independent third
party at the cash consideration of RMB168,160,080
(equivalent to approximately HK$192,425,000). Upon
completion, the Group ceased to have any beneficial interest
in Shaanxi Unisplendor and its subsidiaries (“Shaanxi
Unisplendor Group”). Details of the disposal are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 April 2023 and circular
dated 23 June 2023. The operation of Shaanxi Unisplendour
Life Care Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. is included in the Group's
pharmaceutical business for segment reporting purposes (note
6).
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

REEER  MARESEELNEE The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities attributable to
FEE@BEIT Shaanxi Unisplendor Group on the date of disposal were as
follows:
T T
HK$’000
wARME Total consideration:
HeEKE Cash consideration 192,425
EREEHEZEEREBBI N : Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost:
M BB R (TEE16) Property, plant and equipment (note 16) 154,948
i A E Right-of-use assets 35,871
B2 (MFE19) Goodwill (note 19) 48,131
mp & E (MIsE20) Intangible assets (note 20) 6,464
REWE (BsE18) Investment properties (note 18) 4,191
FE Inventories 18,126
FEUE 5 FRIA Trade receivables 14,020
E b FEYGRIR ~ e RIERT R Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 447
H M BAEE T R K Amounts due from other related parties 296
HeEMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,962
EIEF T8 & (& (Fi5E38) Deferred tax liabilities (note 38) (2,519)
ENESHRIBRERE Trade and bills payable (13,709)
Hap et IE R B WiEE Other payables and deposits received (23,389)
R E Ath BE B 75 53R (M9 RE51) Amount due to other related companies
(note 51) (11,140)
RITHEE (MFFE51) Bank borrowings (note 51) (110,997)
ERNEE Contract liabilities (669)
EFEUA (HF5E32) Deferred income (note 32) (22,096)
HEAE (KIS Lease liabilities (note 51) (2,304)
EHEEEFE Net assets disposed of 98,633
HEMEQ Rz W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
B FE AR A(E Consideration received and receivable 192,425
BEHEEEFHE Net assets disposed of (98,633)
FEFE AR HE o Non-controlling interest 16,699
HE W GrTATH MR EE]) Gain on disposal (included in ‘Other gains and
(P 5E8) losses’) (note 8) 110,491
HEEEZRERAFEH Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
VAR & WER 2 (B (P 5F) Consideration received by cash (note) 182,804
W EHEZERERREEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (2,962)
179,842
e T -_=ZFHHHEEUNMBELRE Note: Cash consideration of RMB159,752,000 (equivalent to
AR #¥159,752,0007T (B & K4 approximately HK$182,804,000) was received during 2023. The
182,804,000/ 7T) * FIgh&E A A R remaining balance of RMBS8,408,000 (equivalent to

8,408,0007T (18 & M 499,621,000/% approximately HK$9,621,000) was settled in 2024.

T)ERZE-MELEN -
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42.

RIKREFGE

AEEZHBRREENEMBTEEZE
REEAEHFTERAKBATEZKE
AEBEARBEHF XA ZETEDL
A% F RN BER - REBREN
RHEES - AEEZFTRNENGTE
EEZE-RERFELRFEMRK -

RARREF I ZHE AR R E—EH
N s R AFEL B(Central Provident
Fund board of directors) #% ~ R &
Mt e ZEAFBIZEERNZ @B XA
THZESANDHAZE  c RZENBA
AR BREZENB R RIETEIR
BIFTET B RE A REMZTE 27K -

AEENRAREHKRFEREEFT
g ([RETstE]) - AT ERERE
BYE2RRESE a2z EER
AEBZEENRARKE  FERBEE
AEHlzEE - BERAEEZ RS
REBESAEBURAZS%E - BA
R B W A B 58 il 14 _E R %%30,0008 7T
EREZBAEAHFBERDIE L
R AIAKEHELEEING% 2 K -

AEE S E R KR M E B A0 R R
BERAR RO BN B BRI -

BHE_Z_WFER-_FT-_=F+=-A
=+ —HIEFERKERFEHERER
BfsE13 o

42.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The PRC employees of the Group are members of
state-managed defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes operated by the local government. The Group is
required to contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Singapore participate in a
defined contribution scheme operated by Central Provident
Fund board of directors in Singapore. The assets of the
scheme are held separately in funds under the control of
trustees. The expenses recognised in these subsidiaries
represent contributions paid and payable to the plan by these
subsidiaries at rates specified in the rules of the plan.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). All qualifying
employees in Hong Kong are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Both employees’ and the Group’s contributions are calculated
at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant income with the
mandatory cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000,
and the Group will make 5% top-up contribution if an
employee’s monthly basic salary exceeds the mandatory cap.

The Group’s contribution to the above retirement benefits
schemes are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
under the applicable laws and regulations.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are stated in note 13.
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HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The lease typically run for an initial period of about 3
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the lease
includes variable lease payments.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following undiscounted lease payments
receivable on lease:

ZENEF —E=F

2024 2023

FHEx FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within 1 year 3,758 3,783
—FIRERFEN After 1 year but within 2 years 3,908 —
MEZREBE=ZFR After 2 years but within 3 years 4,064 —
11,730 3,783

BEAREYE

REBMA AT EARAIE

44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments:

—EC-NE —T =4
2024 2023
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

DETHERAZABEHREK  Capital commitments contracted for but

Bl 2 B AN EE not provided in the consolidated
financial statements:
— BEEYE BEIREH — Acquisition of property, plant and

equipment 5,284 16,883
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45. EXERERE 45. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AEEEEEER  UBRAEBEZE
BASAELE  WEREERRER
HERAARRNRRRTEREANBR - A&
B 7 BEBRHEE F—FEHFITE

AEEZEREHEERER (ETEEHE
MIEE31FTIE < RITEE) AR AR
REMGER  BROBTRA  #HER
REEE EEEFRIJENERE - F
ARz — 8 EFEEREAKAL
REEXNERIRBZEAR - BZRESZ
2E - AKREBERRTHRY BB
B tn K 317 3 (B 75 2 B 3R B (B 75 AT
BMEERBENERE -

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly includes the bank borrowings disclosed in note 31 and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses. The
Directors review the capital structure on an annual basis. As
part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through issuance of new shares and
share buy-back as well as the issuance of new debts or the
redemption of existing debts.
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46. €T A 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
ERMIAEZER Categories of financial instruments
—E-MF — T =4
2024 2023
FTH&xT FB7T
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERMEE Financial assets
RiFBIBRFERAFEEREIE  Financial assets measured at FVTPL
SAFEZEmEBEE
HEhi% & (ME27) Other investment (note 27) 10,000 10,000

IR AT E 2 @B & ZE  Financial assets measured at amortised

cost

e E 5 8 (FizE24) Trade receivables (note 24) 108,710 106,518
BB RIARE RS Other receivables and deposits paid

(FF A E b e Uk 3138 (included in other receivables,

Ze RFEMNKIE) deposits and prepayments)

(FFE26) (note 26) 33,556 25,181
FEULFI B U A (FF A EH A Interest income receivable (included

BUFRIE - e & in other receivables, deposits and

TEfTIR) (FiE26) prepayments) (note 26) 1,152 367
— R A B RER Amount due from an intermediate

(Pf7E48) holding company (note 48) — 9,238
—FE B & A B R (FT5E48)  Amount due from an associate

(note 48) 149,043 145,181

H b BA B 75 R Amounts due from other related

(FFEE49(d)) parties (note 49(d)) 80,034 101,701
e RIS EEY (MH3$28)  Cash and cash equivalents (note 28) 80,585 77,659
HEZS Rental deposits 14,328 11,805

467,408 477,650

477,408 487,650
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46. £ R T A (&)

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

SRIAZER (&) Categories of financial instruments
(Continued)
—E-MEF T =F
2024 2023
FHExT FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
cHAE Financial liabilities
LB ASTEZ &R AME  Finandal liabilities measured at
amortised cost
T8 5 A (FiEE29) Trade payables (note 29) 6,659 6,674
HiERRIARE Wike Other payables and deposits received
(BT A H fth & 7 5138 % (included in other payables and
Bz &) (M3E30) deposits received) (note 30) 46,358 64,743
BEWE  WENMREENMN  Payables for acquisition of property,
FRIE (BT A H fth /& 5 5118 plant and equipment (included in
RE Wiz ) (K3E30) other payables and deposits
received) (note 30) 5,355 8,719
R E At A B 7 5RIR Amounts due to other related parties
(Bi3E49(d)) (note 49(d)) 9,979 7,522
RITEE (MFE31) Bank borrowings (note 31) 88,054 52,347
156,405 140,005
HE & & (fsE40) Lease liabilities (note 40) 209,135 281,476
365,540 421,481

TRIEREERRERIEGR

AEEZTESRITAHN X - %%
CRTAFBEREEMEARE -5/
ZETMTAZERBEMSER (X
Z2RMNERRMINERR) - EERR
FonB R - AR Z SRR
ZBRENTX - EREGEENER
ZEE R AR K B A RO REUE

e T
= 18 °

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed above.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (mainly interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.
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TREREEBRZERBER (B)

7 15 B B
FEmB

AREr ATEHERREERETE
AREEBRATEEEN EHRS
RITIEE 2 HIEHS M) -

AEEZRERBNKRAREERT
RITHEBRBITEEAREHZRE
TEEZRBEESHMED) -

g
VN

iR

R ER [ 30 2K {5 PR AEAAT ) 2R 4 H DURUE B
E8ZFERER - A EEESER
A R @R - I TR 5 E R R
FERBERIAHETE -

AEEEHZERAEN AR ZFE
R RBERRED -  ARBEZRER
ENXEAREBREPRRITEHR MK
KB RN AEBRITEEMELRTE
TRAZKE -

Sh B Jm B

SRR T AEERNNSEXRE
MK AR - AEEZEETEN
RAEAE - FERIFIME RN _F_MF
T-A=1t—0B AEEREUASEE
BRI EB UGB HEZRITHA
#h o — SRR R E MR R
R(CE_=F  R|ITEH% - —FKE
RAERK - —HRNMERARRARE
fi B BE 05 R 3K » AN SR B B Al 3 51 B
EORIRSR - R - EEEEYERINE
Rk - WRAHEREEBEHIPEAINE
JE

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
certain fixed-rate lease liabilities and bank borrowings (see
note 31 for details of these bank borrowings).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings (see note 31
for details of these bank borrowings).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its
exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
necessary actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on bank balances and on the fluctuation of
bank’s cost of funds from the Group’s bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rate. The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Singapore. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group has bank balances, amount due from an associate and
amounts due from other related parties (2023: bank balances,
amount due from an associate, amount due from an
intermediate holding company and amounts due from other
related parties) denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.
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46.

£R T A (&)

TREREEBRERBER (B)

™5 E R ()
S8 m B (AR

NEBEER 2 MEEBUINERHEZ
ENBEERER BB RESENT

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary

liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities are as follows:

BE afE

Assets Liabilities
—E-mE —ZT=F —E-mEF —Z-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FTER FHBT FTER FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e us$ 112,557 91,054 — —
BT HK$ 1,385 12,528 — —
s e (TErmgcl) Singapore dollar (“SGD") 331 — - —
114,273 103,582 — —

TRHNAEERAEEER 2R
HAEBEINE LT R T 5% 2 8
B -5%mERENEINEERZAE
AREEZEIRRAIBRBEL R - HREE
DT RIENERINESHEZ S REER
TREE  WRREARNINEE X
5% 2 BBHELE - TXARIERK
ARRTAREER 2R LIAH
HNEE b TH5% B AN F X B 18 48 0 SR
Lo EMAKEERZEEH LM
SNEETRS% B - AFERERHIRA
ERMEREE -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the
Group’s entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5%
sensitivity rate represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rate. The
sensitivity analysis includes the financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in the relevant foreign currencies, and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rate. A positive or negative
number below indicates an increase or a decrease in loss for
the year where functional currency of the Group’s entities
strengthen 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a
5% weakening of functional currency of the Group's entities
against the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the result for the year.
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. @I A (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
SRRAKEEEEREE (&) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
™™ 5 B ke (1) Market risk (Continued)
I B (4R Foreign currency risk (Continued)
—E-NMEF —T=F
2024 2023
FHEx FHEIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEFEE Result for the year
e us$ (5.628) (4,553)
BT HK$ (69) (626)
¥ N3 T SGD (17) —
EERE Credit risk
AEEBzEERRFEZREWE S HIE The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
K E M fEYGRIE « — R ARIRK other receivables, amount due from an associate, amounts
Hun@asn R HERS A RRITHE due from other related parties, rental deposits and bank
BRI B - balances and cash.
AEEARGHFRERBTEEMER The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
SEARXVBKEIZEREERR a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
HEREGREUBRARMY 2 FBERE obligation by the counterparties is the carrying amount of the
REeMEEFEASE - respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

HEFSNELEZENE ZHE Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
R EERBEERE  AEEEEE In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the Group
EER—XBBREELAEEEEE 5 has delegated a team to be responsible for the determination
EEA R EMERER - ARERREUR of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
ETEHREEER  ERERRES procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
Rtz ERIEEER - o KNEH overdue debts, guarantees or pledges of assets provided by
iR ERRE - REBEESMBERELEL them on a needed basis. In addition, the Group performs
FORMBHEEBEERAHERE S impairment assessment under ECL model under HKFRS 9 on

FIEHETRE RS © trade receivables based on provision matrix.
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R EAEEARRTREARSEE
#4927,169,0008 T (Z T = = F :
21,002,000/ 7)) ERMHEF @ ©

R-ZE-_MFE+-_A=+—H K~&EH
GEMNSEREERBRARARHEBRF
7 — R IEPERR AR R R 3 4961,040,0007%
TT(ZZE =% :61,662,00087C) &k—
RE Bt 4% 2 B R %9 149,043,00058 7T (=
T =4F : 145,181,000 7T) 9 BE %
B AT EZ CREEBE 212.9%
—E - =%:129%)831.6%(=F
Z = :304%) c A& B ERE K
o EREDEFEREVRE KB IETTE
LA R B e B o

fr bR EERRIN - AEEALEL
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REFRZEFHBRK A BRT
R1T% M o

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the Group's
bank balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings

in Hong Kong, the PRC and Singapore.

Amount(s) due from an associate and other related
parties

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of the
associate. The Group's credit risks in the balance is mitigated
through the Group’s power to participate in the relevant
activities of the associate and execution of share charge of
71% equity share of the associate by its majority shareholder
in favour of the Company as collateral for repayment of a
loan with principal of approximately HK$27,169,000 (2023:

HK$21,002,000) provided by the Company.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on amount due
from a non-controlling shareholder of the Company’s
subsidiary amounted to approximately HK$61,040,000 (2023:
HK$61,662,000) and amount due from an associate amounted
to approximately HK$149,043,000 (2023: HK$145,181,000)
(2023:
30.4%) of total financial assets at amortised cost, respectively,
as at 31 December 2024. The Group monitors the level of
exposure to ensure that follow up actions and/or corrective

representing 12.9% (2023: 12.9%) and 31.6%

actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure.

Other than concentration of credit risk mentioned above, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical

areas.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

TREREEEBERBEK (&) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)

REBMHATEERBRTREE T4 The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
Al the following categories:

W15 B R BT R ot EWE S A HthemEE

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets

(39N

Low risk

Watch list

E_l’\:?

Doubtful

518

Loss

Write-off

RZHFENRRRE  BEEIAR 2FEUBRHEEBR 1R2EABRREEEE

e — EBEERE
The counterparty has a low risk of  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired

past-due amounts

EHRALEEIRNEREE BAF 2FEURBEEBR R2EABRREEEE

EHEHE — EBEERE
Debtor frequently repays after due  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired

BRBAMABNEMIINGERY] 2FENARNEERE 2FENAREEEHE

FHERLAK - 8RB EE N — EEERE — BEERE
There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
in credit risk since initial credit-impaired credit-impaired

recognition through information
developed internally or external

resources
BEREBRAEEFEEERE EHFENBEHEERE 2FENENEERR
— BEERE — BIEERIE
There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
is credit-impaired impaired impaired
ﬁ TF%%W S IEARNBENVER FIBED M IR M
i 7 &2 [ 6 U 5K AT = S B

There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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46. T A (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
cHRAKEEEEREE (E) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
TRFMBLBEHREEBETGHR The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
SEsmEENEERRER Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:
—E-mE  —T-=F
2024 2023
REARZFED
Ma SMBERTER ANGHTR BHEEER REMAE REAE
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying carrying
Note credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount amount
TER FAL
HK$'000 HK$'000
RBERAGTENEREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
—FBERERR 48 TEA (Fig5E1) AEEREREERE 316,050 280,965
Amount due from an associate N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL
H At B 7 R 49(d) @M (Fi3E1) 2EEREREEEE 122,182 122,298
Amount due from other related parties N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL
REAEBEEESE 1,382 11,955
12m ECL
@t 123,564 134,253
Total
—RRNERD AR K 48 TEA (FisE1) REAEHEEESE - 9,278
Amount due from an intermediate holding N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
company
RITEH 28 AAZE BBB  (FfFE3) REAEBEEESE 80,585 77,659
Bank balances AA to BBB  (Note 3) 12m ECL
Hit YR - BHRS RIEKF SKA 26 TiEA (F3E1) AFEREREERE 5,850 3,409
Other receivables, deposits paid and interest N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL
income receivables
REAEBEEESE 35,135 28,092
12m ECL
@t 40,985 31,501
Total
BB 708 — m R RS 24 T@ER GEY) 2EERRREEER 111,307 109,374
Trade receivables — goods and services N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL
HERS TER (=) NEAABHEEESR 14,328 11,805

Rental deposits N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
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46. €@ T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
SRRAKEEEEREE (&) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)

PfEE Notes:

1. EFABEERREEIA  ~AEBE 1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
ABBEMTHEVrERE T2 uses past due information to assess whether the credit risk of
MEEEERREDEZEM - following financial assets has increased significantly since initial

recognition.
—E_ME 2024
KRB,
A &R 15 B PR B \mEEENE B
Not past due/
No fixed
Internal credit repayment
rating Past due terms Total
FERT FER FTHEx
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
— BB & A Bl R3K Al & 266,502 49,548 316,050
Amount due from an associate Doubtful
H Al BB 75 R 3R igEN — 1,382 1,382
Amounts due from other related parties  Low risk
AJ &E — 101,672 101,672
Doubtful
&5 — 20,510 20,510
Loss
HfEWFIE - BN Re RERAEKRA BELE — 35,135 35,135
Other receivables, deposits paid and Watch list
interest income receivable &8 5,850 — 5,850
Loss
HE®RS 9N — 14,328 14,328

Rental deposit Low risk
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December 2024

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
Mok« (88) Notes: (Continued)
. (%) 1. (Continued)
= 2023
KimHp,
WER = B R AR i HA =& E R g
Not past due/
No fixed
Internal credit repayment
rating Past due terms Total
T FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
— A& A AR K A] &E 238,725 42,240 280,965
Amount due from an associate Doubtful
H fth B 75 R R 1K = B = 11,955 11,955
Amounts due from other related parties  Low risk
Al &E — 122,298 122,298
Doubtful
— R MER R R R K 1K 2 B2 = 9,278 9,278
Amount due from an intermediate Low risk
holding company
HhEIHIE - BRe REKRFAEKRA BREE = 28,092 28,092
Other receivables, deposits paid and Watch list
interest income receivable &5 18 3,409 — 3,409
Loss
HEZS 1K 2 B2 = 11,805 11,805
Rental deposits Low risk

2. HEWEZFEAME  AKECDKRA
B WIS ERIE ISR AT
ExFANHESEERENERE
- BRAFEERENER ARER
HEEFHARAEEBRI  AEEK
RiafReREBEAMBITESA
MEEEREEZERANBHER
B8

2. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with credit-impaired which assess
expected credit losses on individual basis, the Group determines
the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision
matrix, grouped by past due status and debtor’s industry.
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TREREEBRZERBER (B)

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
Mok« (88) Notes: (Continued)
2. (%%) 2. (Continued)
ERASEEERBREEN R K As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
EEZEABEANKRRTIGHEZTFH debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
BE REAZEEFIAHERS because these customers consist of a large number of
R NEIRSAR - mEE RS A B customers with common risk characteristics that are
RERBES K IGRHERTA BN FIE representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
O R - TRIZBHEE BEK due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following
BOFBEFERBAEM  ZEHRIE table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for
RZE-_WNERZZFE-_=F+=A trade receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix
=t HEERNBREBEEEFEEFE as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 within lifetime ECL.
HMEMEEEE -
IRE#H Gross carrying amount
—BoNE —T=F
2024 2023
THEER EREZHE THEEE RERESRE
Average loss Trade Average loss Trade
rate receivables rate receivables
TET FHEL
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BIER (R HR) Current (not past due) 1.8 76,181 2.1 69,823
BME1E0K 1-90 days past due 2.0 30,135 1.9 29,009
BHIQOREMF 90 days—2 years past due 13.0 4,991 8.1 10,542
111,307 109,374
HETBEETRBEB AR TEREE The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
HMESBEREZLOERMGE  UEREE observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
TR B A RES I BV A 1S B A E 1 are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
BRELAE EEETCHRIEH without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
D AR EEEANHERER reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
RIFEH specific debtors is updated.
3. FEERBER FRAERXSEFA 3. The credit risk is limited because the counterparties are banks

BERNZRORSBEE BEFR
REAGHREREEES -

and financial institutions with high reputation, the directors
consider no ECL is provided.
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46. R T A (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
cHRAKEEEEREE (E) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
TRETHERE ZHEERNEZTE The following table summarised the movement in lifetime ECL
HEMEEERNBEZEHER - that has been recognised for trade receivables:
AR
Total
T
HK$'000
R-E-_=F—HF—H As at 1 January 2023 3,270
B ERAR(EEE Impairment losses recognised 375
HENRB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (138)
T 85 Write-offs (649)
IE =5 Exchange differences (2)
R—E-_=F+—-_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 2,856
B ERE R EER Impairment losses recognised 2,719
T 85 Write-offs (2,914)
P =5 Exchange differences (64)

RZE-_WFE+=—_A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 2,597
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46. €W T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

SRRAKEEEEREE (&) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
HEMEWSE  Effre REKFEHK Other receivables, deposits paid and interest income
A receivable
TRETRHEMELRIE  ENEES R The following table shows reconciliations of loss allowance
JE W) B A B R Y S TR R R Y B that has been recognised for other receivables, deposits paid

and interest income receivable:

12EARYE 2FEPED

FEEE FEEE wE

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Total

FHEIT FHEIT FHEIT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000

R—_ZE—_=%—HF—H As at 1 January 2023 3,708 3,459 7,167
BB AR EE R Impairment losses reversed (890) — (890)
HEMEAR A Disposal of subsidiaries (283) — (283)
EHERE Exchange differences 9 (50) (41)
RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 2,544 3,409 5,953
LR Transfer (2,514) 2,514 —
B RN EEE Impairment losses recognised 400 — 400
EHERE Exchange differences (3) (73) (76)

RZE_WE+=—_A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 427 5,850 6,277
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46. £RLT A (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
cHRAKEEEEREE (E) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
EERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
Rt m R — BN R L e R 5% Amount(s) due from other related parties and an

intermediate holding company

TRE TR AR T R —ER N ER The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
NAERRERH EEEERN R that has been recognised for amount(s) due from other
related parties and an intermediate holding company:

12EARYE 2FEPED

FEBE FEEE B

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Total

FHT FHT FHT

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000

R—_ZE—_=%#—HF—H As at 1 January 2023 1,187 19,820 21,007
EEe Transfer (1,148) 1,148 —
EHEROREERE Impairment loses recognised 55 11,615 11,670
EHEE Exchange differences — (85) (85)
RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 94 32,498 32,592
EE R Transfer (42) 42 —

Impairment loses recognised
ERER (BRE) MR EERE (reversed) (47) 11,382 11,335
] Exchange differences — (397) (397)
RZEZ_WMFE+=_A=+—8H As at 31 December 2024 5 43,525 43,530
iz : RZZT-—WE+=—A=+—8  Eft Note: As at 31 December 2024, allowance of HK$43,530,000 (2023:
A Bt 75 R SR e ik 2 ¥ #5 543,530,000 HK$32,552,000) attributable to amounts due from other
BIL(ZE = =% 32,552,000/ related parties. The Group has not recognised allowance for
TT) o FA - AREBES MR T amount due from an intermediate holding company during the
AR ZREETREB(ZE_=4: year (2023: HK$40,000).

40,000 7T) ©
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46. €@ T B (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
TREREEEBERBEK (&) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
FERR (&) Credit risk (Continued)
— B E R B R Amount due from an associate
TRETH —MHE R R R RERE The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
BRENEER that has been recognised for amount due from an associate:

REAEH =FEMEANY

FEFRE FEFRE PR

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Total

FHET FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R=ZZE=—_=%—H—H As at 1 January 2023 = 72,120 72,120
B BRI EEE Impairment loses recognised — 61,195 61,195
EHERE Exchange differences = 2,469 2,469
RZEBE-=F+-"A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 — 135,784 135,784
B RN EEE Impairment loses recognised — 35,449 35,449
EHERE Exchange differences — (4,226) (4,226)
RZE_WE+=—_A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 — 167,007 167,007

B R R Liquidity risk

P IR 7 D M R B Ry K'ilﬁk%ii&,%ﬁ In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
REEBERAEURAEER S ERHEE and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
@&ﬁﬁ@ﬁium%&@)%ﬁ'szfﬁ@&fﬁ adequate by the management to finance the Group's
EBYKT - REEKBRITEEE operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
%ég,@béix/r B EERIRT flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
BEZERAE source of liquidity. The management monitors the utilisation of

bank borrowings.
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46. €R T A (&)

TREREEBRERBER (B)

B R R ()

TRHINAEEEREBEZHTENET
HRI » R EFIR T ERANS B AT R
KEETHABECREEY RERE
BEARMRACRERE - ZREENE

EAREHERE -

i A

o

MERBFBH

- HARMB RIS R 2 IR

RBELRFIE @R

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

mEFH BRERS RER
EBRN= SH3EA 3MMAE-F 1855 BESF RERELR kA ]
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years  cash flows amount

TER TR TR TER TR TR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZ-WE+=A=+—-H

At 31 December 2024

EAE 5508 REMEN B Trade payables and other payables TEA
N/A 58,372 - - - 58,372 58,372
RE A B 7 F0R Amounts due to other related TER
parties N/A 9,979 - - - 9,979 9,979
BEE Bank borrowings 3.19 2,309 87,469 - - 89,778 88,054
HERRE Lease liabilities 5.38 18,422 53,802 151,009 9,076 232,309 209,135
89,082 141,271 151,009 9,076 390,438 365,540
T RERH REE
BHA= PR3EA  3EAER-£ 1854 BiBSF RENELE FESHE
Weighted
average On demand or Total
effective less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year 1-5 years  Over 5 years cash flows amount
TAT TR ThER TAT TR ThR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-=4+-fA=+-H At 31 December 2023
ERESHEREMENFE Trade payables and other payables @R
N/A 80,136 o — w 80,136 80,136
R Eft B 77 0B Amounts due to other related @R
parties N/A 7,522 it 2y = 7,522 7,522
RITEE Bank borrowings 475 5,735 34,620 13,678 — 54,033 52,347
HEAE Lease liabilities 4.67 19,495 57,303 201,380 31,438 309,616 281,476

112,888 g 215,058 31,438 451,307 421,481
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MEBEERFL @B (F)

/¥ B R B E RN E I RETE < f
AAMERHIRER A aﬂ\ﬁLéFMi%
MEECEEIAZHELEH

ERMIAEZAFEFTE

A FEREERASENAEESES
MEEZAFEZER -

AEEETEREELZNEREHNRZ
RFEFE - TREHREETZFERE
EAFEZAXN(LERMERZMGAE
Rt R@AE)  UERBRBERFEFE
Ff P & JK@ZT&E%‘—‘&VF@H“‘?TEJ

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change, if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value

ERERRFEER AR (E hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
W) ZER - categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
DNEER DAPEER PFERWREIERAE
Fair value  Valuation technique and
SREE Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy key inputs
“BoMmE —T-o=F
2024 2023
FHT FTHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZBBEZEREATEEE2SMEE Financial assets at FVTPL
HikE Other investment 10,000 10,000 E=#& i3]
Level 2 (Note)

Mzt E_RELESNAFEDRETS
HR ZSEBEANRERBATER
BABBXENEMEERREE
ERBABBEAMHEMNE BEFE
RESRHFERERLZHER -

Note: Level 2 fair values of fixed interest funds have been determined
based on quotes from market makers, funds administrators or
alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs. The
most significant input are market interest rates, net asset values
and latest redemption prices or transaction prices of the funds.
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46.

47.

TR T A (&)
TWMIT R 2D FENE ()

REBEE_Z_NFEER-_ZE_=F+_H
=t+—HULEFEE F—FK F_HEFE
B EER -

EERAR AKBESAMBHRRAR
BHERACRCEREERSRAEBLZ
EHSREQNFERS - ZFRFET
ERNURAEREDMERAREER
BEE -

EERR

RZZBE-_WMF+=-_A=+—H ' ~5E
Z SR 178 B #985,524,0008 L (= &
T =14 :%928,824,000/8 ) REEAE
#151,0008 T(ZE=Z=ZF : 4
1,076,000 7T) B A R &£ B & E E K
H ZSEEENEREDERAT :

46.

47.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$85,524,000 (2023: approximately
HK$28,824,000) and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$151,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,076,000) had been
secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets and the carrying
amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

“BECQRF —T=F

2024 2023

FER FHIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

BFEREEY Buildings and structures 30,622 1,835
TEY Investment property 32,901 —
FREEE Right-of-use assets 1,434 4,454
IRITAE Bank balance 305 129
65,262 6,418
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—EBEATXIR FNER  48. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/AN
YNEIVSEA INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
—E-MEF —E=F
2024 2023
FET FE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
JEWURR R RE B A SR IE Receivables of royalty fee income
(B i) (note i) 269,527 241,677
B EEEERE Less: allowance for credit losses (144,127) (120,506)
125,400 121,171
JrE e B = N B B SR (B RN Loan receivables from the associate
(note i) 38,255 35,495
B EEEEEE Less: allowance for credit losses (19,563) (13,430)
18,692 22,065
H A (B i) Others (note i) 8,268 3,793
B EEEBERE Less: allowance for credit losses (3,317) (1,848)
4,951 1,945
149,043 145,181
2R iw=1E Analysis as:
BN HR Current 130,389 132,346
JERNEA Non-current 18,654 12,835
149,043 145,181
—EEERARRRIE() RS RERE Amount due from an associate represented (i) receivable of
e £h .
85 B ) S HE B R A 0 FE MR SRR ¢ royalty fee income in relation to fitness and health activities;
; S =gy e,
(if) PR M i A R B ¢ (i) EL A AR HR 3R (ii) loans receivables from the associate; (i) other short term

= 1H o .
K WK IR advances and receivables.



e ISR

EREFEEAER AT KONTAFARMA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_NWE+_A=+—HIEE

S

FA

—F%ﬂﬂﬁﬁ‘%"’ AR R R ER

=h ='-‘)

)?ﬁi

R-ZT_—_mME+_-_fF=+—
B EEEWE%E%@E
269,527,000 (=& = =
£ 241,677, ooo,%m(?mﬁ%fm
iéﬂéﬂaﬁéﬁm4,1z7,ooo%m
— T~ =4 :120,506,000/8
TO)) B EFEB IR - 8
um#:%%%uﬁz)\mAiﬁ‘i\%ﬁﬁ
BEAHNERRSTARB R
N

For the year ended 31 December 2024

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, receivable of royalty fee income
with gross carrying amount of HK$269,527,000 (2023:
HK$241,677,000), net of allowance for credit losses of
HK$144,127,000 (2023: HK$120,506,000) has been
recognised. Details of the aging analysis for the
contractual amount of royalty income receivable based
on invoice date are presented as below:

—E-mEF —E-=F

2024 2023

FET FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

090K 12,126 12,625
91-180k 8,974 11,846
181-365& 181-365 days 17,688 17,635
BiE1E More than 1 year 230,739 199,571
1T 269,527 241,677

RZBE-_WNE+=—A=+—
B HEE%@TEJEBS 255,000;‘%
TR EWE RF R IE
3,500,000 L B S gt @ % 1 AR
T #4818 /27,214,000 T 2 JE
W E R EA6,143,000 T
(8 & M790,000E 7T) BN E
A4=EX » 21,071,000 7T (48
B H2,710,000F L) EREF
RE-ERBEEDR T
F+-_A=+—BEHEH-
é%%?ﬁﬂﬁmﬂﬁﬁéﬂimﬂﬁ
RIAKRR R AT AR A B
M/‘Tﬂ%ﬂxm**mxfﬁﬁ
R FREE10% @ &
HEARIER B E60M@A -

BTERKERLEETES
11,041,000/ 7T (456,653,000
7 7t (A8 & 7 850,000 JT) -
BBk F A EE 10,143,000/
7T (#8 & 71,300,000 78)) &
EEHA FREE10% @ WE
RIBE S 8 2 B i 512418 A
Z60EAREE -

Among the loans receivables with gross carrying amount
of HK$38,255,000 as at 31 December 2024, loans
receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$27,214,000 were granted under a US$3,500,000
loan facility, of which HK$6,143,000 (equivalent to
US$790,000) was drawn down during the year and
HK$21,071,000 (equivalent to US$2,710,000) was drawn
down in last year. The loan facility has been fully utilized
as at 31 December 2024. The loan facility was secured
by a share charge of 71% equity interest of the
associate executed by the majority shareholder of the
associate in favour of the Company as collateral, bore
interests at 10% per annum and was repayable for a
term of 60 months from date of draw down.

The remaining balance of loans receivables with gross
carrying amount of HK$11,041,000 (including
HK$6,653,000 (equivalent to US$850,000), net of
repayment of HK$10,143,000 (equivalent to
US$1,300,000) during the year) was unsecured, bore
interest at 10% per annum and repayable from 24
months and up to 60 months from date of draw down
or renewal.
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ZHRBESEER 2B NAR

S
EREE -

HIEERZ

—HERBER
@E&Eﬁﬂﬁij‘:’_x%&mﬂ%

BR 5% %? B MR A AL ER ) AT R
ZR P R RAIEIN - ARG [ B R R
ﬁ&ﬁfﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁTﬁ)ﬁZiﬁ%ﬁﬂ'J%
THOAERTHAERAEEBBAL)

ZR 5 K

BRI -

(a) HEBAERS

HE-Z-_WMFE+=-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/AN

INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

The amount due was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

Note iii:

Amount due from an intermediate holding company was fully
repaid in 2024.

. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had transactions and balances with related parties
and other related parties which also constitute connected
persons of the Group as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, are disclosed below.

(a) Continuing connected transactions

BMEALTRBBS RHMHE —E-ImE TE =
Connected persons Nature of

and related parties transactions 2024 2023

FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

Hr B8 (G ) £ MM AR 2~ & (fiE) HE WA 3,629 3,680

SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (note)

Rental income

B E

CEEEE  ARBIRIES (B

“EOERNAEHRE)
FrRERETHERHEXE
MEBARERE KETEREGL
R)EMRMERRA(TH B
B BRERARE EHER5%IA LR
REE -BAER_T_=%
=T F GRAER) RETR
BREBEAZENRERE
@O ARTEEHRZERD
TR ETARASE + AT
e

Note: Mr. Jiang Chaowen, former director of the Company
(retired on 7 June 2024), was president and the
chairman of certain subsidiaries in pharmaceutical
business, and owns more than 5% of the voting power
at SPF (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (“SPF")’s general
meeting. Mr. Jiang has significant influence and
beneficial interests in SPF during 2023 and 2024 (before
his retirement). The directors of the Company confirmed
the transactions are conducted in accordance with the
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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49. BIERBEBARXZNERS () 49. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)
(b) XEBME (b) Summary of transactions
(W) EA
(Income) Expenses
—E-mEF —E-=F
2024 2023
B 5 FBT T T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
— [ E QA An associate
— B EBIRA — Royalty fee income (i) (36,534) (39,170)
— FERKA — Interest income (4,515) (1,817)
—RAFR N ERA A An intermediate holding
company
— FEWA — Interest income (ii) (361) —
— FERAX — Interest expense (i) — 5
— HEEM — Sale of products (i) — (22)
BRI 2 BT Related parties of the
ultimate shareholder
— HEEMm — Sale of products (ii) — (35)
— BREE — Service fee (ii) 12 43
— e A — Rental income (a) (3,629) (3,680)
(0 TEEEEBAEHE (c) Key management personnel compensation
—E-mEF ZE=F
2024 2023
FHET T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
e &k E S HE T Salaries and other short-term
benefits 3,639 7,139
BEB 18 AN Post-employment costs 324 295

3,963 7,434
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49. BERBBM L RS R4 (&)

49. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)
(d) HEREE (d) Summary of balances
—E-mEF =4
2024 2023
=T FET FHETT
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
RBEE Current assets
SRR A E Z M B/  Amount due from
AR K subsidiaries of the
ultimate holding
company (iii) 18,994 40,039
NARKIEBARZ—% Amount due from a non-
FE 2 AR AR 3R R 5K controlling shareholder of
the Company’s subsidiary (iii) 61,040 61,662
E Ath AR 5 R K Amounts due from other
related parties 80,034 101,701
REEE Current liabilities
REEERAFTIMNEZL  Amount due to subsidiaries
Bl Z A of the ultimate holding
company (iii) 9,979 7,522
R E Ath BEESE 5 5R0E Amounts due to other
related parties 9,979 7,522

MsE -

(ii)

(iii)

ZERHIEXRETrue Yogatk E
R ERAEERERA
B B 8 BT I R A R A A
ZRE-ZEXHUTER L
MAANEFMARIE T 2 BER
2o

HERSHBRARAEEH
S|P ETRAETIATET
WL - FREEERAA R
BATZHERS HERE
25

RZT-_MER=ZT_=F
+=—A=+—8 " ##HAEIK
Rt ERBREREE -

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

These transactions represent payments from True Yoga
Group in consideration for the right and license granted
by the Group for its operation in Taiwan. These
transactions do not constitute connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

These transactions constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions of the Company that
are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances were
unsecured, non-interest bearing and were repayable on
demand.
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50. HAREIR

(a)

RZZFE—hRENA+=H " &R
Al Patrick John Wee Ewe
Seng 4t A4 ([PIW % 4 |) K Active
Gains Universal Limited ([ Active
Gains D1EBREAN(HBIRS
AN AEEBSEERE A QA
MR EH 2 &K &8 A alFester
Global Limited ([Fester Global])
EREEABLNERSMRK(E
Mok  SFEERRGRER A
14692019 ([ =T — N FEER2
Fl) e

REARBASKF 2EHB I R
Fester GlobaliR #&Fester Global
(ERER) - ARRI(EREFE
RA) * Active Gains (BIFRPIW %
EEFINER  ERER) RPIW
EEMERBREARBAIRSE
—+tFRANBIILZEE &
([EE W] WKEETrue Cayman
BI51% I o B L W iE e 5F
BARRARGBEA-ZT—+
FRALH —ZE—+FHA
—_+thAhBRE-ZZE—t&+A
ZHNBRAERBE K (5E[Z
EXH]) PR o [REABL (HAF
BE)ATSHERERR :

() {188 E B # 583,500,000
ETT

(i) EAFActive Gains & PIW L
A LAAS /A B & Fester Global
A% 7 AgbTrue Cayman%s
EREBE—_ET—tF+-H
=T —BIEMBFEEEDD
BRAREBCEK : &

50. CONTINGENCIES

(a)

On 13 August 2019, the Company was served a writ of
summons (the “Writ”) filed by Mr. Patrick John Wee
Ewe Seng (“Mr. PJW") and Active Gains Universal
Limited (“Active Gains”) as the plaintiffs (collectively as
the “Plaintiffs”) against the Company and Fester Global
Limited (“Fester Global”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as the defendants under High Court
Action No. 1469/2019 (the “2019 Legal Proceedings”) in
the High Court of Hong Kong.

The Plaintiffs’ allegations in the Writ are related to the
acquisition by Fester Global of 51% equity interest in
True Cayman pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 6 May 2017 (“SPA”) made between
Fester Global (as purchaser), the Company (as
purchaser’s guarantor), Active Gains (being an entity
controlled by Mr. PJW as vendor), and Mr. PJW (as
vendor’s warrantor). Details of the said acquisition were
disclosed in the announcements and circular of the
Company respectively dated 7 May 2017, 29 May 2017
and 28 July 2017 (collectively, the “Documents”). The
Plaintiffs claim for, among others, the following:

(i)  payment of balance of the purchase price, being
US$3,500,000;

(i) a declaration that the profit guarantee given by
Active Gains and Mr. PJW in favour of the
Company and Fester Global in respect of True
Cayman Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2017 had been met; and
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50. SAEIE () 50. CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

(@ (&) (@) (Continued)

(i) EAFActive Gains & PIW L
A LAAS /A 8] & Fester Global
A% 7 AgtTrue Cayman%s
EREBE—T - N\FEk=F
—NWFE+-A=+—HIH
BEEELHBFRE RS
BAM - BREZEXHH
FIiEEEBEHE IR
Active Gainsi#§ B #E1TE R
yh BARE + LA[AlFester Global
& True Caymanz % T
1 o

RARABBERZZE—NLFE+=A
T HEMASEZARIREN
HOEBRAMBUYBREREAZ
HE-R-_EBE-—F—F -
Active Gains7 R BERL B B kMR
B BEEBERANEEELEE -
REEE R FINITIRD WL 55
N Z#EF| o LAFester Global &% %
A3 #910,000A% True Cayman
f% 17 B ## F Fester Global * {E&
HEH D BFRBLZFIE TR
HREARE - FAt - NEE [
REAZFERBR(RBER]) MK
BN BNREZEZHBR - RE
ARREEBETEE REZRMA
ERAZHREBREAIEER
E-RZTE-_Z—_F—AW@A K
‘A 7] M Fester Global 2 32 (a)#& &
FIRBEMAERER - kD)
B EBERRBENFAIRBER
FRBEMFEIERH  ZF— N
FEERERFR _ZE_=FK_F
ZHFWEERER o

(i) a declaration that the profit guarantee given by
Active Gains and Mr. PJW in favour of the
Company and Fester Global in respect of the True
Cayman Group for the financial years ended
31 December 2018 and 2019 ceases to have
effect and that Active Gains be entitled to exercise
the put option so as to sell certain shareholding in
True Cayman to Fester Global according to the
terms of the SPA as disclosed in the Documents.

The Company has filed the defence to the High Court
of Hong Kong on 12 December 2019 and has been
vigorously defending and opposing the Plaintiffs’ claims.
In January 2021, the Group has enforced its right under
a share charge agreement since Active Gains has failed
to compensate the Group in respect of the profit
guarantee shortfalls under the SPA. 10,000 shares in
True Cayman charged in favour of Fester Global were
transferred to Fester Global as partial settlement of the
amounts due and payable under the profit guarantee
arrangement. Subsequently, the Group issued a
counterclaim (“Counterclaim”) against the Plaintiffs to
recover the balance of the profit guarantee shortfalls,
and in response, the Plaintiffs filed their Amended Reply,
Defence to Counterclaim and Counterclaim to
Counterclaim. On 4 January 2022, the Company and
Fester Global filed (a) a Re-Amended Defence and
Counterclaim and (b) a Rejoinder to Amended Reply and
Reply to Defence to Counterclaim and Defence to
Counterclaim to Counterclaim. There was no material
progress for 2019 Legal Proceedings during 2023 and
2024.
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50. AEE (F)

(b)

ERASERIEE E & 2 s A
RE L HEM Active Gains &2 PIW 5t
ESKEEZE—TTH 3
S RZTEZ_F=H BESE
BEEERER_T=_=_F=A
+/ANB &ML 2 A - BLFester
Global EBRE N IBERE)

BRARAASE 1942/2021 5% M £ 12 H
ZIERFD( T - —FRER
A1) MBEBEINZ Active Gains &
PIWZE & (F B[ 5 AL B H R
HEMoRERRRELRE ([
B {ENSHK]) ° Fester Global A —
T —FEREFLTHHRE
Active GainsMPIWSEEAEERESE
5% » LAK Active GainsiZ [ Fester
Global * Active Gains & True
CaymanR—ZE—+FHA-1+N
ERIRVAEES A ES D)
A8 - B RFester GlobalAActive
GainsiEH R RAFFIBHEBER AR
AAMA=ZE-_—F=A=+HA

HHAE e

Active GainsMPIWSELEER —Z
——FtA-THRERKEER
MERRBZER  EI ' Active
Gains gt (i) 1R 4% % B8 175 7% 2 R True
CaymanR —ZE-_TF=A=+—
BXEBEMRR - ()ARFIEBITRR
BEEN2RINSE  FREE
F—2EZEEHEM(ERRBRE
W E11.316) - RiDiE R Lt
BXHABEEEHEER D RS
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ZE_F+—A+t—REXRMD
BEMREBERNA - — T = —F%
BFDLR_Z_=FKR=-F_NQ
FUWEERNHER -

50. CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

As part of the Group’s further actions to seek
compensation from Active Gains and Mr. PJW under the
profit guarantee arrangement of SPA, in March 2022, a
concurrent writ of summons with statement of claim
(the “Concurrent Writ”) was served on Active Gains and
Mr. PJW (collectively as the “Defendants”), outside Hong
Kong pursuant to the leave granted by the High Court
of Hong Kong on 18 February 2022 for serving the
Concurrent Writ on the Defendants out of the
jurisdiction of Hong Kong in relation to the legal action
instituted by Fester Global, as the plaintiff, against the
Defendants under the High Court Action No. 1942/2021
(the “2021 Legal Proceedings”). Fester Global's claims
under the 2021 Legal Proceedings are related to the
breaches of the SPA by Active Gains and Mr. PJW, and
the breaches of the shareholders’ agreement (the
“SHA") dated 29 May 2017 entered into among Fester
Global, Active Gains and True Cayman by Active Gains.
Details of Fester Global's claims against Active Gains are
disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated
25 March 2022.

Active Gains and Mr. PJW filed and served a Defence
and Counterclaim on 20 July 2022, pursuant to which
Active Gains counterclaimed for (i) a declaration that
True Cayman is subject to trade sale as of 31 March
2020 pursuant to the SHA, (ii) specific performance of
clauses 11.2 and 11.5 of the SHA, specifically the
appointment of an appointed valuer (as defined under
clause 11.3 of the SHA), and (iii) relevant damages for
breach of the above provisions. In response, Fester
Global filed Reply and Defence to Counterclaim on
11 November 2022. There was no material progress for
2021 Legal Proceedings during 2023 and 2024.
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50. HAEE (F)

(b)

(&)
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ZE-NEFEEEFR=T=—
FIRAEFAMBME R -
 EZERAVB®REATIER
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RAEEERSKEZERRE
BERFERENER  HFHE—
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B EXFTESN ARER-F
“HF+ZA=+—BHLEEM

50. CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(Continued)

On 19 February 2024, the 2019 Legal Proceedings and
the 2021 Legal Proceedings were ordered to be tried
before the same judge and be heard at the same time
or immediately after another as the trial judge may
direct. Both the 2019 Legal Proceedings and 2021 Legal
Proceedings are progressing to trial but the dates of trial
have not been fixed up to the date of issue of these
consolidated financial statements. Based on the opinion
of the management of the Company after seeking legal
advice and considering the latest development, the
possibility of any significant economic outflow in relation
to the 2019 Legal Proceedings and the 2021 Legal
Proceedings is remote.

Except for the above, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.
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51.

MEXBRAELERGE 2R

TRHFMAKEREXBAELREBE L
2 (BRASIFFRCES) - MEX
BRELABEZAEREC LI REKR
EREBERAKEGEARE R KA
PHERBEFTREARE

51. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

R—BHN REM

fE& FER A& MEAE BRARFRE WEAITE B
Amount
due to an
intermediate Amounts
Interest Lease holding  due to other
Borrowings payables liabilities company related parties Total

TAT THAT THET TET THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(FizE31) (Fi%E30) (FizE40) (Pt zE49(d))
(note 31) (note 30) (note 40) (note 49(d))
R=ZE==%—Hf—H At 1 January 2023 261,925 186 328,797 = 25,280 616,188
BERESR Financing cash flows (100,639) (4,996) (76,579) (5) (16,593) (198,812)
TR TR Addition of construction
in progress = = = = 9,894 9,894
HEEEM Addition of new leases = = 23,373 = = 23,373
HEENR Lease modification = = (7,538) = — (7,538)
HEMBAR Disposal of subsidiaries (110,997) = (2,304) - (11,140) (124,441)
B A% Exchange differences 2,058 (75) 4,287 = 81 6,351
FEFAS Interest expenses = 4,991 11,440 5 = 16,436
RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2023 52,347 106 281,476 = 7,522 341,451

R—ERh REM

EE BRI HEEE ERAAZNE BEIRE “E
Amount

due to an Amounts

intermediate due to other

Interest Lease holding related
Borrowings payables liabilities company parties Total
TERT TER TER TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(HEE31) (HEE30) (HEE40) (FiEF49(d))

(note 31) (note 30) (note 40) (note 49(d))
—Z-QWF—A—H At 1 January 2024 52,347 106 281,476 - 7,522 341,451
REREM Financing cash flows 37,606 (2,480) (77,647) - - (42,521)

TERTEEM Addition of construction

in progress — — — — 2,656 2,656
HEES Lease modification - - 3,552 — — 3,552
BE =2 Exchange differences (1,899) (15) (9,158) — (199) (11,271)
FERX Interest expenses — 2,480 10,912 - — 13,392

RZZF-WF+=-A=1+—H At 31 December 2024

88,054 91 209,135 - 9,979 307,259
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KA T Z BB R T 52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
—E-mEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
FExT FB7T
HK$000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y - RE REE Property, plant and equipment 1,468 2,189
PHESE Right-of-use assets 3,557 8,428
RBRR ZHE* Investments in subsidiaries* 621,042 111,364
— & QAR Amount due from an associate 18,654 12,835
SIEEPNEIDSES Amounts due from subsidiaries 304,004 800,669
948,725 935,485
RBEE Current assets
H b e W R I8 KR FE A FRIE Other receivables and prepayments 10,573 1,463
— M E R AR Amount due from an associate 4,989 11,175
HMEE Other investment 10,000 10,000
RehBE2EEYD Cash and cash equivalents 11,884 19,562
37,446 42,200
RBAE Current liabilities
HiEMRERETER Other payables and accrued expenses 4,012 2,329
HIEEE Tax liabilities 3,287 —
HEAE Lease liabilities 1,250 1,442
8,549 3,771
RBEESE Net current assets 28,897 38,429
HEERABERE Total assets less current liabilities 977,622 973,914
AR & Capital and reserves
fi& 7 Share capital 11,177 11,177
[ 17 4 18 Kttt (BIRE) Share premium and reserves (note) 963,334 954,690
B Total equity 974,511 965,867
* REBEE-—ZT-_mMF+=-_A=+—HL @ During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company

FF - ADFAERENE TR
AAEEH2BBRE R HRR
B AAEERARARNEEZAN
BAF -

acquired entire equity interest in Tongfang Pharmaceutical from
its wholly owned subsidiary. On completion of the transaction,
Tongfang Pharmaceutical became a direct wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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52. KRB ZHMBEMRREK (E) 52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

—E-MEF —E-=F
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

ERBEE Non-current liabilities
BIRK A Provision for reinstatement cost 404 626
HESE Lease liabilities 2,707 7,421
3,111 8,047
977,622 973,914

ARRZHBRARER B AE=
B+ \BEEESHERETHAL
KREHS

E R
Wang Feifei
EF
DIRECTOR

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and
was signed on its behalf by:

HEF
Guo Zixiu
EFE
DIRECTOR
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52. XD A ZMBRREK (K) 52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
MEsE Notes:
IR E R A SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES
ARG RE
R %E BXRE HSBZRH EifE R ER BE
Shares held
for share
Share Capital award  Translation Accumulated
premium reserve scheme reserve losses Total

TR TAT TAT TAR TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-ZE-_=%—-HA—H At 1 January 2023 1,523,949 — (4,854) (62,027) (320,890) 1,136,178
ARAAEEER Loss for the year of the Company — — — — (177,894) (177,894)
ARREIIEREE ER AR Exchange difference arising on

translation to presentation currency — — — (3,594) = (3,594)
AEEZAXLEE Total comprehensive expense

for the year = = = (3,594) (177,894) (181,488)
RZZ-ZF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2023 1,523,949 — (4,854) (65,621) (498,784) 954,690
RATREERF Profit for the year of the Company - - - - 33212 33212
RARRIEREEVERER Exchange difference arising on

translation to presentation currency — - — (18,308) - (18,308)
HerKHERRANE Waiver of amount due from

subsidiaries - (6,260) - - - (6,260)
AEERENE () B8 Total comprehensive income (expense)

for the year (6,260) - (18,308) 33,212 8,644

R=Z-mE+=A=1—H At 31 December 2024 1,523,949 (6,260) (4,854) (83,929) (465,572) 963,334
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53.

fi B~ B &R

ARARFEHBARN T MER=
Fo=HF+TA=+—RAZERMT

ME+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

Particulars of all
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

53. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

subsidiaries of the Company as

at

BRTRAZEER
ARER MR BEhE SEHH BE/EHREMER AREEEZBRRARR FTEK
Paid up issued
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up  Effective equity interest
Name of company registration operations registered capital  attributable to the Group Principal activities
—EoNE —E-=F
2024 2023
% %
Fester Global Limited RERAHS B (E 100 100 REER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
EMRARRAE BB BB 1B 100 100 REERRREER RS
Fully Fine Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding and provision of
management service
Gratwick Limited EBRREHS B (E 100 100 REER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
Greater Vision Limited EERZES B (E 100 100 HEER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
BREAEROA BE BE BT 100 100 REZRRRHEER RS
Kingway Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding and provision of
management service
BEBRRA BE BE 18T 100 100 REZRRRHEER RS
Kingwood Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding and provision of
management service
BRREEEBRAF REHS B 100% 7T - 90 B2k4A
Konta Investment Cayman Islands Hong Kong Us$100 - 90 Struck off
Management Co., Limited
Sharkview Limited RBRLES BE 1% 100 100 REZR
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
EE£ (M) HE AR ¥120,000,0007 100 100 RERRRRERHEER  BRIBE
The PRC (Note 1) The PRC RMB120,000,000 100 100 Investment holding and manufacturing and sales
of drugs, including chemical drugs
ERAFLR) ENFAk  PE () HE AR #10,000,0007C 100¢ 100" HEBRER
BRAR The PRC (Note 2) The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100¢ 100* Research and development of medical products
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— P’ N =
53. B A RER (&) 53. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BERTRAZEER
ARER AEMREL B SEBE BAE/CHEEMER AEEEGZERRAER FEEK
Paid up issued
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up  Effective equity interest
Name of company registration operations registered capital  attributable to the Group Principal activities
—E-ME —E-=F
2024 2023
% %
ERREUEARAA TR (FiE3) HE ARH21,814,1187 59.42° 50.42" REVBRHERFERHERREETHE
Chongging Kangle The PRC (Note 3) The PRC RMB21,814,118 59.42* 59.42* Investment holding and manufacture and sales
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* of APl and APl intermediate
ERERRLENTR TS (FisE4) HE =i 59.42¢ 5042 WMBEEEMR
BRAF The PRC (Note 4) The PRC =i 59.42¢ 59.42% Research and development of medical products
ABREAXEREACRY) B (AES) ale =5 100 100 REZRRCXERH
ARAF The PRC (Note 5) The PRC =i 100 100 Investment holding and corporate advisory
MEEMECEER®NA A (FitzEs5) alci = - 100 B
(RYDBRARA The PRC (Note 5) ~ The PRC =i - 100 Dissolved
IRELRRERRREES FE(FF2) alGi AK#60,000,0007T —* 100 EH
R A] The PRC (Note 2) The PRC RMB60,000,000 —# 100 Dissolved
KEREBRDA BE BE AT 100 100 TEEX
Glorious Mark Investments Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Inactive
Limited
TFKT True Holdings HEHE HNK 5,050,000% 7T 73 73 BEAZR
Cayman Islands Singapore US$5,050,000 73 73 Investment holding
Profit Heaven Management ~ EBELEHE MK (E 73 73 ®AER
Limited British Virgin Islands  Singapore Us$1 73 73 Investment holding
True Fitness Holdings s HR TET IR T 73 73 REZR
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore SGD1 73 73 Investment holding
True Fit Pte. Ltd. R R TR T 73 73 EEER
Singapore Singapore SGD1 73 73 Inactive
True Fitness Pte. Ltd. s N 4,474,000%7 MK 7T 73 73 @BERIRORRHES
Singapore Singapore SGD4,474,000 73 73 Operating of fitness centres and provision of

consultation services

True Yoga Pte. Ltd. HNK HNK 1,000,000 7 A% T 73 73 BERHTPORRES
Singapore Singapore SGD1,000,000 73 73 Operating of fitness centres and provision of

consultation services
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53. B AR ER (&)

DNEER HMARL BEhY SEBY

53. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BRARARLER
BA/BMERMES FREEGZERRIEE TTEH

Paid up issued

Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ Place of capital/paid up  Effective equity interest
Name of company registration operations registered capital  attributable to the Group Principal activities
—EBoNE —E-=F
2024 2023
% %
True Fitness (STC) Pte. Ltd.  #TAI3K s 1,700,000%7 A% 7T 73 73 BERS RO RIEMRES
Singapore Singapore SGD1,700,000 73 73 Operating of fitness centres and provision of
consultation services
True Yoga Holdings Pte. Ltd. ~ #TA1% HK 1H KT 73 73 BEAZR
Singapore Singapore SGD1 73 73 Investment holding
RHEREBRAA RS BE 100% 7T 100 100 EEEXR
Taisheng Investment Co., Ltd. ~ Cayman Islands Hong Kong Us$100 100 100 Inactive
RARFEA HERE BE (ETH - 100 BEBR%
Tongfang Konta Capital, LP.  Cayman Islands Hong Kong Us$1 - 100 Struck off
ERERRENMRARRR  PE(FE2) HE AR ¥:800,0007 100 100 BEEE
The PRC (Note 2) The PRC RMB800,000 100 100 Inactive
RER - MBRARBEZITEREBRE None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

o

et

4

%% N EIME Ty BESA RIE

o

* ZERTREZEREEGRAFMK
Y HWEBSHRAEMER o

G

(1) BREAAAGIEEABE)

2 BREEAFCEABE)

() BREEAF(ERARESIER)

@)  BRECAT(ERARERIEREE
ABE)

(5) BRECAF(ABREABE)

end of the year.

Remarks:

These companies are held and controlled by Tongfang
Pharmaceutical.

These companies were set up by Kontafarma China Holdings
Limited and there was no paid up registered capital.

limited liability company (wholly-foreign-owned enterprises)
limited liability company (wholly owned by a legal person)
limited liability company (invested or held by a natural person)

limited liability company (sole proprietorship invested or held by
a natural person)

limited liability company (solely invested by corporation in
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau)
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54, EEERFEIEREZR MBS 54. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE

AzHE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TRETARBIFEBERFEERER The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
FE2EMBAR FE - subsidiaries of the Company that have material

non-controlling interests:

FERESSECRERES TREFERES 2EF
kB EELA (&) RitFERER
Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
held by non-controlling Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated non-

NCIEE Name of company interests non-controlling interests  controlling interests
ZBE-ME —To-F ZB-NE —T--F ZF-NFE —T-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TET THAT TET FHET
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EFRAZEHRAF  Chongging Kangle
Pharmaceutical Co.,

Ltd.* 41 41 (6,142) (8,521) 47,723 55,604

ERRERZEMIERE Other non-wholly

Al owned subsidiaries

of Kontafarma China — 20 — (405) — (718)
True Cayman®: B True Cayman Group 27 27 (17,342) (23,346) (64,888) (50,229)
(17,165) 4,657
BBERRRHAEEREERER 2 B Summarised financial information in respect of the Company’s
NElZHBEREZERIIAT o LATREL subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests are set
BEMBEZREEANKIEF 225 - out below. The summarised financial information below

presented amounts before intra-group eliminations.
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54. EREAFEREZZHELQ

54. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE

A 215 (&) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

EEEH#REFREAA Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
—ENE —E-=F

2024 2023
FHT FHE T
HK$'000 HK$'000

MENEE Current assets 81,431 123,903
IEREEE Non-current assets 164,556 165,710
mEBAE Current liabilities (127,959) (145,875)
EREEE Non-current liabilities (2,320) (12,847)

A BRI FE (L = Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 67,985 75,287
IEFE RS Non-controlling interests 47,723 55,604
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54, EEERFEIEREZR MBS 54. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE

CiA-=3-1¢ ) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)
EREH#REFR AR (&) Chongging Kangle Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(Continued)
—EomE —T =
2024 2023
FBT FHE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 92,012 80,730
B FEE Net expenses (107,147) (101,728)
REZEE Loss for the year (15,135) (20,998)
AN BB R FE(L E5 18 Loss attributable to owners
of the Company (8,993) (12,477)
FEFE IR & PR B 1R Loss attributable to non-controlling
interests (6,142) (8,521)
KEEEE Loss for the year (15,135) (20,998)

AARREEMEMEMAEUE Other comprehensive income

attributable to owners

of the Company 1,065 2,260
RIS G 2 2 ! Other comprehensive expense

attributable to non-controlling

interests (1,113) (5,219)
RNEZEMPEZH Other comprehensive expense
for the year (48) (2,959)

RAEIREELEE S H 4% Total comprehensive expense

attributable to owners

of the Company (7,928) (10,217)
IR S (G 2 A S H 4258 Total comprehensive expense

attributable to non-controlling

interests (7,255) (11,924)
REEREX LA Total comprehensive expense
for the year (15,183) (22,141)
LEEK IS (RE)ARA  Net cash (outflow) inflow from
F R operating activities (7,550) 51,112
KEEBzREe R FE Net cash outflow for investing activities (6,682) (22,625)
KEXK 2R R FEE Net cash outflow for financing activities (13,840) 4,717)

/e Rt mAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow (28,072) 23,770
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54. EREAFEREZZHELQ

Az 15 ()

True Cayman£

54. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

True Cayman Group

—E_MF —E=F

2024 2023

FET FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

MENEE Current assets 224,922 210,872

IEREEE Non-current assets 131,898 227,702

mENEE Current liabilities (571,519) (506,762)

FEMBBE Non-current liabilities (159,629) (236,989)
A BRI FE (L = Equity attributable to owners

of the Company (309,440) (254,948)

JEVERR FE o= Non-controlling interests (64,888) (50,229)
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54, EEERFEIEREZR MBS 54. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE

CiA-=3-1¢ ) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)
True Caymanf B (&) True Cayman Group (Continued)
—EME —T =4
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 215,435 201,976
E=Jh x| Net expenses (294,787) (287,773)
REZEHE Loss for the year (79,352) (85,797)
AN BB R FE(L E5 18 Loss attributable to owners of the
Company (62,010) (62,451)
FEFE IR &5 B B 1R Loss attributable to non-controlling
interests (17,342) (23,346)
RFEEEE Loss for the year (79,352) (85,797)

AAFREREEEMEEKE Other comprehensive income (loss)

(E518) attributable to owners of the
Company 7,518 (3,382)
IR RS B (R B b 2 Uk ZE  Other comprehensive income (loss)
(E1#8) attributable to non-controlling
interests 2,684 (995)

RNEFHMEEWE (B5B)  Other comprehensive income (loss) for
the year 10,202 (4,377)

AAFRERE(EEHEEIEMLE Total comprehensive loss attributable to

owners of the Company (54,492) (65,835)
PG E S FE(h 2 B 18 48%8 Total comprehensive loss attributable to

non-controlling interests (14,658) (24,341)
AEE2HEEBERE Total comprehensive loss for the year (69,150) (90,176)
LEEBZHERAER Net cash inflow for operating activities 19,892 58,340
KEEK 2B RE T8 Net cash outflow for investing activities (907) (653)
BMEXER RS RN FE Net cash outflow for financing activities (8,969) (56,961)

WEmAFE Net cash inflow 10,016 726
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BE+t-A=1T-HLHFBEE

Financial year ended 31 December

=% —f-—% ZZ-Z —T=F  ZEBE-nf
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
FTAT FTAT FTAT FTAT THER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E35)
(Re-presented)
ES Results
LON Revenue 1,009,134* 803,267* 894,062 809,107 897,521
BREL R Loss before taxation (297)* (54,465)* (117,736) (43,919) (97,979)
IR Taxation (19,788)* (1,830 7,992 (17,196) (1,042)
AEE (BB) &M : (Loss) profit for the year:
REBECEER From continuing operations (20,085) (56,295) (109,744) (61,115) (99,021)
REERIEEEK From discontinued operation (195,797) 51,742 56,942 — —
(215,882) (4,553) (52,802) (61,115) (99,021)
AFEE (BB)EMEER ©  (Loss) profit for the year
attributable to:
NG Owners of the Company (267,164) (15,048) (41,546) (28,843) (75,537)
s Non-controlling interests 51,282 10,495 (11,256) (32,272) (23,484)
(215,882) (4,553) (52,802) (61,115) (99,021)
FRERER (BIL) Basic loss per share (HK cent) (4.79) (0.27) (0.74) (0.52) (1.35)
W+=B=+—H
At 31 December
—E-F%E —E-—F -—E--% —E-=F CZE-_NE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TAET TAET TAET TAET THER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERERE Assets and liabilities
BEE Total assets 2,542,284 2,558,775 2,120,443 1,727,335 1,587,432
BafE Total liabilities 1,188,527 1,220,991 964,162 665,389 625,896
IR 2 Non-controlling interests 139,571 145,766 55,174 4,657 (17,165)
AARIREEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 1,214,186 1,192,018 1,101,107 1,057,289 978,701

= REZZFEZZEF+ZA=+—H AEBEAK *

REBEEHE  URBE—_T_TF+—
A=T—HALFE2JNRERILREER -

# R=-F-_—FtA=-+hB HEREEE #

EHE YREBE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—
ALFEEZMNADRIEEEER mMEE=
BE-—F+-A=t+—HIEFENHBHF
EREENZ5 -

On 21 December 2020, the cement business of the Group was
disposed of and is presented as discontinued operation for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

On 29 July 2022, the SPF Group was disposed of and presented as
discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
comparatives for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been re-
presented accordingly.
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